
GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.

FORM 10-K
(Annual Report)

Filed 03/11/14 for the Period Ending 12/31/13

    
Address 5964 LA PLACE COURT

CARLSBAD, CA 92008
Telephone (760) 448-4300

CIK 0001487371
Symbol GNMK

SIC Code 3841 - Surgical and Medical Instruments and Apparatus
Industry Scientific & Technical Instr.

Sector Technology
Fiscal Year 12/31

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2014, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.

http://www.edgar-online.com


Table of Contents  
 

UNITED STATES  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  

Washington, D.C. 20549  
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months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes       No   � 
   
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and 
posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and 
post such files).    Yes       No   �  
   
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s 
knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.   �  
   
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definitions of “large 
accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.  
Large accelerated filer   �             Accelerated filer                Non-accelerated filer   �             Smaller reporting company   �  
   
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    Yes   �     No     
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Forward-Looking Statements  
   

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, or Annual Report, particularly in Item 1. “Business” and Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and the documents incorporated herein by reference, include forward-looking 
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the 
Exchange Act. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, are statements that could be deemed to be forward-looking statements, 
including, but not limited to, statements regarding our future financial position, business strategy, research and development efforts, and plans 
and objectives of management for future operations. When used in this Annual Report, the words “believe,” “may,” “could,” “will,” 
“estimate,” “continue,” “intend,” “expect,” “target ,” “anticipate,” “aim,” “plan” and similar expressions, including their use in the negative, 
are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  
   

These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about our business and the 
industry in which we operate and management’s beliefs and assumptions. They are not guarantees of future performance or development and 
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that are in some cases beyond our control. As a result, any or all of our 
forward-looking statements in this Annual Report may turn out to be inaccurate. Risks and other factors that may cause such differences include, 
but are not limited to, those described under the heading “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part I of this Annual Report.  
   

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, actual results and timing of events could differ materially and adversely from those 
anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. Accordingly, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-
looking statements.  

 
Except as required by law, we do not intend to update these forward-looking statements publicly or to update the reasons actual results 

could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.  
   

Trademarks and Trade Names  
   

GenMark ® and eSensor ® and our other logos and trademarks are the property of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. or its subsidiaries. All other 
brand names or trademarks appearing in this Annual Report are the property of their respective holders. Our use or display of other parties’ 
trademarks, trade dress or products in this Annual Report does not imply that we have a relationship with, or the endorsement or sponsorship of, 
the trademark or trade dress owners.  
   

Use of External Estimates  
   

This Annual Report includes market share and industry data and forecasts that we obtained from industry publications and surveys. 
Industry publications, surveys and forecasts generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be 
reliable, but there can be no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of included information. We have not independently verified any of the 
data from third-party sources nor have we ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon therein. While we are not aware of any 
misstatements regarding the industry and market data presented herein, the data involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based 
on various factors.  
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PART I.  
   

   

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc., or GenMark, was formed by Osmetech plc, or Osmetech, as a Delaware corporation in February 2010. 
GenMark had no operations prior to its initial public offering, which was completed in June 2010. Immediately prior to the closing of the initial 
public offering, GenMark acquired all of the outstanding ordinary shares of Osmetech in a reorganization under the applicable laws of the United 
Kingdom. As a result of the reorganization, all of the issued ordinary shares in Osmetech were cancelled in consideration of (a) the issuance of 
common stock of GenMark to the former shareholders of Osmetech and (b) the issuance of new shares in Osmetech to GenMark. Following the 
reorganization, Osmetech became a subsidiary controlled by GenMark, and the former shareholders of Osmetech received shares of GenMark. 
Once the reorganization became effective, all stock options granted under the Osmetech plc 2003 U.S. Equity Compensation Plan, long term 
incentive awards and all warrants issued by Osmetech were exchanged for options and warrants exercisable for the common stock of 
GenMark. Any discussion of GenMark prior to this reorganization relates to Osmetech and its consolidated subsidiaries. In September 2012, 
GenMark placed Osmetech into liquidation to simplify its corporate structure. The liquidation of Osmetech was competed in the fourth quarter 
2013.  
   

References herein to “we,” “us” or “our” refer to GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries, unless the context 
specifically requires otherwise.  
   

Overview  
   

We are a molecular diagnostics company focused on developing and commercializing our proprietary eSensor ® detection technology. Our 
proprietary electrochemical technology enables fast, accurate and highly sensitive detection of up to 72 distinct biomarkers in a single sample. 
Our XT-8 system received 510(k) clearance from the United States Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, and is designed to support a broad 
range of molecular diagnostic tests with a compact and easy-to-use workstation and self-contained, disposable test cartridges. Within 
approximately 30 minutes of receipt of an extracted and amplified nucleic acid sample, our XT-8 system produces clear and accurate results. Our 
XT-8 system supports up to 24 independent test cartridges, each of which can be run independently, resulting in a highly convenient and flexible 
workflow for our target customers, which are primarily hospitals and reference laboratories. As of December 31, 2013 , we had an installed base 
of 413 XT-8 analyzers, or placements, with our customers.  
   

We have developed eight tests for use with our XT-8 system. Four of our diagnostic tests have received FDA clearance, including our 
Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, which detects genetic changes associated with cystic fibrosis, our Warfarin Sensitivity Test, which determines 
an individual’s ability to metabolize the oral anticoagulant warfarin, our Thrombophilia Risk Test, which detects an individual’s increased risk of 
blood clots, and our Respiratory Viral Panel, which simultaneously detects and differentiates 14 clinically relevant viruses from patients with 
influenza-like illnesses. Our eSensor ® technology has demonstrated 100% accuracy in clinical studies compared to Deoxyribonucleic acid, or 
DNA, sequencing and other standards in our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, our Warfarin Sensitivity Test and our Thrombophilia Risk Test. 
We have also developed two hepatitis C virus, or HCV, genotyping tests, a 3A4/3A5 genotyping test, and a 2C19 genotyping test, versions of 
which are available for research use only (RUO).  
   

In addition, we are developing our next-generation instrument system, or NexGen system, which is being designed to integrate automated 
nucleic acid extraction and amplification with our eSensor ® detection technology to enable technicians using the NexGen system to place a raw 
or a minimally prepared patient sample directly into our test cartridge and obtain results without any additional steps. This sample-to-answer 
capability is enabled by the robust nature of our eSensor ® detection technology, which is not impaired by sample impurities that we believe 
hinder competing technologies. We are designing our NexGen system to further simplify workflow and provide powerful, cost-effective 
molecular diagnostics solutions to a significantly expanded group of hospitals and reference laboratories. We are currently developing six assays 
for our NexGen system, which include gram-positive and gram-negative sepsis panels, a respiratory viral panel (RVP), a gastrointestinal 
infection (GI) panel, an HCV genotyping test, and a central nervous system (CNS) infection panel . We intend to continue investing in our 
NexGen system and its related test menu for the foreseeable future. We currently expect to complete the development of our NexGen system in 
the middle of 2014, initiate the European launch of the system in late 2014, and launch the system in the United States in the second half of 
2015.  

 
Since inception, we have incurred net losses from operations each year, and we expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable 

future. Our losses attributable to operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were approximately $33.6 million and $22.1 
million , respectively. As of December 31, 2013 , we had an accumulated deficit of $224.2 million . Our operations to date have been funded 
principally through sales of capital stock, borrowings and cash from  
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operations. We expect to incur increasing expenses over the next several years, principally to develop our NexGen system and additional 
diagnostic tests, as well as to further increase our spending to manufacture, sell and market our products.  
   

Our Strategy  
   

Our goal is to become the market leading provider of automated, multiplex molecular diagnostic testing systems. We intend to expand the 
use of our XT-8 system and diagnostic tests targeting especially those reference laboratories and hospitals in the United States which perform a 
high volume of molecular diagnostic tests. In addition, we intend to build worldwide awareness of our proprietary eSensor® technology and the 
value proposition we expect to offer our customers upon completion of our NexGen system and its initial test menu. To achieve these objectives, 
we intend to:  
   

Revenues, net loss and total assets for the past three years are contained in our consolidated financial statements in Part II of this Annual 
Report. All revenues for the periods reported in our consolidated financial statements in Part II of this Annual Report were derived from 
customers located within the United States.  
 
Our Products  
   

Our XT-8 System  
   

Our XT-8 system is an automated molecular diagnostic system that enables reference laboratories and hospitals to perform fast, accurate 
and easy-to-use molecular diagnostic tests. The XT-8 system, which employs our proprietary electrochemical detection technology, consists of a 
compact bench-top workstation with an integrated touch screen computer and an analyzer into which our self-contained, disposable test 
cartridges are inserted. Our XT-8 system is user-friendly, intuitive, requires minimal maintenance and provides laboratories with the ability to 
perform multiplex molecular diagnostic tests in an efficient and cost-effective manner. With a footprint of approximately 16-by-16 inches in its 
standard configuration,  
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•  Grow our Installed Base of Customers .     We have identified those laboratories and hospitals in the United States that we believe 
will be high volume customers and who will benefit from our eSensor ® technology. We intend to leverage our commercial 
organization to drive placements of our XT-8 system. We anticipate expansion of our installed base of customers will drive sales of 
our test cartridges, from which we anticipate generating the majority of our revenues for the foreseeable future.  

•  Increase Utilization of Tests .     We intend to increase the use of our diagnostic tests by developing and offering tools and support 
tailored to our products such as accredited physician education programs and seminars, product training for our customers and 
reimbursement support. These activities are designed to aid in establishing the clinical utility of multiplex molecular diagnostic tests, 
which we believe will increase adoption of our products.  

•  Develop our NexGen System .     We are developing our NexGen system to provide a complete sample-to-answer solution for our 
customers. The NexGen system is being designed to retain all of the customer benefits of our XT-8 system, while also integrating 
automated nucleic acid extraction and amplification processes. These features will eliminate the need for time consuming and 
complex sample preparation steps and allow technicians to place a raw or minimally prepared patient sample directly into our test 
cartridge. We believe the NexGen system will be attractive to a broader range of hospitals and laboratories that lack the technical or 
economic resources to perform molecular diagnostic testing with existing products and technology. We believe these workflow 
enhancements will expand our target user base from approximately 1,000 customers to approximately 5,000 or more potential 
customers in the United States.  

•  Expand our Menu of Clinical Diagnostic Products .     We intend to develop a broad menu of molecular diagnostic tests for our 
NexGen system that we believe will satisfy important medical needs and present attractive commercial opportunities. For example, 
we expect our initial assay menu for the NexGen system will include gram-positive and gram-negative sepsis panels, a respiratory 
viral panel (RVP), a GI infection panel, an HCV genotyping test, and a CNS infection panel .  

•  Expand Internationally and Explore Out-Licensing Opportunities .     We plan to offer our molecular diagnostic products in 
European and other international markets in the near future. We intend to utilize a direct sales and technical support team in certain 
key European countries, which we expect will be augmented by marketing partners and distributors in other strategic areas as we 
expand internationally. We intend to introduce our XT-8 system to key opinion leader sites in certain countries as we look to establish 
our technology and certain tests within these markets in preparation for the international launch of our NexGen instrument system, 
which we expect will occur in late 2014. We also intend to explore opportunities to leverage our intellectual property position in 
detection technologies through licensing or the establishment of partnerships.  
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our XT-8 system takes up less bench top space than many of our competitors’ systems, and its standalone design allows it to be installed and 
used without any required laboratory modifications.  
   

We believe that our XT-8 system and related diagnostic tests offer reference laboratories and hospitals the following benefits:  
   

Prior to performing a test on our XT-8 instrument, a laboratory technician takes isolated DNA from the patient sample and performs an 
automated nucleic acid extraction and amplification step. In some cases, the technician also performs a routine enzymatic treatment before 
adding our proprietary signal probes and transferring the solution into the sample compartment in our test cartridge. The technician enters sample 
identification and reagent information into our XT-8 system using the supplied bar code wand or on-screen keyboard and inserts the test 
cartridge into an open slot on the analyzer. The on-board computer automatically assimilates input information and test cartridge information 
from the memory chip on the test cartridge and initiates the specified test protocol. The testing process generally takes between four and six 
hours to complete, and in most cases the test results can be viewed on the built-in touch screen monitor approximately 30 minutes after the 
insertion of test cartridges into the instrument. Test results can also be printed out or reported through the laboratory’s computer information 
system.  
   

The key features of our XT-8 system include:  
   
 

5  

•  Versatile Platform for a Broad Test Menu .     Our XT-8 system has broad application across a number of areas in molecular 
diagnostic testing. In addition to our FDA-cleared Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, Warfarin Sensitivity Test, Thrombophilia Risk 
Test and Respiratory Viral Panel, we have developed two HCV genotyping tests, a 3A4/3A5 genotyping test and a 2C19 genotyping 
test, each of which is available for research use only. Laboratories using our system are able to run the tests we offer without any 
additional capital investment or operator training.  

•  Ease of Use .     Our XT-8 system eliminates the need to use complex instrumentation to generate test results, minimizes manual 
processing steps and streamlines data analysis, making molecular diagnostic testing available to a broad spectrum of laboratories 
without the need for highly skilled technicians. As a result, our XT-8 system provides national reference laboratories with the ability 
to perform our menu of molecular diagnostic tests across all of their locations. Our XT-8 system also requires minimal maintenance.  

•  Accuracy and Reliability .     Our XT-8 system provides accurate and reliable molecular diagnostic test results. We have 
demonstrated 100% accuracy in clinical studies compared to DNA sequencing and other standards in our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping 
Test, our Warfarin Sensitivity Test and our Thrombophilia Risk Test. Our XT-8 system limits technician contact with a patient 
sample, thereby reducing contamination risk. It also provides clear reports, minimizing the risk of human error and increasing the 
repeatability of test results.  

•  Enhanced Laboratory Work Flow .     Our unique platform allows for random access, or the ability to initiate any of our tests while 
any of our other tests are in progress, for up to 24 independent test cartridges, resulting in a highly convenient and flexible workflow. 
In addition, our proprietary electrochemical detection technology streamlines the sample preparation process and eliminates the need 
for the additional washing steps required by some other detection methods, such as optical or fluorescent detection. Laboratories 
using our XT-8 system can expect to obtain test results within approximately 30 minutes of receipt of the amplified DNA sample, 
generally resulting in a total turnaround time of between four and six hours.  

•  Multiplex Capability .     Our XT-8 system can detect up to 72 separate biomarkers in a single test cartridge. This allows laboratories 
to run multiple tests or panels on an individual patient sample in a one-step detection process. This capability reduces the time 
required for a laboratory to perform a diagnostic analysis that involves multiple genetic markers or infectious disease pathogens, 
which otherwise would require the laboratory to run multiple, separate molecular diagnostic tests.  
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Our XT-8 Test Menu  
   

We have developed eight tests for use with our XT-8 system, four of which have received in vitro diagnostic, or IVD, clearance from the 
FDA and four of which are available for research use only (RUO). The majority of our revenues are derived from the sale of consumables 
(reagents and test cartridges) based on our proprietary eSensor ® technology. For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , 
consumables sales represented 92%, 96% and 88% of our total revenues, respectively.  

 

Our In Vitro Diagnostic (IVD) Test Menu  

Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test.     Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test is a multiplex genotyping test that detects a panel of mutations 
associated with cystic fibrosis based on guidelines published by the American College of Medical Genetics and the American College of 
Obstetricians and Gynecologists for screening of adult couples contemplating pregnancy. Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test demonstrated 
100% accuracy in clinical studies as compared to DNA sequencing and other standards and delivers results within 30 minutes of receipt of the 
amplified DNA sample. Test results are summarized in an easy-to-interpret report that includes a summary “carrier” or “non-carrier” 
determination as well as individual carrier status for each of the 23 recommended markers. Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test received FDA 
clearance in July 2009.  
   

Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test addresses a market that was estimated in 2011 at over $70 million in the United States alone. More 
than 10 million Americans are carriers of one mutation of the cystic fibrosis gene. The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists 
suggests that all couples who are considering having a child, or those who are expecting a child, should have genetic carrier testing for cystic 
fibrosis. Much of current cystic fibrosis testing is performed by national reference laboratories.  
   

Warfarin Sensitivity Test.     Our Warfarin Sensitivity Test is a multiplex pharmacogenetic test for the detection of three genetic markers 
that are known to play a critical role in the metabolism of, and sensitivity to, warfarin. Warfarin, offered under the brand name Coumadin, is the 
most widely prescribed oral anticoagulant in North America and Europe and is used to prevent heart attacks, strokes and blood clots in veins, 
arteries and lungs. Through detection of an individual’s sensitivity to warfarin, doctors are better able to accurately and efficiently determine the 
appropriate warfarin dosage level on an individual patient basis. Our Warfarin Sensitivity Test demonstrated 100% accuracy in clinical studies 
compared to DNA sequencing and other standards and delivers results within 30 minutes of receipt of the amplified DNA sample. Our Warfarin 
Sensitivity Test received FDA clearance in July 2008.  
   

Thrombophilia Risk Test.     Our Thrombophilia Risk Test is a multiplex test for the detection of four common inherited genetic risk 
factors of thrombophilia: Factor V Leiden, Factor II prothrombin and two genetic markers in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) 
gene. Thrombophilia is a condition where a person’s blood clots easily or excessively placing them at risk of developing clots. Thrombophilia is 
a particular concern for high risk patients, including patients who are pregnant or undergoing certain surgeries. Our Thrombophilia Risk Test 
demonstrated 100% accuracy in clinical studies compared to DNA sequencing and other standards and delivers results within 30 minutes of 
receipt of the amplified DNA sample. Our Thrombophilia Risk Test received FDA clearance in April 2010.  
   

Thrombophilia is one of the most common types of blood coagulation disorders affecting 1 in 1,000 individuals. We believe the U.S. 
market is approximately $55 million based on statistics provided by Kalorama Information 2009, a market research firm.  
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Key Features  Characteristics  

Fast Turnaround  Approximately 30 minutes to result from amplified DNA sample with minimal technician time 
needed  

Accurate Results  Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, our Warfarin Sensitivity Test and our Thrombophilia Risk 
Test demonstrated 100% accuracy in clinical studies compared to DNA sequencing and other 
standards  

Ease of Use  Intuitive touch-screen interface and clear reports  

Small Footprint  Approximately 16 inches in width and depth in its standard configuration  

Random Access  Each of up to 24 test cartridge slots can be accessed independently  

Minimal Maintenance  No routine maintenance or calibration required  

Multiplex Capability  Detects up to 72 distinct biomarkers in a single sample  



Table of Contents  
 

Respiratory Viral Panel (RVP).     Our Respiratory Viral Panel is a multiplex test for the detection of 14 viruses, including influenza A 
(H1N1 and seasonal), influenza B, respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) and numerous other upper respiratory viruses. Our Respiratory Viral Panel 
received FDA clearance in September 2012.  
   

Respiratory pathogens are a major source of illness and can lead to hospitalizations and death. According to the Centers for Disease 
Control, or CDC, each year in the United States, on average, 5% to 20% of the population gets the flu and more than 200,000 people are 
hospitalized from flu-related complications. In addition, over a period of 30 years (1976-2006), estimates of flu-associated deaths in the United 
States ranged from a low of approximately 3,000 to a high of approximately 49,000. RSV is the most common cause of bronchitis and 
pneumonia in infants and young children, with up to 125,000 children hospitalized annually in the United States. One of the challenges faced by 
the physician assessing a patient with a respiratory illness is determining the underlying cause so that an effective treatment plan can be 
determined.  

 
Our Research Use Only (RUO) Test Menu  
 
Hepatitis C Virus Genotyping (HCVg) Tests .     Our HCV Genotyping Test and our HCVg Direct Test, each of which is available for 

research use only, are multiplex tests for the detection and typing/subtyping of HCV 1a, 1b, 2a/c, 2b, 3, 4, 5 and 6.  
   

3A4/3A5 Genotyping Test (3A4/3A5).      Our 3A4/3A5 Genotyping Test, which is available for research use only, is a multiplex test 
designed for the detection and genotyping of the *1B, *2, *3, *12, and *17 alleles of the CYP450 3A4 gene locus, and the *1D, *2, *3, *3B, *6, 
*7, *8, and *9 alleles of the CYP450 3A5 gene locus.  
   

2C19 Genotyping Test (2C19).     Our 2C19 Genotyping Test, which is available for research use only, is a multiplex test for the detection 
and genotyping of the *2, *3, *4, *5, *6, *7, *8, *9, *10, *13 and *17 alleles of the cytochrome P450 (CYP450) 2C19 gene locus.  
 
Our Products in Development  
 
Our NexGen System  
   

We are highly focused on developing our NexGen system to provide a complete sample-to-answer solution for our customers. The 
NexGen system is being designed to retain all the customer benefits of our XT-8 system, while also integrating automated nucleic acid extraction 
and amplification processes. These features will eliminate the need for time consuming and complex sample preparation steps and allow 
technicians to place a raw or minimally prepared patient sample directly into our test cartridge. We believe this advancement will make our 
eSensor ® technology attractive to the broad range of institutions that currently lack the technical or economic resources to perform molecular 
diagnostic testing. We believe our NexGen system will expand our target user base from approximately 1,000 to approximately 5,000 or more 
potential laboratories and hospitals in the United States alone. We currently expect to complete the development of our NexGen system in the 
middle of 2014, initiate the European launch of the system in late 2014, and launch the system in the United States in the second half of 2015. 
We believe our approach to a sample-to-answer system will achieve benefits over many other competitive multiplex systems, including an 
ability to perform complex multiplex tests in a high throughput, random access, efficient and cost effective manner.  
 
Our Initial NexGen Test Menu  
   

We are currently developing six infectious disease test panels for our NexGen system. We select tests for introduction on our NexGen 
system based upon what we believe are clinically relevant targets which address unmet market needs. We are currently developing or designing 
the following diagnostic tests for our NexGen system.  
   

Respiratory Viral Panel (RVP) .  As noted above, respiratory pathogens are a major source of illness and can lead to hospitalizations 
and death. According to the Centers for Disease Control, each year in the United States, on average, 5% to 20% of the population gets the flu and 
more than 200,000 people are hospitalized from flu-related complications. In addition, over a period of 30 years (1976-2006), estimates of flu-
associated deaths in the United States ranged from a low of approximately 3,000 to a high of approximately 49,000. RSV is the most common 
cause of bronchitis and pneumonia in infants and young children, with up to 125,000 children hospitalized annually in the United States. One of 
the challenges faced by the physician assessing a patient with a respiratory illness is determining the underlying cause so that an effective 
treatment plan can be determined. We believe that the global market for respiratory viral testing that we will initially target for our NexGen 
system is approximately $150 million.  
 

Sepsis Panels . The current documented incidence of sepsis worldwide is 1.8 million cases annually; however, we believe this figure 
reflects low rates of recognition and diagnosis. According to the Agency for Healthcare Research and  
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Quality, there were 1.6 million inpatient stays in the U.S. alone in 2009 with a primary or secondary diagnosis of septicemia, a serious, life-
threatening infection that gets worse very quickly and may arise from infections throughout the body. We are developing blood stream infection 
panels for the earlier detection of specific bacteria and resistance markers within patients with blood stream infections. These panels include 
gram positive and gram negative bacteria and associated resistance markers. We believe that the global market for the sepsis gram positive and 
gram negative tests that we will initially target for our NexGen system is approximately $250 million.  
 

Gastrointestinal Infection (GI) Panel. According to the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, there were nearly 3.7 million 
U.S. emergency department visits in 2010 for unknown gastrointestinal symptoms of bacterial or viral pathogens resulting in 1.3 million 
hospitalizations. In 2010, inpatient costs attributable to patients suffering from gastrointestinal infections cost the healthcare system nearly $1.8 
billion. One of the challenges faced by physicians assessing a patient with symptoms of gastrointestinal infection is determining the underlying 
cause. We believe that the global market for gastrointestinal infection testing that we will initially target for our NexGen system is approximately 
$300 million.  
   

HCV Genotyping Test . According to the Centers for Disease Control, HCV infection is the most common chronic blood-borne 
infection in the United States, with over 3.0 million people considered chronically infected. According to the World Health Organization, it is 
estimated that approximately 150 million people are chronically infected with HCV globally and at risk of developing liver cirrhosis and/or liver 
cancer, and more than 350,000 people die from HCV-related liver diseases each year. An article published in the Annals of Internal Medicine 
found that, in the United States, HCV is cited as the cause of death more than HIV. Based on the current treatment guidelines for HCV, a 
patient’s genotype is a component of selecting the proper treatment strategy as well as a predictor of the likelihood of treatment success. We 
believe that the global market for HCV genotype testing that we will initially target for our NexGen system is approximately $100 million.  
 

Central Nervous System (CNS) Infection Panel . According to the CDC, over 1.2 million cases of bacterial meningitis are estimated to 
occur worldwide each year. The incidence and case-fatality rates of central nervous system infections vary by region, country, pathogen, and age 
group. The diagnosis of meningitis and encephalitis can be challenging because the underlying cause can be infectious, post-infectious or 
noninfectious. According to the Infectious Disease Society of America, as many as 62% of patients with encephalitis remain undiagnosed. We 
believe the global market for central nervous system infection testing that we will initially target for our NexGen system is approximately $100 
million.  
   

Our Technology  
   

Our XT-8 eSensor ® Technology  
   

Our proprietary eSensor ® technology is based on the principles of competitive DNA hybridization and electrochemical detection. DNA 
naturally forms a double-stranded structure, with each strand binding with high affinity, or hybridizing, only to a complementary strand. Our 
technology takes advantage of this highly specific binding by first creating two types of single-stranded DNA, the capture probe and the signal 
probe. The capture probe and signal probe are each complementary to a different segment of the target DNA, or biomarker, that is the focus of 
the particular diagnostic test. Using our proprietary technology and processes, we attach our capture probes to a proprietary monolayer on the 
surface of a gold electrode within our proprietary XT-8 test cartridge. We separately attach ferrocene, an electrochemically active organometallic 
compound label, to our signal probes.  
   

Before placing the sample into our XT-8 test cartridge, the technician mixes the amplified DNA sample with our signal probe. If the target 
biomarker is present in the prepared patient sample, a segment of the biomarker DNA will hybridize with a solution containing our signal probe. 
This solution is then run past an electrode, against which our capture probes have been immobilized. The as-yet unbound segment of the target 
biomarker binds to our capture probe, creating a target DNA, signal probe, capture probe complex at the surface of the electrode. This complex 
produces an electrochemical signal analyzed and interpreted by our system. Our XT-8 test cartridges currently have 72 distinct electrodes, each 
of which can be configured to detect a different target biomarker, enabling highly multiplexed testing.  
   

Our eSensor ® technology is highly specific for the target biomarker, and is not based on optical or fluorescent detection. As a result, our 
diagnostic tests are less prone to sample contamination risk and do not require many of the time-consuming washing and preparation steps 
required by competing technologies. The only sample preparation step required before using our XT-8 test cartridges is a polymerase chain 
reaction, or PCR, amplification, which involves amplifying, or generating billions of copies of, the target DNA molecules, followed by transfer 
of the sample to our test cartridge and insertion of the test cartridge into any open slot in our XT-8 system. In some tests, amplified DNA is 
subject to an additional enzymatic treatment to produce a single-stranded-DNA.  
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Our XT-8 Test Cartridges .     Our XT-8 test cartridges are self-contained devices specifically programmed and configured for a given 
diagnostic test. Each test cartridge includes a sample compartment and a plastic cover that forms a hybridization chamber. The test cartridge is 
fitted with a diaphragm pump and valves that circulate the hybridization solution, including the signal probe and prepared patient sample, when 
inserted into the XT-8 system. The test cartridge also includes a printed circuit board chip consisting of an array of 72 gold-plated working 
electrodes, a silver/silver chloride reference electrode, and two gold-plated auxiliary electrodes. Each electrode is customized with a proprietary 
monolayer that immobilizes the DNA capture probes specific for each target of a test panel. The test cartridge also contains an electrically 
erasable, programmable read-only memory component that stores information related to the cartridge such as an assay identifier, cartridge lot 
number and expiration date.  
   

Our XT-8 Workstation .     Our XT-8 system is a multiplex workstation that has a modular design consisting of an integrated touch screen 
workstation and up to three analyzers. Each analyzer contains eight modules into which individual test cartridges are placed. The test cartridge 
slots operate independently of each other allowing up to 24 independent test cartridges to be loaded at one time, with the remaining slots 
available for use at any future time while the system is running. Each slot contains a test cartridge connector, a precision-controlled heater, an air 
pump and electronics. The air pumps drive the diaphragm pump and valve system in the test cartridge, eliminating fluid contact between the 
system and the cartridge. The pneumatic pumping enables recirculation of the hybridization solution allowing the target DNA and the signal 
probes to efficiently hybridize with the complementary capture probes on the electrodes. The diaphragm pump in the test cartridge is connected 
to a pneumatic source from the XT-8 system and provides unidirectional pumping of the hybridization mixture through the cartridge during 
hybridization.  
   

The touch screen workstation controls each analyzer, provides power and analyzes and stores data. Technicians can load patient 
identification numbers and reagent lot codes by using the included bar code scanner, the touch screen or uploading a text file from a USB 
memory stick.  
   

Advantages of Our eSensor ® Electrochemical Signal Detection  
   

We believe our proprietary electrochemical signal detection technology has several advantages over other signal detection platforms, 
including:  
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•  Robust Signal.     Our capture probes are highly target specific, reducing the binding of non-target DNA and, thereby, largely 
eliminating interference from other components in a patient’s sample, such as blood, saliva or urine. Similarly, constituents of blood 
that would normally interfere with fluorescence detection, such as hemoglobin or bilirubin, have no effect on the processed electronic 
signals produced by our eSensor ® technology. We believe this robust functionality facilitates the development of integrated 
amplification and sample-to-answer systems, such as our NexGen system, for blood and other sample types.    

•  High Sensitivity and Accuracy.     Our eSensor ® technology is highly sensitive in the detection of nucleic acids. Each electrode can 
routinely detect approximately one nanomolar of target DNA, and a sensitivity of 10 picomolar of target DNA has been achieved. 
Such concentrations are readily produced from patient samples using several commercially-validated amplification technologies such 
as PCR. Our eSensor ® technology has demonstrated 100% accuracy in our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, our Warfarin Sensitivity 
Test and our Thrombophilia Risk Test in clinical studies compared to DNA sequencing and other standards.  

•  Streamlined Sample Preparation.     Our technology directly detects the target DNA sequence with highly specific signal probes and 
electrode-bound capture probes. As a result, our test samples do not require many of the washing steps typically required to remove 
unbound target DNA and labels. We believe that our eSensor ® technology can minimize sample preparation requirements. We have 
already demonstrated direct PCR-based genotyping from diluted whole blood without the need for DNA sample preparation or 
washing out of interfering substances.  

•  Efficient Multiplexing.     Each of the 72 electrodes in our XT-8 test cartridge configuration acts independently of the others and 
produces a comprehensive and informative signal. For example, a single eSensor ® electrode can measure the presence or absence of 
control DNA, which we use for quality control, and simultaneously indicate whether a patient sample contains zero, one or two 
copies of a particular sequence, corresponding to mutant, heterozygous or wild type genotypes. As a result, our eSensor ® technology 
eliminates the need for redundancy and the averaging of multiple measurements commonly required by competing technologies.  

•  Small Footprint with Low Maintenance.     Our eSensor ® technology enables users to perform hybridization and detection in a low-
cost system with relatively few moving parts. In contrast, conventional microarray systems require robotic instrumentation to 
automate multistage fluidic handling processes. As a result, these systems are often bulky, complicated and expensive and require 
frequent calibration and maintenance. Our XT-8 system, for  
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example, requires no calibration and virtually no maintenance and is self-contained in a small footprint of approximately 16-by-16 
inches in its standard configuration.  

License Agreements  
   

California Institute of Technology.     We have a license from the California Institute of Technology to patents and patent applications 
related to nucleic acid-mediated electron transfer technology. We license certain of these patents on an exclusive basis. The license grant is 
worldwide, fully paid-up, and extends until the last of the underlying patents expires. The agreement is also conditioned on us paying all 
associated patent maintenance and prosecution fees. Either party may terminate the license agreement upon a material breach by the other party, 
subject to a cure period. We may terminate the license agreement for any reason upon 60 days written notice.  
   

Harvard University.     We have licensed from Harvard University, or Harvard, exclusive worldwide rights to technology relating to self-
assembling monolayers, or SAMs, and nucleic acid devices and methods. The license agreement provides for an upfront payment which has 
been paid, a maintenance/minimum annual fee which is creditable against royalties, royalties on net sales of products incorporating the 
underlying patents, payment of a fraction of sublicensing upfront and milestone fees and royalties and payment of all prosecution costs and 
maintenance fees. The license extends for the life of the underlying patents. The license agreement is terminable by Harvard upon certain events, 
including our insolvency or bankruptcy, our breach of the license agreement or our underreporting or underpayment of royalties, some of which 
are subject to a cure period. If Harvard terminates the license agreement, Harvard may, in its discretion, have a right in all sublicenses assigned 
for its benefit. We may terminate the license agreement for any reason upon 90 days’ advance written notice. Harvard retains certain rights under 
this license.  
   

University of Michigan and Hospital for Sick Children.     In March 2006, we acquired a non-exclusive license from the University of 
Michigan, or UM, and HSC Research and Development Limited Partnership, or HSC, to utilize the cystic fibrosis genes. We made a one-time 
upfront payment and are subject to escalating annual license maintenance fees against which running royalties are credited. The agreement 
remains in effect until the last to expire of the underlying patents. HSC/UM may terminate the agreement upon a material breach which is not 
cured within 60 days, and we may terminate the agreement upon 90 days written notice.  
   

Roche Molecular Systems, Inc.     We have a non-exclusive license from Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. to utilize a form of chemically 
modified thermostable DNA polymerase that is a component in some of our commercial products. We paid a one-time upfront fee for this 
license and are obligated to pay quarterly running royalties on net sales. The agreement remains in effect until the last to expire of the underlying 
patents. Either party may terminate the license agreement upon a material breach of the license agreement by the other party, subject to a cure 
period, or upon the filing for bankruptcy of the other party.  
   

Caliper Life Sciences Inc.     In March 2012, we entered into a license agreement with Caliper Life Sciences Inc., or Caliper, pursuant to 
which we obtained a non-exclusive license under Caliper’s microfluidics patent portfolio. In consideration for the license, we agreed to pay 
Caliper certain up-front and sales-based milestone payments, as well as a royalty on the sale of certain products. In addition, we obtained an 
unconditional release from any and all claims based upon any alleged infringement of the licensed patents prior to the effective date of the 
agreement.  
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•  Cost-Effective Development.     The use of electrochemical technology allows our XT-8 system to leverage third-party advances in 
microelectronics such as miniaturization and manufacturing efficiencies. Many electronic components associated with our core 
processes are produced in large volumes at low cost and size for use in numerous fields, including automotive, aerospace, information 
technology and medical devices. By avoiding the use of optical or fluorescent detection, we believe our eSensor ® technology can be 
applied at low cost to numerous testing environments in addition to our current target markets, including field testing and point-of-
care applications.  

•  Straightforward Development of New Tests.     Our eSensor ® technology is highly flexible, and we believe the main design 
consideration in developing new diagnostic tests for our instrument systems is our ability to access and synthesize the appropriate 
capture and signal probes. Our versatile platform allows us to add new diagnostic tests to our menu or to add new content to existing 
diagnostic tests without modifying the system platform. This ease of assay development and our versatile platforms will allow us to 
focus our research and development resources on developing new commercial test products.  

•  Functionality Outside of Molecular Diagnostics.     Our eSensor ® technology has broad applicability to detect a range of 
biomolecules. Independently, and through collaborative research with university and industry partners, we have demonstrated 
eSensor ® detection of proteins and small molecule drugs. This versatility opens the possibility of developing mixed analyte sensors, 
such as tests that can detect antibodies to a certain pathogen plus the pathogen itself, or genetic variations in drug metabolism plus 
monitoring of the drug level itself.  



Table of Contents  
 

Advanced Liquid Logic, Inc.     In July 2012, we entered into a development collaboration and license agreement with Advanced Liquid 
Logic, Inc., or ALL, which was acquired by Illumina, Inc. in July 2013. Under the terms of the agreement, we established a collaborative 
program to develop in-vitro diagnostic products incorporating ALL’s proprietary electro-wetting technology in conjunction with our 
electrochemical detection. We paid ALL an upfront license payment of $250,000 and agreed to pay up to $1,750,000 in potential additional 
milestone payments. Pursuant to the agreement, the parties agreed to enter into a supply agreement relating to the manufacture and supply of 
certain ALL components. The agreement also provides that we would, upon the occurrence of certain events, be obligated to pay to ALL a 
royalty consisting of a low- to mid-single digit percent of net sales of designated licensed products containing ALL components which we 
manufacture or are otherwise not manufactured and supplied by ALL.  
   

Market Opportunity  
   

We believe the global market for molecular diagnostics is currently approximately $5.0 billion and will experience a growth rate of 
approximately 15% per year over the course of the next several years based on research published by leading market research firms. Although 
we believe the global market for molecular diagnostics is approximately $5.0 billion, our XT-8 technology is suited to address a subset of this 
market that approximated $900 million in 2013. Our XT-8 instrument and related reagents are currently only sold in the U.S. market.  We intend 
to utilize a direct sales and technical support team in certain key European countries, which we expect will be augmented by marketing partners 
and distributors in other strategic areas as we expand internationally. We expect to introduce our XT-8 system to key opinion leader sites in 
certain countries as we look to establish our technology and certain tests within these markets in preparation for the international launch of our 
NexGen instrument system .  
   

We believe that our NexGen system would, when completed, expand the global market opportunity for our technology to approximately 
$2.3 billion. We currently expect to complete the development of our NexGen system in the middle of 2014, initiate the European launch of the 
system in late 2014, and launch the system in the United States in the second half of 2015. We believe that the global market for the infectious 
disease tests that we will initially target for our NexGen system is approximately $1.6 billion, comprising approximately $250 million for 
respiratory tests, approximately $400 million for sepsis tests, approximately $800 million for gastrointestinal infection tests, approximately $100 
million for HCV genotyping tests, and approximately $140 million for central nervous system infection tests. We also believe that the aggregate 
global market for the tests that we will consider developing in the near term and for which our technology is suited, including fungal, 
pneumonia, and other tests, is an additional approximately $500 million. We anticipate that the market for the molecular diagnostic tests on 
which our NexGen system will focus will increase by more than 20% per year over the next several years. Many factors are driving growth of 
this market, including increased demand for infectious disease diagnostics panels, the expansion of genetic testing for disease predisposition, and 
advances in personalized medicine, such as the tailoring of therapies to those individuals most likely to respond .  
   
Research and Development  
   

As of December 31, 2013 , we had 68 employees focused on research and development. Our research and development expenditures were 
approximately $22.1 million , $13.5 million and $8.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively. The 
increase in research and development expenses from 2012 to 2013 was primarily due to expenses incurred in connection with our NexGen 
system and assay development programs, and to improve our product reliability and enhance our product effectiveness in software development 
and product technical support for our XT-8 system.  
   

In addition to developing our NexGen system and expanding our diagnostic test menus, our research and development team is focused on 
the following initiatives:  
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•  Improving the Clinical and Practical Utility of our Tests.     An important role of our research and development team is to help 
establish the clinical utility and value of our molecular diagnostic tests. We have and intend to continue to partner with academic and 
reference laboratories to perform validation and clinical studies on our tests. Key aspects of our efforts are aimed at improving 
workflow in the laboratory setting, positively comparing our tests to historical or “gold standard” tests and demonstrating that our 
tests can help improve patient care and lower diagnostic and medical treatment costs. We intend to publish the results from these 
clinical studies in peer-reviewed or trade journals, submit them to regulatory bodies and present them at industry conferences in 
support of our commercialization strategy.  

•  Developing New Test Capabilities.     We may develop capabilities for utilizing our eSensor ® technology in protein and small 
molecule detection, through research collaborations or otherwise. These capabilities may enhance our future menu offerings or 
provide us with out-licensing opportunities. We may also explore direct gene expression analysis opportunities through collaboration 
with oncology specialists in industry and academia. These opportunities  
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may allow us to develop quantitative tests that are competitive with the “gold standard” real-time PCR tests but that are simple to 
perform in a multiplex manner.  

Manufacturing  
   

We manufacture our proprietary XT-8 test cartridges and ancillary reagents at our headquarters in Carlsbad, California. We perform 
reagent formulation, test cartridge manufacturing and packaging of final components and test cartridges in accordance with applicable guidelines 
for medical device manufacturing. We currently lease an approximately 53,000 square foot office and manufacturing facility which we believe 
will be adequate to meet our manufacturing needs for the foreseeable future. We outsource manufacturing of our XT-8 system to Leica 
Biosystems Melbourne Pty Ltd., or Leica. We also rely on third party suppliers, including in certain instances sole source suppliers, for 
oligonucleotide and other raw materials used in our products and much of the disposable component molding and sub-component assembly for 
our test cartridges.  
   

We have implemented a quality management system designed to comply with FDA regulations and ISO standards governing diagnostic 
medical device products. These regulations carefully control the design, manufacture, testing and release of diagnostics products, as well as raw 
material receipt and control. In 2012, our Carlsbad, California facility obtained ISO 13485 certification. We also have controlled methods for the 
consistent manufacturing of our proprietary test cartridges and reagents at our facilities. Our key outsourcing partners are generally ISO-certified 
to help assure a continual supply of high quality components.  

 
We plan to continue to manufacture components that we determine are highly proprietary or highly customized, while outsourcing more 

commodity-like components. We are likely to establish additional outsourcing partnerships as we manufacture additional products.  
   

Sales and Marketing  
   

Our current sales and marketing strategy is to expand the installed base and utilization of our XT-8 system and consumables. Our XT-8 
products are sold in the United States through a geographically dispersed direct sales and technical specialist service organization, which is 
supported by a centralized team of product managers and marketing, customer support, and technical support personnel.  
   

Our sales representatives typically have experience in molecular diagnostics and a network of laboratory contacts within their respective 
territories. We utilize our representatives’ knowledge along with market research databases to target and qualify our customers. We execute a 
variety of sales campaigns and strategies to meet the buying criteria of the different customer segments we serve. To support our expanding 
molecular test menu, growth in our customer base and our launch plans for our NexGen system, we continue to make investments in these 
customer facing organizations.  
   

We believe the XT-8 system competes largely on the basis of improved performance and reliability, ease of use and streamlined laboratory 
workflow, a high value test menu with multiplexing capabilities, and a superior return on investment. These and other advantages conferred by 
our technology are enabling us to provide clinicians and researchers with superior molecular solutions. Our sales cycle typically includes 
customer evaluations and validations of our products. Upon successful validation, a customer may generally acquire our XT-8 system and 
consumables in the following ways:  
   

We intend to offer our molecular diagnostic products in European and other international markets in the future. We anticipate utilizing a 
direct sales and technical support team in certain key European countries, which we expect will be augmented by marketing partners and 
distributors in other strategic areas as we expand internationally. We also expect to introduce our XT-8 system to key opinion leader sites in 
certain countries as we look to establish our technology and certain tests within these markets in preparation for the international launch of our 
NexGen instrument system, which we expect will occur in late 2014.  
   

Customers  
   

In 2013 , only Natural Molecular Testing Corporation, or NMTC, represented more than 10% of our total revenue. Although we did not 
recognize any revenue from NMTC in the second half of 2013, NMTC represented approximately 30% of  
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•  Reagent Rental:     The reagent rental agreement requires a customer commitment to purchase a minimum number of test cartridges 
over the term of the agreement, and a portion of the charge for each cartridge is a usage fee for the equipment. Our reagent rental 
agreements do not typically provide for any cancellation rights by the customer.  

•  Capital Purchase:     The XT-8 system is paid for upfront and in its entirety by the customer. Customers are also eligible to receive 
structured pricing incentives if they enter into an optional annual minimum cartridge commitment.  
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our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013. NMTC filed for bankruptcy in October 2013. In 2012, two customers, NMTC and 
Companion Dx Reference Labs, LLC, accounted for approximately 68% of our total revenue.  
   

Placements are defined in terms of the number of analyzers sold to or placed with a customer, reflecting a direct correlation between the 
reagent test revenue opportunity and the number of test cartridges that can be analyzed at any one time. As of December 31, 2013 , we had 
placed 413 XT-8 analyzers at 173 unique customer sites, or approximately 2.4 analyzers per customer. This compares with 297 analyzer 
placements at 135 unique customer sites, or approximately 2.2 analyzers per customer, as of December 31, 2012 .  

 
The increase in analyzers placed and related revenue generated in 2013 over the prior year is due to an increase in the number of new 

customers buying our products and growth in the sale of consumables to existing customers, despite the removal of 50 analyzers from NMTC 
during late 2013 as a result of NMTC’s bankruptcy filing.  
   

Competition  
   

We primarily face competition in the molecular diagnostic testing markets with testing products and systems developed by public and 
private companies such as Cepheid, Siemens, Hologic, Inc., Luminex Corporation, Nanosphere, Inc., Qiagen NV, Roche Diagnostics, a division 
of F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd., bioMerieux (which recently acquired Biofire Diagnostics, Inc.) and Abbott Molecular Diagnostics, a division of 
Abbott Laboratories. Our diagnostic tests also face competition with laboratory developed tests, or LDTs, developed by national and regional 
reference laboratories and hospitals. We believe that our XT-8 system competes largely on the basis of accuracy and reliability, enhanced 
laboratory workflow, multiplex capability, ease-of-use and return on investment for customers.  

 
Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technical, research and other resources and larger, more established 

marketing, sales and distribution organizations than we do. Many of our competitors also offer broader product lines and have greater brand 
recognition than we do. Moreover, our existing and new competitors may make rapid technological developments that may result in our 
technologies and products becoming obsolete before we recover the expenses incurred to develop them or before they generate significant 
revenue.  
    

Intellectual Property  
   

To establish and protect our proprietary technologies and products, we rely on a combination of our patents, copyrights, trademarks, and 
trade secrets, as well as other intellectual property rights in our technology and business information. Our intellectual property portfolio for our 
core electrochemical technology was initially built through the combination of our acquisition of the Clinical Micro Sensors business from 
Motorola and licensing patents from third parties, including the California Institute of Technology and Harvard University.  
   

We believe that our patent portfolio, which includes approximately 130 owned and exclusively licensed U.S. and foreign patents and over 
25 pending applications, provides us with robust protection of our electrochemical detection techniques, chemical insulators and attachment 
points on electrode surfaces and other technology that, collectively, form the staple of our eSensor ® platform. We continue to pursue the 
issuance of new patents to protect our ongoing research, development and commercial activities, including with respect to our NexGen system 
and related consumables. In general, patents have a term of at least 20 years from the application filing date or earlier claimed priority date. A 
majority of our issued and exclusively licensed patents are scheduled to expire by 2021, with approximately one half of the patents expiring by 
2018. Several of our pending applications have the potential to mature into patents that may expire between 2028 and 2034. Our success depends 
to a significant degree upon our ability to police infringement, derive licensing revenues and continue to develop proprietary products and 
technologies without infringing the intellectual property rights of others.  
   

We also rely in part on trade-secret protection of our intellectual property. We attempt to protect our trade secrets by entering into 
confidentiality agreements with third parties, employees and consultants. Our employees and consultants also sign agreements requiring that they 
assign to us their interests in intellectual property, such as patents and copyrights arising from their work for us. All employees sign an 
agreement not to compete unfairly with us during their employment and upon termination of their employment through the misuse of 
confidential information.  
   

We also have filed for registration, or obtained registration, in the U.S. and other countries for marks used with our products and 
technology. Our trademarks registered in the U.S. include eSensor ® and GenMark ® .  

 
Trademark protection continues in some countries for as long as the mark is used and, in other countries, for as long as it is registered. 

Registrations generally are for fixed but renewable terms.  
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Government Regulation  
   

The design, development, manufacture, testing and sale of our molecular diagnostic products are subject to regulation by numerous 
governmental authorities, principally the FDA, and corresponding state and foreign regulatory agencies.  
   

Regulation by the FDA  
   

In the United States, the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, FDA regulations and other federal and state statutes and 
regulations govern, among other things, medical device design and development, preclinical and clinical testing, premarket clearance or 
approval, registration and listing, manufacturing, labeling, storage, advertising and promotion, sales and distribution, export and import, and 
post-market surveillance. The FDA regulates the design, manufacturing, servicing, sale and distribution of medical devices, including molecular 
diagnostic test kits and instrumentation systems. Failure to comply with applicable U.S. requirements may subject a company to a variety of 
administrative or judicial sanctions, such as FDA refusal to approve pending applications, warning letters, product recalls, product seizures, total 
or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, civil penalties and criminal prosecution.  
   

Unless an exemption applies, each medical device we wish to distribute commercially in the United States will require marketing 
authorization from the FDA prior to distribution. The two primary types of FDA marketing authorization required applicable to a device are 
premarket notification, also called 510(k) clearance, and premarket approval, also called PMA. The type of marketing authorization required is 
generally linked to the classification of the device. The FDA classifies medical devices into one of three classes (Class I, II or III) based on the 
degree of risk the FDA determines to be associated with a device and the level of regulatory control deemed necessary to ensure the device’s 
safety and effectiveness. Devices requiring fewer controls because they are deemed to pose lower risk are placed in Class I. Class I devices are 
deemed to pose the least risk and are subject only to general controls applicable to all devices, such as requirements for device labeling and 
adherence to the FDA’s current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, and Quality System Requirements, as reflected in its QSR. Class II 
devices are intermediate risk devices that are subject to general controls and may also be subject to special controls such as performance 
standards, product-specific guidance documents, special labeling requirements, patient registries or postmarket surveillance. Class III devices are 
high risk devices for which insufficient information exists to assure safety and effectiveness solely through general or special controls. Class III 
devices include life-sustaining, life-supporting or implantable devices, devices of substantial importance in preventing impairment of human 
health, or which present a potential, unreasonable risk of illness or injury.  
   

Most Class I devices and some Class II devices are exempted by regulation from FDA’s premarket review requirement and can be 
commercialized without prior authorization from the FDA. Some Class I devices that have not been so exempted and most Class II devices are 
eligible for marketing through the 510(k) clearance process. By contrast, devices placed in Class III generally require PMA or 510(k) de novo 
clearance prior to commercial marketing. The PMA process is the most stringent type of device marketing application required by FDA. We 
commercialize the following Class II molecular diagnostic tests on our XT-8 system: the eSensor ® Warfarin Sensitivity Test, the Cystic Fibrosis 
Genotyping Test, the Thrombophilia Risk Test and the Respiratory Viral Panel. U.S. market authorization of these tests was accomplished via 
the 510(k) clearance process.  
   

510(k) Clearance .     To obtain 510(k) clearance for a medical device, an applicant must submit a premarket notification to the FDA 
demonstrating that the device is “substantially equivalent” to a device legally marketed in the United States that is not subject to PMA, 
commonly known as the “predicate device.” A device is substantially equivalent if, with respect to the predicate device, it has the same intended 
use and has either (i) the same technological characteristics or (ii) different technological characteristics and the information submitted 
demonstrates that the device is as safe and effective as a legally marketed device and does not raise different questions of safety or effectiveness. 
Demonstration of substantial equivalence may require clinical data. Although completion of the 510(k) review process is targeted for 90 days, 
these reviews typically take longer (e.g., up to 12 months or more) due to stoppage of the FDA review clock to address requests for additional 
information. Payment of a user fee is required for FDA to initiate review of a 510(k) submission.  
   

After a device has received 510(k) clearance for a specific intended use, any change or modification that significantly affects its safety or 
effectiveness, such as a significant change in the design, materials, method of manufacture or intended use, may require a new 510(k) clearance 
or PMA. The determination as to whether or not a modification could significantly affect the device’s safety or effectiveness is initially left to 
the manufacturer using available FDA guidance; however, the FDA may review this determination to evaluate the regulatory status of the 
modified product at any time and may require the manufacturer to cease marketing and recall the modified device until 510(k) clearance or PMA 
is obtained. The manufacturer may also be subject to significant regulatory fines or penalties.  
   

Before submitting a medical device for 510(k) clearance, a series of studies (e.g., method comparison, precision, reproducibility, 
interference and stability studies) must be conducted to characterize the performance of the test. In addition,  
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clinical studies may be required to validate these performance characteristics in a clinical setting as well as to ensure that the intended users can 
perform the test successfully.  
   

Although clinical investigations of most devices are subject to the investigational device exemption, or IDE, requirements, clinical 
investigations of molecular diagnostic tests, including our products and products under development, are generally exempt from the IDE 
requirements. Thus, clinical investigations by intended users for intended uses of our products generally do not require the FDA’s prior approval, 
provided the clinical evaluation testing is non-invasive, does not require an invasive sampling procedure that presents a significant risk, does not 
intentionally introduce energy into the subject and is not used as a diagnostic procedure without confirmation by another medically established 
test or procedure. In addition, products must be appropriately labeled per FDA regulations to reflect the intended use of the product (e.g., for 
research use only or for investigational use only) and distribution controls must be established to assure that such products are distributed for 
those specified purposes.  
   

PMA .     PMA applications must be supported by valid scientific evidence, which typically requires extensive performance data, including 
technical, preclinical, clinical and stability data, to demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of the device. A PMA application must also include 
a complete description of the device and its components, a detailed description of the methods, facilities and controls used to manufacture the 
device, and the proposed labeling. Payment of a user fee is required for FDA to initiate review of a PMA application.  
   

During the PMA application review period, the FDA may request additional information or clarification of information provided in the 
application. In addition, the FDA will conduct a pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities to ensure compliance with the 
QSR, which requires manufacturers to follow design, testing, control, documentation and other quality assurance procedures.  
   

Although FDA review of an initial PMA application is required by statute to take between six to ten months, these reviews typically take 
longer (e.g., up to 2 years) due to stoppage of the FDA review clock to address requests for additional information. The FDA can delay, limit or 
deny approval of a PMA application for many reasons, including:  
   

If the FDA evaluations of both the PMA application and the manufacturing facilities are favorable, the FDA will either issue an approval 
letter or an approvable letter, which may contain conditions that must be met in order to secure final approval of the PMA application. If the 
FDA’s evaluation of the PMA application or manufacturing facilities is not favorable, the FDA will deny approval of the application or issue a 
“not approvable” letter. A “not approvable” letter will outline the deficiencies in the application and, where practical, will identify what is 
necessary to make the application approvable. The FDA may also determine that additional studies (preclinical and/or clinical studies) are 
necessary, in which case the PMA may be delayed for several months or years while these studies are conducted and the subsequent amendment 
to the PMA application is submitted. Once granted, approval of the PMA application may be withdrawn by the FDA if compliance with post-
approval requirements, conditions of approval or other regulatory standards are not maintained or problems are identified following initial 
marketing.  
   

Post-approval modifications to the manufacturing process, labeling, device specifications, materials or design of a Class III device may 
require approval of a PMA supplement. PMA supplements require submission of technical data to support implementation of the proposed 
change to the Class III device. Payment of a user fee is required for FDA to initiate review of a PMA supplement.  
   

Regulation after FDA Clearance or Approval .     Any devices we manufacture or distribute pursuant to clearance or approval by the FDA 
are subject to pervasive and continuing regulation by the FDA and certain state agencies. We are required to adhere to applicable regulations 
setting forth detailed GMP requirements, as set forth in the QSR, which includes testing, control and documentation requirements. Non-
compliance with these standards can result in fines, injunctions, civil penalties, recalls or seizures of products, total or partial suspension of 
production, refusal of the government to grant 510(k) clearance or PMA of devices, withdrawal of marketing approvals and criminal 
prosecutions. We have designed and implemented quality system processes within our manufacturing facilities in order to comply with FDA’s 
GMP requirements.  
   

Because we are a medical device manufacturer, we must also comply with FDA’s medical device reporting requirements whenever there is 
evidence that reasonably suggests that one of our products may have caused or contributed to a death or  
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•  it is not demonstrated that there is reasonable assurance that the device is safe or effective under the conditions of use prescribed, 
recommended or suggested in the proposed labeling;  

•  the data from preclinical studies and clinical trials may be insufficient to support approval; and 

•  the manufacturing process, methods, controls or facilities used for the manufacture, processing, packing or installation of the device 
do not meet applicable requirements.  
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serious injury. We must also report any incident in which our product has malfunctioned if that malfunction would likely cause or contribute to a 
death or serious injury if it were to recur.  

 
Labeling, advertising, and promotional activities are subject to scrutiny by the FDA and, in certain circumstances, by the Federal Trade 

Commission. Medical devices approved or cleared by the FDA may not be promoted for unapproved or uncleared uses, otherwise known as 
“off-label” promotion. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a 
company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant liability, including substantial monetary 
penalties and criminal prosecution. We have implemented quality system processes and advertising/promotional policies designed to comply 
with these requirements.  
   

Environmental Regulations .     We are also subject to numerous federal, state and local laws relating to such matters as safe working 
conditions, manufacturing practices, environmental protection, fire hazard control and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances. 
Some of these laws require us to obtain licenses or permits to conduct our operations. We have numerous policies and quality system procedures 
in place to ensure compliance with these laws and to minimize the risk of occupational exposure to hazardous materials. We do not expect the 
operations of our products to produce significant quantities of hazardous or toxic waste or radiation that would require the use of extraordinary 
disposal practices. Although the costs to comply with these applicable laws and regulations have not been material, we cannot predict the impact 
on our business of new or amended laws or regulations or any changes in the way existing and future laws and regulations are interpreted or 
enforced, nor can we ensure we will be able to obtain or maintain any required licenses or permits.  

 
Export of Our Products .     Medical devices that are legally marketed in the U.S. may be exported anywhere in the world without prior 

FDA notification or approval. Devices that have not been approved or cleared in the U.S. must follow the export provisions of the FDCA. 
Depending on which section of the FDCA we may export under, we may need to request an export permit letter or export certificate, or we may 
need to submit a simple notification. Export certificates may be requested by foreign customers or foreign governments to provide proof of the 
products’ status as regulated by the FDA. The export certificate is prepared by FDA and contains information about a product’s regulatory or 
marketing status in the United States.  
   

Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988 .     The use of our products is also affected by the Clinical Laboratory 
Improvement Amendments of 1988, or CLIA, and related federal and state regulations, which provide for regulation of laboratory testing. Any 
customers using our products for clinical use in the United States will be regulated under CLIA, which establishes quality standards for all 
laboratory testing to ensure the accuracy, reliability and timeliness of patient test results regardless of where the test was performed. In 
particular, these regulations mandate that clinical laboratories must be certified by the federal government or a federally approved accreditation 
agency, or must be located in a state that has been deemed exempt from CLIA requirements because the state has in effect laws that provide for 
requirements equal to or more stringent than CLIA requirements. Moreover, these laboratories must meet quality assurance, quality control and 
personnel standards, and they must undergo proficiency testing and inspections. The CLIA standards applicable to clinical laboratories are based 
on the complexity of the method of testing performed by the laboratory, which range from “waived” to “moderate complexity” to “high 
complexity.” We expect that most of our products will be categorized as “high complexity,” since most molecular diagnostic tests are currently 
FDA-cleared as CLIA “high complexity” devices.  
   

Foreign Government Regulation .     We intend to market our products in European and other select international markets. The regulatory 
pre-market requirements for IVD devices vary from country to country. Some countries impose product standards, packaging requirements, 
labeling requirements and import restrictions on devices. Each country has its own tariff regulations, duties and tax requirements. Failure to 
comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements may subject us to fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product 
recalls, seizure of products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution.  
   

Third-Party Payor Reimbursements  
   

Obtaining reimbursement approval for a health care product or service from a government or other third-party payor is a time consuming 
and costly process that could require us to provide supporting scientific, clinical and health economic data for the use of our products to the 
payor. We may not be able to provide data sufficient to gain acceptance with respect to reimbursement. Even when a payor determines that a 
product or service is eligible for reimbursement, the payor may impose coverage limitations that preclude payment for some uses that are 
approved by the FDA or comparable authorities. In addition, there is a risk that full reimbursement may not be available for certain products. 
Moreover, eligibility for coverage does not imply that any product or service will be reimbursed in all cases or at a rate that allows our customers 
to make a profit or cover their costs. Initial or interim reimbursements for products and services, if available, may also be insufficient to cover 
costs and may not be made permanent.  
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Successful sales of our products in the United States and other countries will likely depend on the availability of reimbursement from 
third-party payors such as private insurance plans, managed care organizations, and Medicare and Medicaid. Our customers have obtained 
reimbursement for our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, our Thrombophilia Risk Test and our Respiratory Viral Panel for the XT-8 system. 
However, Medicare and Medicaid generally do not reimburse providers who use our Warfarin Sensitivity Test. Outside of the United States, 
health care reimbursement systems vary from country to country, and to the extent we begin to sell our products outside the United States, we 
may not be able to obtain adequate reimbursement coverage, if any, for our products.  

 
In addition, we may develop tests in the future that do not relate to previously established current procedural terminology, or CPT, codes 

and we may need to obtain new CPT codes in order to obtain reimbursement. In January 2013, the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 
or CMS, implemented new molecular diagnostic CPT codes and retired the prior procedural codes used to bill for molecular testing. All 
Medicare contractors subsequently issued pricing for some or all of the new molecular pathology codes; however, reimbursement coverage 
decisions and levels during 2013 varied significantly among these contractors. The disparate Medicare reimbursement coverage determinations 
among Medicare contractors resulted in a Medicare coverage disparity during 2013 for the performance of a particular diagnostic testing 
procedure depending on the area of the United States in which the procedure was performed. In September 2013, CMS issued final “gap-fill” 
pricing decisions for CPT codes, which has formed the basis of related payments in 2014. The CPT codes published for 2014 did not include 
rates for all codes and reduced the reimbursement amounts for certain products, including some of our pharmacogenomics products. In addition, 
certain Medicare Administrative Contractors (MACs) and private payors have recently issued draft coverage policies for pharmacogenomics 
testing that, if implemented, would significantly restrict coverage for these tests.  
   

Reimbursement by a third-party payor depends on a number of factors, including applicable coverage policies and limitations, the level of 
demand by health care providers and the payor’s determination that the use of a new product is medically necessary and represents a clinical 
advance. In addition, both government and non-government third-party payors routinely limit reimbursement coverage and reimbursement 
amounts for diagnostic tests. If our customers cannot receive sufficient levels of reimbursement when using our products, our ability to sell those 
products could be significantly constrained.  
   

Fraud and Abuse Regulations  
   

We are subject to numerous federal and state health care anti-fraud laws, including the federal anti-kickback statute and False Claims Act 
that are intended to reduce waste, fraud and abuse in the health care industry. These laws are broad and subject to evolving interpretations. They 
prohibit many arrangements and practices that are lawful in industries other than health care, including certain payments for consulting and other 
personal services, some discounting arrangements, the provision of gifts and business courtesies, the furnishing of free supplies and services, and 
waivers of payments. In addition, many states have enacted or are considering laws that limit arrangements between medical device 
manufacturers and physicians and other health care providers and require significant public disclosure concerning permitted arrangements. These 
laws are vigorously enforced against medical device manufacturers and have resulted in manufacturers paying significant fines and penalties and 
being subject to stringent corrective action plans and reporting obligations. We must operate our business within the requirements of these laws 
and, if we were accused of violating them, we could be forced to expend significant resources on investigation, remediation and monetary 
penalties.  
   

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act  
   

Our operations are affected by the federal Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, as modified by the Health Care and 
Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, which we refer to as the Health Care Act. The Health Care Act imposes a 2.3% excise tax on sales of 
medical devices by manufacturers. Taxable devices include any medical device defined in section 201(h) of the FDCA and intended for use by 
humans, with limited exclusions for devices purchased by the general public at retail for individual use. There is no exemption for small 
companies, and we began paying the tax in January 2013. The Health Care Act also requires manufacturers to report to the Department of Health 
and Human Services detailed information about financial arrangements with physicians and teaching hospitals. These reporting provisions 
preempt state laws that require reporting of the same information, but not those that require reports of different or additional information. Failure 
to comply subjects the manufacturer to significant civil monetary penalties.  
   

Employees  
   

As of December 31, 2013 , we had 153 employees. Approximately 68 employees were involved in research and development, 30 in 
operations, manufacturing and quality assurance, 35 in sales and marketing, and 20 in general and administrative functions. Our success will 
depend in large part upon our ability to attract and retain employees. We face competition in this regard from other companies, research and 
academic institutions, government entities and other organizations. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement.  
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Corporate and Available Information  
   

Our principal corporate offices are located at 5964 La Place Court, Carlsbad, California.  
   

We make available, free of charge, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and 
any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities 
and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. We also make these documents and certain public financial information available on our website, which 
is www.genmarkdx.com . Our SEC reports and other financial information can be accessed through the investor relations section of our website. 
Some of the information found on our website is not part of this or any other report we file with or furnish to the SEC.  
   

   

You should consider each of the following factors as well as the other information in this Annual Report in evaluating our business and 
our prospects. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. If any of the following risks actually occur, our 
business and financial results could be harmed. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline. You should also refer to the 
other information set forth in this Annual Report, including our financial statements and the related notes.  
   

We may not be successful in developing and commercializing our NexGen system and its related test menu.  
   

We are designing our NexGen system to integrate automated nucleic acid extraction and amplification with our eSensor® technology to 
allow technicians to be able to place a raw or minimally prepared patient samples directly into our test cartridges and obtain results with 
significantly reduced or no technician hands-on processing time. Our current plan for achieving positive cash flow and our future growth 
projections relies upon the successful development and commercialization of our NexGen system and its related test menu. The development of 
new or enhanced products is a complex and uncertain process requiring the accurate anticipation of technological and market trends, as well as 
precise technological execution. Although we have significant experience with our proprietary eSensor® electrochemical detection technology, 
we have not thus far developed a complete, sample-to-answer diagnostic instrument system. Successfully completing this complex project will 
require the effective convergence of our eSensor® technology with a number of additional unique technologies. We may not be successful in 
completing the development of all of the currently intended features and benefits of the system or effectively managing the complexities of the 
development program.  
   

In addition, the development of our NexGen system involves multiple collaboration partners. For example, in July 2012 we entered into a 
Development Collaboration and License Agreement with Advanced Liquid Logic, Inc., or ALL, which was acquired by Illumina Inc. in July 
2013. This agreement established a collaborative program to develop in-vitro diagnostic products incorporating ALL’s proprietary electro-
wetting technology in conjunction with electrochemical detection. While we have signed agreements with each of our collaboration partners, we 
cannot completely control the resources our collaboration partners dedicate to our NexGen development program and their internal priorities 
may change over time. If any of our corporate collaborators were to breach or terminate its agreement with us or otherwise fail to conduct its 
collaborative activities successfully, in a timely or cost effective manner, or if we are otherwise unsuccessful in effectively managing the 
complexities of our NexGen development program, the development or commercialization of our NexGen system could be delayed or 
terminated, or could cost significantly more than expected.  
 

We believe we have made significant progress in the development of our NexGen system and continue to remain highly focused on 
developing a multiplex, sample-to-answer diagnostic solution of the highest quality for our customers. Based on development milestones 
achieved during 2013 and our ongoing assessment of development progress relative to our development plan, we currently believe that the 
completion of development of our NexGen system will occur in the middle of 2014. In addition, we currently expect to initiate the European 
launch of our NexGen system in late 2014 and launch the system in the United States in the second half of 2015. However, our current estimates 
are based on a number of assumptions which could prove to be inaccurate or we may experience unanticipated technical or regulatory challenges 
or other delays. If we are unsuccessful in completing development of our NexGen system within our expected time frame, or at all, our business 
and future prospects may be adversely affected.  
 
Our financial results will depend on the acceptance and increased demand among reference laboratories, hospitals and the medical 
community of our molecular diagnostic technology and products.  
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Our future success depends on the belief by our target customers and the medical community that our molecular diagnostic products are a 
reliable, medically-relevant, accurate and cost-effective replacement for other molecular diagnostic testing methods. Medical offices and many 
hospitals outsource their molecular diagnostic testing needs to national or regional reference laboratories. Our business success depends on our 
ability to convince these target laboratories and hospitals to perform these tests internally with our products if they have historically outsourced 
their testing needs or have historically used non-molecular methods to perform such testing, or to replace their current molecular testing 
platforms with our system and its related test offerings.  
   

Many other factors may affect the market acceptance and commercial success of our molecular diagnostic technology and products, 
including:  
   

Professional societies, government agencies, practice management groups, private health/science foundations and organizations involved 
in healthcare issues may publish guidelines, recommendations or studies for the healthcare and patient communities. Recommendations of 
government agencies or these other organizations may relate to such matters as cost-effectiveness and use of related products. Organizations like 
these have in the past made recommendations about our competitors’ products, such as the need for less frequent screening tests, which could 
result in reduced product sales. Moreover, the perception by the investment community or stockholders that recommendations, guidelines or 
studies will result in decreased use of our products could adversely affect the prevailing market price for our common stock.  

 
  Our quarterly revenue and operating results may vary significantly and we may experience constraints or inefficiencies caused by 
unanticipated acceleration and deceleration of customer demand.  
   

A significant portion of our current revenue is derived from our Respiratory Viral Panel, or RVP. Demand for this product tends to 
accelerate on a seasonal basis based upon influenza and other respiratory-related outbreaks. These outbreaks are usually more concentrated in the 
first and fourth quarters of the year. Flu seasons are naturally unpredictable. Although epidemics of flu tend to happen each year, the timing, 
severity and length of the season varies from one year to another. As a result, predicting associated sales levels for our RVP test can be difficult, 
and, depending on the severity of the flu season, we may not be able to accurately forecast sales from this product.  

 
Also, unanticipated changes in customer demand for our products may result in constraints or inefficiencies related to our manufacturing, 

sales force, implementation resources and administrative infrastructure. These constraints or inefficiencies may adversely affect us as a result of 
delays, lost potential product sales or loss of current or potential customers due to their dissatisfaction. Similarly, over-expansion or investments 
in anticipation of growth that does not materialize, or develops more slowly than we expect, could harm our financial results and result in 
overcapacity.  
 
We face intense competition from established and new companies in the molecular diagnostics field and expect to face increased competition 
in the future.  
   

The markets for our technologies and products are highly competitive and we expect the intensity of competition to increase. We compete 
with many companies in the United States engaged in the development, commercialization and distribution of similar products intended for 
clinical molecular diagnostic applications. Categories of our competitors include:  
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•  the relative convenience, ease of use, accuracy and time-to-result of our diagnostic products over competing products; 

•  the introduction of new technologies and competing products that may make our technologies and products a less attractive solution 
for our target customers;  

•  the breadth of our menu of available diagnostic tests relative to our competitors; 

•  our success in training reference and hospital-based laboratories in the proper use of our products; 

•  the acceptance in the medical community and key opinion leaders of our molecular diagnostic technology and products; 

•  the extent and success of our marketing and sales efforts; and 

•  general economic conditions. 

•  companies developing and marketing multiplex molecular diagnostics systems, including: Luminex; Nanosphere, Inc.; bioMerieux, 
which recently acquired BioFire Diagnostics, Inc.; Qiagen NV; Abbott Molecular Diagnostics, a division of Abbott Laboratories; 
Hologic, Inc. and Cepheid;  
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Our diagnostic tests also face competition from laboratory developed tests, or LDTs, developed by national and regional reference 

laboratories and hospitals. LDTs may not be subject to the same regulatory requirements, including those requiring clinical trials and FDA 
review and clearance or approval that may apply to our diagnostic products.  
   

We anticipate that we will face increased competition in the future as new companies enter the market with new technologies and our 
competitors improve their current products and expand their menu of diagnostic tests. Many of our current competitors, as well as many of our 
potential competitors, have greater name recognition, more substantial intellectual property portfolios, longer operating histories, significantly 
greater resources to invest in new technologies, more substantial experience in new product development, greater regulatory expertise, and more 
extensive manufacturing and distribution capabilities. It is critical to our success that we anticipate changes in technology and customer 
requirements and successfully introduce enhanced and competitive technology to meet our customers’ and prospective customers’ needs on a 
timely basis.  
 
We may be unsuccessful in expanding sales of our product offerings outside the United States.  
   

Assuming we receive the applicable regulatory approvals, we plan to offer our molecular diagnostic products in European and other 
international markets in the near future. We intend to utilize a direct sales and technical support team in certain key European countries, which 
we expect will be augmented by marketing partners and distributors in other strategic areas as we expand internationally. We expect to introduce 
our XT-8 system to key opinion leader sites in certain countries as we look to establish our technology and certain tests within these markets in 
preparation for the international launch of our NexGen instrument system, which we expect will occur in late 2014. If we are unable to establish 
the infrastructure or recruit highly qualified personnel to support our direct sales and support organization, or if we are unsuccessful in 
developing awareness and acceptance of our products and technology internationally, our future financial performance would be adversely 
affected. Furthermore, any distributors we establish may not commit the necessary resources to market and sell our products to meet our 
expectations. If distributors do not perform adequately or in compliance with applicable laws and regulations in particular geographic areas, or if 
we are unable to locate distributors in particular geographic areas, our ability to realize revenue growth based on sales outside the United States 
would be harmed.  
   

In order to market our products in the European Union and many other foreign jurisdictions, we, or our distributors or partners, must 
obtain separate regulatory approvals and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements regarding safety and efficacy and 
governing, among other things, clinical studies and commercial sales and distribution of our products. The approval procedure varies among 
countries and can involve additional testing. The regulatory approval process outside the United States may include all of the risks associated 
with obtaining FDA approval, as well as additional risks. In addition, in many countries outside the United States, a product must be approved 
for reimbursement before the product can be approved for sale in that country. We may not obtain approvals from regulatory authorities outside 
the United States on a timely basis, if at all, which could harm our ability to expand into markets outside the United States.  
 
The regulatory clearance or approval process for certain products is expensive, time consuming and uncertain, and the failure to obtain and 
maintain required clearances or approvals could prevent us from commercializing our products.  
   

We are investing significantly in the research and development of our NexGen instrument and its related molecular diagnostic tests to 
expand our future product offerings. Our molecular diagnostic products may be classified as Class II or Class III medical devices which will 
require 510(k) clearance or pre-market approval by the FDA prior to their marketing for commercial use in the United States. For international 
commercialization, the classification of, and the regulatory pre-market requirements for, our molecular diagnostic products varies from country 
to country. There are a number of potential risks associated with the regulatory review processes for our products in development. For example, 
regulatory authorities may require that we conduct additional studies that could impact the cost associated with product development and could 
potentially delay commercial launch of the product. In addition, we may be unsuccessful in obtaining regulatory clearance for all of our desired 
intended uses for our products or product approval or clearance within certain jurisdictions.  
   

The regulatory environment is constantly evolving. For example, the FDA conducted a review of the pre-market clearance process in 
response to internal and external concerns regarding the 510(k) program, and, in January 2011, FDA announced 25 action items designed to 
make the process more rigorous and transparent. Some of these proposals, if enacted, could impose additional regulatory requirements for device 
manufacturers which could delay our ability to obtain new 510(k) clearances, increase the costs of compliance or restrict our ability to maintain 
our current clearances. More recently, in July  
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•  large hospital-based laboratories and reference laboratories who provide large-scale testing using their own proprietary testing 
methods, including Quest Diagnostics Incorporated and Laboratory Corporation of America; and  

•  companies that manufacture laboratory-based tests and analyzers, including: Cepheid; Siemens; Hologic, Inc.; Qiagen NV; 
bioMérieux; Roche Diagnostics, a division of F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd.; and Abbott Molecular Diagnostics.  
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2012, President Obama signed into law the Food and Drug Administration Safety and Innovation Act, or the FDASIA. Among other things, the 
FDASIA includes several reforms which are further intended to clarify and improve medical device regulation both pre- and post-approval. One 
of these provisions obligates the FDA to prepare a report for Congress on the FDA’s approach for determining when a new 510(k) will be 
required for modifications or changes to a previously cleared device. After submitting this report, the FDA is expected to issue revised guidance 
to assist device manufacturers in making this determination. Until then, manufacturers may continue to adhere to the FDA’s 1997 guidance on 
this topic when making a determination as to whether or not a new 510(k) is required for a change or modification to a device, but the practical 
impact of the FDA’s continuing scrutiny of these issues remains unclear. Similarly, the European Union, or EU, is proposing to update the 
European Directive 98/79/EC on in vitro diagnostic medical device, or IVD Directive (IVDD), that could impact the classification of our 
molecular diagnostic products and result in additional regulatory requirements, which could delay our ability to CE Mark our products. Delays in 
receipt of, or failure to obtain, clearances or approvals for future products, including our NexGen instrument and products that are currently in 
design or development, would result in delayed, or no, realization of revenues from such products and in substantial additional costs, which 
could decrease our profitability.  

 
We must also comply with the applicable FDA and foreign regulatory agency post-market requirements. Any failure to maintain post-

market compliance with FDA or foreign regulatory requirements could harm our business, operations, and/or financial condition.  
   

We derive a significant portion of our revenues from the sale of research use only, or RUO, tests, which are not intended for diagnostic 
purposes. Clinical laboratories are regulated under the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988, or CLIA, and may validate the 
use of a laboratory developed test, or LDT, specifically for use in their laboratory using any labeled products, which may include RUO-labeled 
products. While FDA does not regulate LDTs, it has promulgated guidance on acceptable distribution practices for IVD products labeled for 
Research Use Only and on responding to unsolicited requests for off-label information. We have developed procedures designed to comply with 
these requirements. Nevertheless, if the FDA imposes substantial changes to the regulation or enforcement of LDTs which limit the availability 
and use of our RUO tests, it may result in a significant reduction in the sale of our RUO products and we may be required to terminate those 
RUO product sales, conduct additional performance studies and/or make submissions of our RUO products to the FDA for clearance or 
approval, which could reduce our revenues or increase our costs and adversely affect our operations and/or financial condition.  
 
We may have difficulties scaling our manufacturing operations for our anticipated future growth.  
   

To date, we have produced our products in limited quantities relative to the quantities necessary to achieve our desired revenue growth. 
We recently completed a facility expansion project designed to increase our future manufacturing capabilities in anticipation of the launch of our 
NexGen instrument system and its related test menu. Developing the necessary manufacturing and quality procedures for a significant number of 
newly developed products is a complex process. We may not be prepared to produce sufficient quantities of our products or maintain consistency 
and quality among differing lots of consumables. If we encounter difficulties in scaling our manufacturing operations as a result of, among other 
things, quality control and quality assurance issues and availability of components and raw material supplies, we may not achieve our anticipated 
financial results within the time frame we expect, or at all.  

 
To manage our anticipated future growth effectively, we must enhance our manufacturing capabilities and operations, information 

technology infrastructure, and financial and accounting systems and controls. Organizational growth and scale-up of operations could strain our 
existing managerial, operational, financial and other resources. If our management is unable to effectively prepare for our expected future 
growth, our expenses may increase more than anticipated, our revenue could grow more slowly than expected, and we may not be able to 
achieve our commercialization goals. Our failure to effectively implement the necessary processes and procedures and otherwise prepare for our 
anticipated growth could have a material adverse effect on our future financial condition and prospects.  
 
Our products could infringe patent rights of others, which may require costly litigation and, if we are not successful, could cause us to pay 
substantial damages or limit our ability to commercialize our products.  
   

Our commercial success depends on our ability to develop, manufacture and market our systems and tests and use our proprietary 
technology without infringing the patents and other proprietary rights of third parties. As the molecular diagnostic industry expands and more 
patents are issued, the risk increases that there may be patents issued to third parties that relate to our products and technology of which we are 
not aware or that we must challenge to continue our operations as currently contemplated. Our products may infringe or may be alleged to 
infringe these patents.  
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In addition, patent applications in the United States and many foreign jurisdictions are typically not published until eighteen months after 
the earliest filing date for which a benefit is claimed. For this reason, and because publications in the scientific literature often lag behind actual 
discoveries, we cannot be certain that others have not filed patent applications for technology covered by our issued patents or our pending 
applications or that we were the first to invent the technology. Another party may have filed or may in the future file patent applications covering 
our products or technology similar to ours. Under the “first to invent” rules applicable to patents filed before March 2013, any such patent 
application may have priority over our patent applications or patents, which could further require us to obtain rights to issued patents covering 
such technologies. If another party has filed a U.S. patent application on inventions similar to ours, we may have to participate in an interference 
proceeding declared by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or PTO, to determine priority of invention in the United States. The costs of these 
proceedings could be substantial, and it is possible that such efforts would be unsuccessful if the other party had independently arrived at the 
same or similar invention prior to our own invention, resulting in a loss of our U.S. patent position with respect to such inventions.  

 
The patent positions of medical device companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which 

important legal principles remain unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in patents in these fields has emerged 
to date in the United States or in many foreign jurisdictions. Both the U.S. Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit have 
made, and will likely continue to make, changes in how the patent laws of the U.S. are interpreted. For example, two recent Supreme Court 
cases, Association for Molecular Pathology et al. v. Myriad Genetics, Inc., et al. and Mayo Collaborative Services v. Prometheus Laboratories, 
have introduced additional questions regarding the patentability of isolated naturally occurring genes and gene fragments, proteins, peptides, 
natural products, and related diagnostic and therapeutic methods which are likely to be resolved only through continued litigation. The overall 
impact of these decisions and others on the molecular diagnostics industry remains uncertain and our interpretation of the scope of these rulings 
on existing or future patents may be inaccurate.  
   

There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the medical device, biotechnology and 
pharmaceutical industries generally. From time to time, we may become engaged in litigation with third parties having patent or other 
intellectual property rights alleging that our products or proprietary technologies infringe their intellectual property rights. If a third party claims 
that we or any of our customers or collaborators infringe its intellectual property rights, we may face a number of issues, including, but not 
limited to:  
   

 
Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have 

substantially greater resources. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could have a material 
adverse effect on our ability to raise funds to the extent necessary to continue our operations.  
   

If third -party payors do not reimburse our customers for the use of our products or if reimbursement levels are set too low for us to sell our 
products at a profit, our ability to sell our products and our results of operations will be harmed.  
   

We sell our products to hospital-based and reference laboratories, substantially all of which receive reimbursement for the health care 
services they provide to their patients from third-party payors, such as Medicare, Medicaid, other domestic and foreign government programs, 
private insurance plans and managed care programs. Reimbursement decisions by particular third-party payors depend upon a number of factors, 
including each third-party payor’s determination that use of a product is:  
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•  infringement and other intellectual property claims which, regardless of merit, may be expensive and time-consuming to litigate and 
may divert our management’s attention from our core business;  

•  substantial damages for infringement, which we may have to pay if a court decides that the product at issue infringes on or violates 
the third party’s rights, and if the court finds that the infringement was willful, we could be ordered to pay treble damages and the 
patent owner’s attorneys’ fees;  

•  a court prohibiting us from selling or licensing our product unless the third party licenses its product rights to us, which it is not 
required to do;  

•  if a license is available from a third party, we may have to pay substantial royalties, upfront fees or grant cross-licenses to intellectual 
property rights for our products; and  

•  redesigning our products or processes so they do not infringe, which may not be possible or may require substantial monetary 
expenditures and time.  

•  a covered benefit under its health plan; 

•  appropriate and medically necessary for the specific indication; 

•  cost effective; and 
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Third-party payors may deny reimbursement for covered products if they determine that a medical product was not used in accordance 
with cost-effective diagnosis methods, as determined by the third-party payor, or was used for an unapproved indication. Third-party payors may 
also refuse to reimburse for procedures and devices deemed to be experimental or investigational.  
   

Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval for a product from each government or third-party payor is a time consuming and costly 
process that could require us to provide supporting scientific, clinical and cost-effectiveness data for the use of our product to each government 
or third-party payor. We may not be able to provide data sufficient to gain acceptance with respect to coverage and reimbursement. For example, 
Medicare and Medicaid generally do not reimburse providers who use our Warfarin Sensitivity Test. In addition, eligibility for coverage does not 
imply that any product will be covered and reimbursed in all cases or reimbursed at a rate that allows our potential customers to make a profit or 
even cover their costs. Further, third-party payors may choose to reimburse our customers per test based on individual biomarker detection, 
rather than on the basis of the number of results given by the test. This may result in reference laboratories, public health institutions and 
hospitals electing to use separate tests to screen for each disease or condition so that they can receive reimbursement for each test they conduct. 
In that event, these entities may purchase separate tests for each disease, rather than products, such as ours, that can be used to return highly 
multiplexed test results.  
   

In the United States, the American Medical Association, or AMA, generally assigns specific billing codes for laboratory tests under a 
coding system known as Current Procedure Terminology, or CPT, codes, which are necessary for our customers to bill and receive 
reimbursement for our diagnostic tests. Once the CPT code is established, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, which is 
responsible for implementing the Medicare program, establishes payment levels and coverage rules under Medicare. Private payors establish 
rates and coverage rules independently. We cannot guarantee that any of our tests are or will be covered by the CPT codes that we believe may 
be applied to them or that any of our tests or other products will be approved for coverage or reimbursement by Medicare, Medicaid or any third-
party payor.  
   

Third-party payors are increasingly attempting to contain health care costs by limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement for 
medical products and services. Increasingly, Medicare, Medicaid and other third-party payors are challenging the prices charged for medical 
services, including molecular diagnostic tests. In July 2013, CMS released certain proposals that re-examined payment amounts for tests 
reimbursed under the Medicare clinical laboratory fee schedule due to changes in technology. CMS also proposed to bundle the Medicare 
payments for certain laboratory tests ordered while a patient received services in a hospital outpatient setting, replacing the current methodology 
to make separate payments for the test. These changes went into effect on January 1, 2014. In addition, payment methodologies may be subject 
to changes in healthcare legislation. In February 2012, President Obama signed the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012, 
which mandated an additional change in reimbursement for clinical laboratory services payments. This legislation required CMS to reduce the 
Medicare clinical laboratory fee schedule by 2% in 2013, which in turn will serve as the base for 2014 and subsequent years. Levels of 
reimbursement may continue to decrease in the future, and future legislation, regulation or reimbursement policies of third-party payors may 
harm the demand and reimbursement available for our products, which in turn, could harm our product pricing and sales. If our customers are 
not adequately reimbursed for our products, they may reduce or discontinue purchases of our products, which would cause our revenues to 
decline.  
   

In January 2013, CMS implemented new molecular diagnostic CPT codes and retired the prior procedural codes used to bill for molecular 
testing. All Medicare contractors subsequently issued pricing for some or all of the new molecular pathology codes; however, reimbursement 
coverage decisions and levels during 2013 varied significantly among these contractors. The disparate Medicare reimbursement coverage 
determinations among Medicare contractors resulted in a Medicare coverage disparity during 2013 for the performance of a particular diagnostic 
testing procedure depending on the area of the United States in which the procedure was performed. The Medicare reimbursement uncertainty 
experienced during 2013 resulted in some of our customers receiving delayed reimbursement or denials related to the use of certain products for 
which reimbursement was previously available. In September 2013, CMS issued final “gap-fill” pricing decisions for CPT codes, which has 
formed the basis of related payments in 2014. The CPT codes published for 2014 did not include rates for all codes and reduced the 
reimbursement amounts for certain products, including some of our pharmacogenomics products. In addition, certain Medicare Administrative 
Contractors (MACs) and private payors have recently issued draft coverage policies for pharmacogenomics testing that, if implemented, would 
significantly restrict coverage for these tests. As a result, some of our pharmacogenomics customers have been negatively affected, which, in 
turn, has negatively affected the revenues we receive from these products.  
 

Disruptions in the supply of raw materials, consumable goods or other key product components, or issues associated with their quality from 
our single source suppliers, could result in a significant disruption in sales and profitability.  
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•  neither experimental nor investigational. 
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We must manufacture or engage third parties to manufacture components of our products in sufficient quantities and on a timely basis, 
while maintaining product quality, acceptable manufacturing costs and complying with regulatory requirements. Our components are custom-
made by only a few outside suppliers. In certain instances, we and our customers have a sole source supply for certain key product components 
and ancillary items used to run our tests. If we are unable to satisfy our forecasted demand from existing suppliers for our products, or we or our 
customers are unable to find alternative suppliers for key product components or ancillary items at reasonably comparable prices, it could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, we have entered into supply agreements with 
most of our suppliers of strategic reagents and parts to help ensure component availability and flexible purchasing terms with respect to the 
purchase of such components. If our suppliers discontinue production of a key component for one or more of our products, we may be unable to 
identify or secure a viable alternative on reasonable terms, or at all, which could limit our ability to manufacture our products.  
   

In determining the required quantities of our products and the manufacturing schedule, we must make significant judgments and estimates, 
seasonality based on inventory levels, current market trends and other related factors. Because of the inherent nature of estimates and our limited 
experience in marketing our products, there could be significant differences between our estimates and the actual amounts of products we 
require. This can result in shortages if we fail to anticipate demand, or excess inventory and write-offs if we order more than we need.  
   

Reliance on third-party manufacturers entails risk to which we would not be subject if we manufactured these components ourselves, 
including:  
   

The manufacturing operations for our test cartridges use highly technical processes involving unique, proprietary techniques. In addition, 
the manufacturing equipment we use would be costly to repair or replace and could require substantial lead time to repair or replace. Any 
interruption in our operations or decrease in the production capacity of our manufacturing facility or the facilities of any of our suppliers because 
of equipment failure, natural disasters such as earthquakes, tornadoes and fires, or otherwise, would limit our ability to meet customer demand 
for our products and would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In the event of a 
disruption, we may lose customers and we may be unable to regain those customers thereafter. Our insurance may not be sufficient to cover all 
of our potential losses and may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.  
   

If we are unable to obtain, maintain and enforce intellectual property protection covering our products, others may be able to make, use or 
sell products substantially the same as ours, which could adversely affect our ability to compete in the market.  
   

Our commercial success is dependent in part on obtaining, maintaining and enforcing intellectual property rights, including patents. If we 
are unable to obtain, maintain and enforce intellectual property protection covering our products, others may be able to make, use or sell 
products that are substantially the same as ours without incurring the sizeable development and licensing costs that we have incurred, which 
would adversely affect our ability to compete in the market. We seek to obtain and maintain patents and other intellectual property rights to 
restrict the ability of others to market products that compete with our products. Currently, our patent portfolio is comprised on a worldwide basis 
of approximately 130 owned and exclusively licensed patents and over 25 additional pending applications. In general, patents have a term of at 
least 20 years from the application filing date or earlier claimed priority date. A majority of our issued and exclusively licensed patents are 
scheduled to expire by 2021, with approximately one half of the patents expiring by 2018. Several of our pending applications have the potential 
to mature into patents that may expire between 2028 and 2034. However, not all of the pending or future patent  
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•  reliance on third parties for regulatory compliance and quality assurance; 

•  possible breaches of manufacturing agreements by the third parties because of factors beyond our control; 

•  possible regulatory violations or manufacturing problems experienced by our suppliers; 

•  possible termination or non-renewal of agreements by third parties, based on their own business priorities, at times that are costly or 
inconvenient for us;  

•  the potential obsolescence and/or inability of our suppliers to obtain required components; 

•  the potential delays and expenses of seeking alternate sources of supply or manufacturing services; 

•  the inability to qualify alternate sources without impacting performance claims of our products; 

•  reduced control over pricing, quality and timely delivery due to the difficulties in switching to alternate suppliers or assemblers; and 

•  increases in prices of raw materials and key components. 
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applications owned by or licensed to us are guaranteed to mature into patents, and, moreover, issued patents owned by or licensed to us now or 
in the future may be found by a court to be invalid or otherwise unenforceable. Also, even if our patents are determined by a court to be valid 
and enforceable, they may not be sufficiently broad to prevent others from marketing products similar to ours or designing around our patents, 
despite our patent rights, nor provide us with freedom to operate unimpeded by the patent rights of others.  
   

We have licensed certain intellectual property from third parties related to our products, and we rely on them to file and prosecute patent 
applications and maintain patents and otherwise protect the licensed intellectual property. We have not had and do not have primary control over 
these activities for certain of our patents or patent applications and other intellectual property rights. We cannot be certain that such activities by 
third parties have been or will be conducted in compliance with applicable laws and regulations or will result in valid and enforceable patents 
and other intellectual property rights. Pursuant to the terms of the license agreements with some of our licensors, the licensors may have the right 
to control enforcement of our licensed patents or defense of any claims asserting the invalidity of these patents and, even if we are permitted to 
pursue such enforcement or defense, we will require the cooperation of our licensors. We cannot be certain that our licensors will allocate 
sufficient resources or prioritize their or our enforcement of such patents or defense of such claims to protect our interests in the licensed patents. 
If we fail to comply with our material obligations under any of our patent license agreements, the licenses may be terminated and we could lose 
license rights that are important to our business. Furthermore, additional licenses we may need may not be available to us on commercially 
reasonable terms, or at all, which could adversely affect our results of operations and growth prospects.  
   

In addition, there are numerous recent changes to the patent laws and proposed changes to the rules of the PTO, which may have a 
significant impact on our ability to protect our technology and enforce our intellectual property rights. For example, in September 2011 the 
United States enacted sweeping changes to the U.S. patent system under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, including changes that have 
transitioned the United States from a “first-to-invent” system to a “first inventor to file” system and altered some of the processes for challenging 
issued patents. These changes may materially affect the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the 
enforcement or defense of our issued patents and patents of our collaborators and licensors.  

 
The patent situation in the medical device and diagnostic fields outside the United States is even more uncertain. We have a number of 

foreign patents and pending applications. However, the laws of some foreign jurisdictions do not protect intellectual property rights to the same 
extent as laws in the United States, and many companies have encountered significant difficulties in obtaining, protecting and defending such 
rights in foreign jurisdictions. If we encounter such difficulties or we are otherwise precluded from effectively protecting our intellectual 
property rights in foreign jurisdictions, our business prospects could be substantially harmed.  
   

We also rely on trade-secret protection to protect our interests in proprietary know-how and for processes for which patents are difficult to 
obtain or enforce. We may not be able to protect our trade secrets adequately. We have limited control over the protection of trade secrets used 
by our licensors, collaborators and suppliers. Although we use reasonable efforts to protect our trade secrets, our employees, consultants, 
contractors, outside scientific collaborators and other advisors may unintentionally or willfully disclose our information to competitors. 
Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally obtained and is using any of our trade secrets is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is 
unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States are sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets. We rely, in part, on non-disclosure 
and confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants and other parties to protect our trade secrets and other proprietary technology. 
These agreements may be breached and we may not have adequate remedies for any breach. Moreover, others may independently develop 
equivalent proprietary information, and third parties may otherwise gain access to our trade secrets and proprietary knowledge. Any disclosure of 
confidential data into the public domain or to third parties could allow our competitors to learn our trade secrets and use the information in 
competition against us.  
   

We are subject to various federal and state laws pertaining to health care fraud and abuse, including anti-kickback, self-referral, false claims 
and fraud laws, and any violations by us of such laws could result in fines or other penalties.  
   

Our commercial, research and other financial relationships with healthcare providers and institutions are subject to various federal and 
state laws intended to prevent health care fraud and abuse. The federal anti-kickback statute prohibits the knowing offer, receipt or payment of 
remuneration in exchange for or to induce the referral of patients or the use of products or services that would be paid for in whole or part by 
Medicare, Medicaid or other federal health care programs. Remuneration has been broadly defined to include anything of value, including cash, 
improper discounts, and free or reduced price items and services. Many states have similar laws that apply to their state health care programs as 
well as private payors. Violations of the anti-kickback laws can result in exclusion from federal health care programs and substantial civil and 
criminal penalties.  
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The federal False Claims Act, or the FCA, imposes liability on persons who, among other things, present or cause to be presented false or 
fraudulent claims for payment by a federal health care program. The FCA has been used to prosecute persons submitting claims for payment that 
are inaccurate or fraudulent, that are for services not provided as claimed, or for services that are not medically necessary. We have implemented 
procedures designed to ensure our compliance with relevant legal requirements. Nevertheless, if our marketing, sales or other arrangements, 
including our reagent rental arrangements, were determined to violate anti-kickback or related laws, including the FCA, then our revenues could 
be adversely affected, which would likely harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, or the PPACA, also 
imposes new reporting and disclosure requirements on device manufacturers for payments to healthcare providers and ownership of their stock 
by healthcare providers. Further, the PPACA, among other things, amends the intent requirement of the federal anti-kickback and criminal 
healthcare fraud statutes. A person or entity can now be found guilty under the PPACA without actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent 
to violate it. In addition, the PPACA provides that the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation 
of the federal anti-kickback statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the false claims statutes. In February 2013, CMS 
released the final rule implementing the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, or the Sunshine Act. The law requires certain pharmaceutical, 
biologic, and medical device manufacturers to annually report to CMS payments or other transfers of value they furnish to physicians and 
teaching hospitals. These new reporting requirements took effect on August 1, 2013. Failure to submit required information may result in 
significant civil monetary penalties. We expect compliance with the PPACA and Sunshine Act to impose significant administrative and financial 
burdens on us.  
   

In addition, there has been a recent trend of increased federal and state regulation of payments made to physicians for marketing. Some 
states, such as California, Massachusetts and Vermont, mandate implementation of corporate compliance programs, along with the tracking and 
reporting of gifts, compensation and other remuneration to physicians. The shifting commercial compliance environment and the need to build 
and maintain robust and expandable systems to comply with different compliance and/or reporting requirements in multiple jurisdictions 
increase the possibility that a healthcare company may run afoul of one or more of the requirements.  
   

State and federal authorities have aggressively targeted medical device companies for alleged violations of these anti-fraud statutes, based 
on improper research or consulting contracts with doctors, certain marketing arrangements that rely on volume-based pricing, off-label 
marketing schemes and other improper promotional practices. Companies targeted in such prosecutions have paid substantial fines in the 
hundreds of millions of dollars or more, have been forced to implement extensive corrective action plans, and have often become subject to 
consent decrees severely restricting the manner in which they conduct their business. If we become the target of such an investigation or 
prosecution based on our contractual relationships with providers or institutions, or our marketing and promotional practices, we could face 
similar sanctions which would materially harm our business.  
   

Once we commence commercial operations outside the United States, we will be subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the 
FCPA, and other countries’ anti-corruption/anti-bribery regimes, such as the U.K. Bribery Act. The FCPA prohibits improper payments or offers 
of payments to foreign governments and their officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Safeguards we implement to 
discourage improper payments or offers of payments by our employees, consultants, sales agents or distributors may be ineffective, and 
violations of the FCPA and similar laws may result in severe criminal or civil sanctions, or other liabilities or proceedings against us, any of 
which would likely harm our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.  
 

We are currently reliant on the commercial success of our XT-8 system and its related test menu to partially fund our current operations and 
development programs.  
   

We currently market our XT-8 instrument system and four FDA-cleared diagnostic tests. In addition, we have several diagnostic tests in 
the research, development or design stage. We have primarily placed our XT-8 systems with customers at no initial charge through reagent rental 
agreements, under which customers generally commit to purchase minimum quantities of test cartridges and reagents (consumables) over a 
typical period of one to three years, with a component of the cartridge and reagent price allocated to recover the instrument price. We also offer 
our XT-8 systems for sale. We intend to continue to dedicate a significant portion of our resources to the commercialization of our XT-8 system 
and its related test menu, while also dedicating significant resources to the development of our NexGen system and its related test menu. As a 
result, to the extent that our XT-8 system and our existing and future diagnostic and research products are not commercially successful or are 
withdrawn from the market for any reason, our operating results, financial condition and critical development programs would be harmed and we 
may be required to seek additional funding to support our ongoing operations.  
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In addition, we have limited marketing, sales and distribution experience and capabilities. Our ability to achieve profitability depends on 
attracting customers for our products and building brand loyalty. To successfully perform sales, marketing, distribution and customer support 
functions ourselves, we face a number of risks, including:  
   

Some hospital-based and reference laboratories may not consider adopting our XT-8 system unless we offer a broader menu of diagnostic 
tests or may choose not to convert from competitive products unless and until we are able to offer a sample-to-answer instrument solution, such 
as our NexGen instrument. In addition, in order to commercialize our products, we are required to undertake time consuming and costly 
development activities, including clinical studies for which the outcome is uncertain. Products that appear promising during early development 
and preclinical studies may, nonetheless, fail to demonstrate the results needed to support regulatory approval or, if approved, may not generate 
the demand we expect. If we are unable to effectively compete with our XT-8 system and its related test menu, our revenues and our ability to 
achieve profitability will be significantly impaired.  
 

Legislative or regulatory healthcare reforms may have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.  
   

Federal and state governments in the United States are undertaking efforts to control growing health care costs through legislation, 
regulation and voluntary agreements with medical care providers and third-party payors. In March 2010, Congress enacted the PPACA. While 
the PPACA involves expanding coverage to more individuals, it includes new regulatory mandates and other measures designed to constrain 
medical costs. Among other requirements, the PPACA imposes a 2.3% excise tax on sales of medical devices by manufacturers that is expected 
to cost the medical device industry up to $20 billion over the decade following its effectiveness. Taxable devices include any medical device 
defined in Section 201(h) of the FDCA and intended for use by humans, with limited exclusions for devices purchased by the general public at 
retail for individual use. There is no exemption for small companies, and we began paying the tax in 2013. Complying with PPACA may 
significantly increase our tax liabilities and costs, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition.  
   

In August 2011, President Obama signed into law the Budget Control Act of 2011, which among other things, created automatic 
reductions to several government programs, including aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per fiscal year. In 
January 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, or the ATRA, delayed for another two months the budget cuts mandated by these 
sequestration provisions of the Budget Control Act of 2011. In March 2013, President Obama signed an executive order implementing 
sequestration, and in April 2013, the 2% Medicare payment reductions went into effect. The ATRA also, among other things, reduced Medicare 
payments to several providers, including hospitals, imaging centers and cancer treatment centers, and increased the statute of limitations period 
for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform 
measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state governments will pay for healthcare products 
and services, which could result in reduced demand for our products or additional pricing pressure.  

 
We have a history of net losses, and we may never achieve or maintain profitability.  
   

We have a history of significant net losses and a limited history commercializing our molecular diagnostic products. We obtained FDA 
clearance for our first generation molecular diagnostic system in 2006, and commenced a limited marketing effort for this system. We initially 
offered our XT-8 system and our Warfarin Sensitivity Test in July 2008, our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test in July 2009, our Thrombophilia 
Risk Test in April 2010, and our Respiratory Viral Panel in September 2012. Our net losses were approximately $33.6 million and $22.1 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively. As of December 31, 2013 , we had an accumulated deficit of $224.2 million . 
We expect to continue to incur significant expenses for the foreseeable future in connection with our ongoing operations, primarily related to our 
commercial organization (sales and marketing), research and development and regulatory activities, maintaining our existing intellectual 
property portfolio, obtaining additional intellectual property rights and investing in corporate infrastructure. Although we believe that we will 
generate positive cash flow over the next few years, we cannot provide any assurance that we will achieve profitability and, even if we achieve 
profitability, that we will be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Further, because of our limited 
commercialization history and the rapidly evolving nature of our target market, we have limited insight into the trends that may emerge and 
affect our business. We may make errors in predicting and reacting to relevant business trends, which could harm our business and financial 
condition.  
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•  our ability to attract and retain the skilled support team, marketing staff and sales force necessary to commercialize and gain market 
acceptance for our technology and our products;  

•  the ability of our sales and marketing team to identify and penetrate the potential customer base, including hospitals and national and 
regional reference laboratories; and  

•  the difficulty of establishing brand recognition and loyalty for our products. 
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We may need to raise additional funds in the future, and such funds may not be available on a timely basis, or at all.  
   

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate positive cash flows from operations, we will be required to finance our operations with our 
cash resources. We may need to raise additional funds in the future to support our operations. We cannot be certain that additional capital will be 
available as needed, on acceptable terms, or at all. If we require additional capital at a time when investment in our company, in molecular 
diagnostics companies or the marketplace in general is limited, we may not be able to raise such funds at the time that we desire, or at all. If we 
do raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible securities, the percentage ownership of holders of our common stock 
could be significantly diluted. In addition, newly issued securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of holders of our 
common stock. If we obtain debt financing, a portion of our operating cash flow may be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on 
such indebtedness, and the terms of the debt securities issued could impose significant restrictions on our operations and place encumbrances on 
our assets. If we raise additional funds through collaborations and licensing arrangements, we could be required to relinquish significant rights to 
our technologies and products, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.  
 
If we are unable to retain key employees or hire additional skilled employees, we may be unable to achieve our goals.  
   

Our performance is substantially dependent on the performance of our senior management. Competition for top management personnel is 
intense and we may not be able to recruit and retain the personnel we need. Our senior managers can terminate their relationship with us at any 
time. The loss of services of any of these key personnel could significantly reduce our operational effectiveness and investor confidence and our 
stock price could decline. We do not maintain key-man life insurance on any of our employees.  
   

In addition, our product development and marketing efforts could be delayed or curtailed if we are unable to attract, train and retain highly 
skilled technical employees and scientific advisors. To expand our research, product development and commercial efforts, we will need to retain 
additional people skilled in areas such as electrochemical and molecular science, information technology, manufacturing, sales, marketing and 
technical support. Because of the complex and technical nature of our systems and the dynamic market in which we compete, any failure to 
attract and retain a sufficient number of qualified employees could materially harm our ability to develop and commercialize our technology. We 
may not be successful in hiring or retaining qualified personnel, and any failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.  
   

We and our suppliers, contract manufacturers and customers are subject to various governmental regulations, and we may incur significant 
expenses to comply with, and experience delays in our product commercialization as a result of, these regulations.  
   

Our manufacturing processes and facilities and those of some of our contract manufacturers must comply with the federal Quality System 
Regulation, or QSR, which covers the procedures and documentation of the design, testing, production, control, quality assurance, labeling, 
packaging, sterilization, storage and shipping of our devices. The FDA enforces the QSR through periodic announced and/or unannounced 
inspections of manufacturing facilities. We and our contract manufacturers have been, and anticipate in the future being, subject to such 
inspections, as well as to inspections by other federal and state regulatory agencies.  
   

We must also file reports of device corrections and removals and adhere to the FDA’s rules on labeling and promotion. The FDA and other 
agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly 
promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant liability, including substantial monetary penalties and criminal prosecution.  
   

Failure t o comply with applicable FDA requirements, or later discovery of previously unknown problems with our products or 
manufacturing processes, including our failure or the failure of one of our contract manufacturers to take satisfactory corrective action in 

response to an adverse QSR inspection, can result in, among other things:  
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•  administrative or judicially imposed sanctions; 

•  injunctions or the imposition of civil penalties; 

•  recall or seizure of our products; 

•  total or partial suspension of production or distribution; 

•  withdrawal or suspension of marketing clearances or approvals; 

•  clinical holds; 
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Any of these actions, in combination or alone, could prevent us from marketing, distributing or selling our products and would likely harm 
our business.  
   

In addition, a product defect or regulatory violation could lead to a government-mandated or voluntary recall by us. We believe that the 
FDA would request that we initiate a voluntary recall if a product was defective or presented a risk of injury or gross deception. Regulatory 
agencies in other countries have similar authority to recall devices because of material deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture that could 
endanger health. Any recall would divert management attention and financial resources, could cause the price of our shares of common stock to 
decline and expose us to product liability or other claims, including contractual claims from parties to whom we sold products, and harm our 
reputation with customers. A recall involving our XT-8 system or our diagnostic tests would be particularly harmful to our business and financial 
results.  

 
The use of our diagnostic products by our customers is also affected by CLIA and related federal and state regulations that provide for 

regulation of laboratory testing. CLIA is intended to ensure the quality and reliability of clinical laboratories in the United States by mandating 
specific standards in the areas of personnel qualifications, administration, participation in proficiency testing, patient test management, quality 
assurance, quality control and inspections. Current or future CLIA requirements or the promulgation of additional regulations affecting 
laboratory testing may prevent some laboratories from using some or all of our diagnostic products.  
   

If our products do not perform as expected or the reliability of the technology on which our products are based is questioned, our operating 
results and business would suffer.  
   

Our success depends on the market’s confidence that we can provide reliable, high quality, molecular diagnostic products. We believe that 
customers in our target markets are likely to be particularly sensitive to product defects and errors. As a result, our reputation and the public 
image of our products and technologies will be significantly impaired if our products fail to perform as expected. Although our diagnostic 
systems are designed to be user friendly, the functions they perform are complex and our products may develop or contain undetected defects or 
errors.  
   

We currently manufacture our proprietary test cartridges at our Carlsbad, California manufacturing facility. We outsource manufacturing 
of our XT-8 system and much of the disposable component molding for our test cartridges. In 2012, we formalized our relationship with Leica 
Biosystems Melbourne Pty Ltd., or Leica, the contract manufacturer of our XT-8 instrument system. Leica specializes in manufacturing of 
electronic and electromechanical devices for medical use. While we work closely with Leica to ensure continuity of supply while maintaining 
high quality and reliability, we cannot guarantee that these efforts will be successful. We currently anticipate manufacturing the proprietary test 
cartridges for our NexGen system, and outsourcing the manufacture of our NexGen system to a third party manufacturing partner.  
   

If we experience a material defect or error in any of our current or future products, it could result in the loss or delay of revenues, increased 
costs, delayed or reduced market acceptance, damaged reputation, diversion of development and management resources, legal and/or regulatory 
claims, recalls, increased insurance costs or increased service and warranty costs, any of which could materially harm our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  
   

We also face the risk of product liability exposure related to the sale of our products. We currently carry product liability insurance that 
covers us against specific product liability claims. We also carry a separate general liability and umbrella policy that covers us against certain 
claims but excludes coverage for product liability. Any claim in excess of our insurance coverage, or for which we do not have insurance 
coverage, would need to be paid out of our cash reserves, which would harm our financial condition. We cannot assure you that we have 
obtained sufficient insurance or broad enough coverage to cover potential claims. Also, we cannot assure you that we can or will maintain our 
insurance policies on commercially acceptable terms, or at all. A product liability claim could significantly harm our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  
   

Although we have recently remediated a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, if we are unable to maintain the 
effectiveness of our internal controls, our financial results may not be accurately reported.  
   

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 reported a material 
weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to the supervision and review of our financial closing and reporting process, as 
described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. During 2012 and 2013, we devoted significant time and 
resources to the remediation of the material weakness which included, but was not limited to:  
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•  warning letters; 

•  refusal to permit the import or export of our products; and 

•  criminal prosecution. 
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Although further and ongoing efforts will continue in 2014 and beyond to enhance our internal control over financial reporting, we believe 
that our remediation efforts now provide the foundation for compliance with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (1992 framework) 
(COSO) of the Treadway Commission framework. As a result, our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2012 and 2013 no longer reported this material weakness or any other material weakness over financial reporting, and the 
audit report of our independent registered public accounting firm no longer expressed an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013.  
   

Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Because the inherent limitations of internal control 
over financial reporting cannot guarantee the prevention or detection of a material weakness, we can never guarantee a material weakness over 
financial reporting will not occur, including with respect to any previously reported material weaknesses. Any future material weakness could 
result in material misstatements in our financial statements or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. In addition, if we or our auditors 
are unable to certify that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, we may be subject to sanctions or investigations by regulatory 
authorities such as the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, or The NASDAQ Global Market, and we could lose investor 
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which would materially harm our business, the price of our common stock 
and our ability to access the capital markets.  
 
We may not be able to correctly estimate or control our future operating expenses, which could lead to cash shortfalls.  
   

Our operating expenses may fluctuate significantly in the future as a result of a variety of factors, many of which may be outside of our 
control. These factors include, but are not limited to:  
   

Our budgeted expense levels are based in part on our expectations concerning future revenues from sales of our XT-8 system and its 
related test menu, as well our assessment of the future investments needed to expand our commercial organization and support research and 
development activities in connection with our NexGen system. We may be unable to reduce our expenditures in a timely manner to compensate 
for any unexpected events or a shortfall in revenue. Accordingly, a shortfall in demand for our products or other unexpected events could have 
an immediate and material impact on our business and financial condition.  
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•  evaluating our Finance Department’s management and staff qualifications, which resulted in us making certain personnel changes, 
including the replacement of our Chief Financial Officer, Controller and certain accounting staff;  

•  redesigning and implementing structured and formalized internal control procedures; 

•  implementing new control procedures over the utilization of external resources; and 

•  developing and initiating a plan for the deployment of additional software systems to assist in automating and controlling certain 
financial processes.  

•  the time and resources required to develop, and conduct clinical studies and obtain regulatory clearances for, additional diagnostic 
tests;  

•  the expenses we incur for research and development required to maintain and improve our technology, including developing our 
NexGen system;  

•  the costs of preparing, filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing patent claims and other patent related costs, including litigation 
costs and the results of such litigation;  

•  the expenses we incur in connection with commercialization activities, including product marketing, sales and distribution expenses; 

•  the expenses we incur in licensing technologies from third parties to expand the menu of diagnostics tests we plan to offer; 

•  our sales strategy and whether the revenues from sales of our test cartridges or XT-8 system will be sufficient to offset our expenses; 

•  the costs to attract and retain personnel with the skills required for effective operations; and 

•  the costs associated with being a public company. 



Table of Contents  
 
We incur costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies in the 
United States, and failure to comply with these laws could harm our business and the price of our common stock.  
 

As a public company listed in the United States, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. In addition, changing laws, 
regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including regulations implemented by the SEC, the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB), and The NASDAQ Global Market, may increase our legal and financial compliance costs and 
make some activities more time consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations and, as a result, their 
application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. We intend to invest resources to 
comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a 
diversion of management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If we nevertheless fail to comply with 
new laws, regulations and standards, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.  
   

Current economic conditions and the uncertain economic outlook may adversely impact our business, results of operations, financial 
condition or liquidity.  
   

Global economic conditions may remain challenging and uncertain for the foreseeable future. These conditions not only limit our access to 
capital but also make it extremely difficult for our customers, our vendors and us to accurately forecast and plan future business activities, and 
they could cause U.S. and foreign businesses and consumers to slow spending on our products and services, which would delay and lengthen 
sales cycles. Some of our customers rely on government research grants to fund technology purchases. If negative trends in the economy affect 
the government’s allocation of funds to research, there may be less grant funding available for certain of our customers to purchase technologies 
from us. Certain of our customers may face challenges gaining timely access to sufficient credit or may otherwise be faced with budget 
constraints, which could result in decreased purchases of our products or in an impairment of their ability to make timely payments to us. If our 
customers do not make timely payments to us, we may be required to assume greater credit risk relating to those customers, increase our 
allowance for doubtful accounts, and our days sales outstanding would be negatively impacted. Although we maintain allowances for doubtful 
accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments, we may not continue to experience the 
same loss rates that we have in the past. Additionally, these economic conditions and market turbulence may also impact our suppliers, causing 
them to be unable to supply in a timely manner sufficient quantities of customized components, thereby impairing our ability to manufacture on 
schedule and at commercially reasonable costs.  

 
We are exposed to risks associated with long-lived and intangible assets that may become impaired and result in an impairment charge.  
   

The carrying amounts of long-lived and intangible assets are affected whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of any asset may not be recoverable. These events or changes might include an inability to successfully deliver an instrument to 
the marketplace and attain customer acceptance, a change in the rights or use of licensed intellectual property, adjustments to our depreciation 
assumptions, or other matters. Adverse events or changes in circumstances may affect the estimated discounted future cash flows expected to be 
derived from long-lived and intangible assets. If at any time we determine that an impairment has occurred, we will be required to reflect the 
impaired value as a charge, resulting in a reduction in earnings in the quarter such impairment is identified and a corresponding reduction in our 
net asset value. In the past we have incurred, and in the future we may incur, impairment charges. For example, during the year ended 
December 31, 2013, we recorded an impairment charge of $1.6 million related to previously capitalized payments made under the terms of a 
license agreement, which we terminated in December 2013. A material reduction in earnings resulting from such a charge could cause us to fail 
meet the expectations of investors and securities analysts, which could cause the price of our stock to decline.  
 
Providing XT-8 systems to our customers through reagent rental agreements may harm our liquidity.  
   

The majority of our XT-8 systems are provided to customers via “reagent rental” agreements, under which customers are afforded the right 
to use the XT-8 system in return for a commitment to purchase minimum quantities of reagents and test cartridges over a period of time. 
Accordingly, we must either incur the expense of manufacturing XT-8 systems well in advance of receiving sufficient revenues from test 
cartridges to recover our expenses or obtain third party financing sources for the purchase of our XT-8 systems. The amount of capital required 
to provide these systems to customers depends on the number of systems placed. Our ability to generate capital to cover these costs depends on 
the amount of our revenues from sales of reagents and test cartridges sold through our reagent rental agreements. We do not currently sell 
enough reagents and test  
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cartridges to recover all of our fixed expenses, and therefore we currently have a net loss. If we cannot sell a sufficient number of reagents and 
test cartridges to offset our fixed expenses, our liquidity will continue to be adversely affected.  
   

We use hazardous chemicals, biological materials and infectious agents in our business. Any claims relating to improper handling, storage 
or disposal of these materials could be time consuming and costly.  
   

Our research, product development and manufacturing processes involve the controlled use of hazardous materials, including chemicals, 
biological materials and infectious disease agents. Our operations produce hazardous waste products. We cannot eliminate the risk of accidental 
contamination or discharge and any resulting injury from these materials. We may be sued for any injury or contamination that results from our 
use or the use by third parties of these materials, and our liability may exceed our insurance coverage and our total assets. Federal, state and local 
laws and regulations govern the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these hazardous materials and specified waste products, as 
well as the discharge of pollutants into the environment and human health and safety matters. Our operations are regulated and may require that 
environmental permits and approvals be issued by applicable government agencies. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may be 
expensive and may impair our research, development and production efforts. If we fail to comply with these requirements, we could incur 
substantial costs, including civil or criminal fines and penalties, clean-up costs or capital expenditures for control equipment or operational 
changes necessary to achieve and maintain compliance. In addition, we cannot predict the impact on our business of new or amended 
environmental laws or regulations or any changes in the way existing and future laws and regulations are interpreted and enforced.  
   

Our corporate structure may create tax inefficiencies.  
   

As a result of our reorganization in 2010 and prior to the reorganization steps that took place in June 2011 (as described below), Osmetech 
was a wholly-owned subsidiary of GenMark and a controlled foreign corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. This organizational 
structure may create inefficiencies, as certain types of income and investments of Osmetech that otherwise would not be currently taxable under 
general tax rules may have become taxable. In addition, conveyance of intellectual property rights from one subsidiary to another could create 
taxable income. Distributions from GenMark to its operating subsidiaries or amongst the U.S. operating subsidiaries of GenMark could have 
been subject to additional U.S. and foreign income tax withholding and result in lower profits. During the quarter ended June 30, 2011, the 
Company underwent a corporate reorganization intended to simplify its U.S. entity structure. As part of the reorganization, Osmetech 
Technologies, Inc. merged into Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc., with Clinical Micro Systems, Inc. surviving. Additionally, Osmetech plc converted 
to a U.K. limited company for U.K. legal and tax purposes and made an entity classification election to be treated as an entity disregarded from 
GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The reorganization did not trigger any material U.S. federal or U.K. income tax 
expense. In November 2013, as one of the final steps in the reorganization, we liquidated Osmetech plc. It is anticipated that the post-
reorganization structure will allow GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. to elect to file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return with its remaining 
U.S. subsidiaries, Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. and Osmetech, Inc. As a result of these steps, all operations will be included in a U.S. federal 
consolidated tax return and many of the inefficiencies described above will be eliminated on a going-forward basis, however, if the 
reorganization results in additional tax liabilities to us, it may negatively impact our financial condition and results of operations.  
 
Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards may be limited.  
   

As of December 31, 2013, we had net operating loss, or NOL, carryforwards available of approximately $89.9 million million for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes. These loss carryforwards will expire in varying amounts through 2033. Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, generally imposes an annual limitation on the amount of NOL carryforwards that may be used to offset 
taxable income when a corporation has undergone significant changes in stock ownership. We have determined that we have experienced 
multiple ownership changes under Section 382 of the Code. Our ability to use the current NOL carryforwards may also be limited by the 
issuance of common stock in the future. To the extent our use of NOL carryforwards is limited, our income may be subject to corporate income 
tax earlier than it would if we were able to use NOL carryforwards. We have recorded a full valuation allowance against our net deferred tax 
assets.  
   

We also had non-U.S. NOL carryforwards as of December 31, 2013. As a result of the liquidation of Osmetech plc in the fourth quarter of 
2013, our expectation is that the non-U.S. NOL carryforwards will not be utilized and, therefore, we have not accounted for them as a deferred 
tax asset.  
    

Information technology systems implementation issues or security threats could disrupt our internal operations and adversely affect our 
financial results.  
   

Portions of our information technology infrastructure may experience interruptions, delays or cessations of service or produce errors in 
connection with ongoing systems implementation work. In particular, we have implemented an enterprise  
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resource planning software system. To more fully realize the potential of this system, we are continually reassessing and upgrading processes 
and this may be more expensive, time consuming and resource intensive than planned. Any disruptions that may occur in the operation of this 
system or any future systems or any unauthorized access to our information systems could increase our expenses and adversely affect our ability 
to report in an accurate and timely manner the results of our consolidated operations, our financial position and cash flows and to otherwise 
operate our business in a secure environment, all of which could adversely affect our financial results, stock price and reputation .  
   

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws and Delaware law could make an acquisition of our Company, which may be 
beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove the current members of our 
board and management.  
   

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change 
of control that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which you might otherwise receive a premium for your shares. 
Furthermore, these provisions could prevent or frustrate attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove members of our Board of Directors. 
These provisions also could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for our common stock, thereby depressing the 
market price of our common stock. Stockholders who wish to participate in these transactions may not have the opportunity to do so. These 
provisions:  
   

In addition, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may, unless certain 
criteria are met, prohibit large stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of the voting rights on our common stock, from merging or 
combining with us for a prescribed period of time.  

 

   

None.  
   

   

We currently operate from a facility located in Carlsbad, California. We do not own any real property. In February 2010, we entered into a 
lease for an approximately 31,000 square foot facility in Carlsbad, California, the term of which originally ran through September 2017. The 
facility is part of a three-building office and research and development project located at 5964 La Place Court, Carlsbad, California, and the 
project totals approximately 160,000 rentable square feet. In January 2012, we signed a lease amendment which expanded our executive and 
administrative office, research and development, and manufacturing space by approximately an additional 22,000 square feet and extended the 
term of the lease through June 2021. We believe that our current and future leased facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the foreseeable 
future.  
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•  allow the authorized number of directors to be changed only by resolution of our Board of Directors; 

•  provide that our stockholders may remove our directors only for cause; 

•  establish a classified board of directors, such that not all members of the Board of Directors may be elected at one time; 

•  authorize our Board of Directors to issue without stockholder approval up to 100,000,000 shares of common stock, that, if issued, 
would dilute our stock ownership and could operate as a “poison pill” to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer to 
prevent an acquisition that is not approved by our Board of Directors;  

•  authorize our Board of Directors to issue without stockholder approval up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, the rights of which 
will be determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors that, if issued, could operate as a “poison pill” to dilute the stock 
ownership of a potential hostile acquirer to prevent an acquisition that is not approved by our Board of Directors;  

•  require that stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called stockholder meeting or by unanimous written consent; 

•  establish advance notice requirements for stockholder nominations to our Board of Directors or for stockholder proposals that can be 
acted on at stockholder meetings;  

•  limit who may call stockholder meetings; and 

•  require the approval of the holders of 80% of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote in order to amend certain 
provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws.  

Item 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS  

Item 2.  PROPERTIES  
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We are from time to time subject to various claims and legal actions in the ordinary course of our business. We believe that there are 
currently no claims or legal actions that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial 
condition.  
   

   

Not applicable.  
 

PART II.  

   

Market Information  
   

Our common stock has been quoted on The NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “GNMK” since May 28, 2010. Prior to that time, 
our stock traded under the ticker symbol “OMH” on the London Stock Exchange. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the 
quarterly high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported on The NASDAQ Global Market.  
   

   

Stock Performance Graph  
   

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder returns on our common stock for the period indicated with the cumulative total 
stockholder returns on the NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index for the same period. The graph assumes that 
$100 was invested on May 28, 2010 in our common stock in each index and that all dividends were reinvested. No cash dividends have been 
declared on our common stock. Stockholder returns over the indicated period should not be considered indicative of future stockholder returns.  
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Item 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

Item 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES  

Item 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  

   High    Low  

Year Ended Year Ended December 31, 2013          

First Quarter  $ 13.03    $ 8.86  
Second Quarter  $ 16.00    $ 9.25  
Third Quarter  $ 12.59    $ 8.75  
Fourth Quarter  $ 13.37    $ 10.78  
Year Ended Year Ended December 31, 2012          

First Quarter  $ 4.73    $ 3.63  
Second Quarter  $ 5.10    $ 3.75  
Third Quarter  $ 9.50    $ 4.42  
Fourth Quarter  $ 10.24    $ 7.55  
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Stockholders  
   

The last reported sale price of common stock on March 3, 2014 as reported on the NASDAQ Global Market was $12.18. As of March 3, 
2014, there were 2,578 holders of record of our common stock.  
   

Dividend Policy  
   

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not expect to pay any dividends for the foreseeable 
future. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund the operation, development and expansion of our business. Any future 
determination to pay dividends will be at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon a number of factors, including our 
results of operations, capital requirements, financial condition, future prospects, contractual arrangements, restrictions imposed by applicable 
law, any limitations on payments of dividends present in our current and future debt arrangements, and other factors our Board of Directors may 
deem relevant.  
   

   

The following selected consolidated financial data relates to GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. The selected 
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss data presented below of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 
2012 , and 2011 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. as of December 31, 2013 , and 2012 have been 
derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc., which have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or U.S. GAAP, included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The selected 
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss data presented for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the selected consolidated 
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2010 have been derived from the audited financial statements not included in this Annual Report.  
   

The selected consolidated statements of operations data of Osmetech plc presented below for the year ended December 31, 2009 and the 
selected consolidated balance sheet data of Osmetech plc as of December 31, 2009 have been derived from audited consolidated financial 
statements of Osmetech plc, not included in this Annual Report, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.  

 
The results for the periods shown below are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future periods. The selected 

consolidated financial data should be read together with the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial  
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Item 6.  SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA  
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Condition and Results of Operations” section and with the consolidated financial statements and condensed consolidated financial statements of 
GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

 _____________________  
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   Years ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011    2010    2009  

Consolidated Statements of 
Comprehensive Loss Data:  (In thousands, except per share data)  

Revenue                         

Product revenue  $ 27,204    $ 20,211    $ 4,700    $ 2,341    $ 911  
License and other revenue  200    258    309    223    88  

Total revenue  27,404    20,469    5,009    2,564    999  
Cost of revenue  15,894    11,640    6,206    3,979    4,332  

Gross profit (loss)  11,510    8,829    (1,197 )   (1,415 )   (3,333 ) 

Operating expenses                         

Sales and marketing  12,818    6,378    4,969    4,555    3,182  
General and administrative  11,512    10,806    8,960    7,415    8,289  
Research and development  22,060    13,536    8,737    6,646    5,634  

Total operating expenses  46,390    30,720    22,666    18,616    17,105  
Loss from operations  (34,880 )   (21,891 )   (23,863 )   (20,031 )   (20,438 ) 

Other income (expense):                         

Interest income (expense), net  698    (48 )   (74 )   —   33  
Therapeutic discovery credit  —   —   —   1,644    — 
Other income (expenses)  583    (16 )   19    (1 )   304  

Total other income (expense)  1,281    (64 )   (55 )   1,643   337  
Loss before income taxes  (33,599 )   (21,955 )   (23,918 )   (18,388 )   (20,101 ) 

(Provision) for income taxes  (44 )   (148 )   (52 )   (15 )   138  
Net loss  $ (33,643 )   $ (22,103 )   $ (23,970 )   $ (18,403 )   $ (19,963 ) 

Net loss per share, basic and diluted  $ (0.95 )   $ (0.84 )   $ (1.45 )   $ (1.88 )   $ (4.41 ) 

Weighted average number of shares 
outstanding, basic and diluted  35,253    26,215    16,572    9,797    4,527  

                    

   Years ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011    2010    2009  

   (In thousands)  

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:                         

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
investments (1)(2)(3)(4)  $ 105,589    $ 51,250    $ 30,320    $ 18,329    $ 16,483  
Total assets  121,754    68,016    38,186    26,314    19,334  
Long-term liabilities  2,349    2,392    1,171    1,307    795  
Total liabilities  12,586    11,566    7,552    5,247    4,009  
Accumulated deficit  (224,209 )   (190,566 )   (168,463 )   (144,493 )   (126,090 ) 

Total stockholders’ equity (1)(2)(3)(4)  109,168    56,450    30,634    21,067    15,325  

(1)  In August 2013, we issued approximately 8.7 million shares of common stock at a price of $9.84 per share. We raised approximately $81.0 
million in net proceeds.  

(2)  In June 2012, we issued approximately 11.5 million shares of common stock at a price of $4.20 per share. We raised approximately $45.1 
million in net proceeds.  

(3)  In June 2011, we issued approximately 8.1 million shares of common stock at a price of $4.25 per share. We raised approximately $31.7 
million in net proceeds.  

(4)  In June 2010, we closed our initial public offering, in which we sold approximately 4.6 million shares of common stock at a price to the 
public of $6.00 per share. We raised approximately $22.6 million in net proceeds.  
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You should read the following in conjunction with the “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and the consolidated financial statements 
of GenMark and the related notes thereto that appear elsewhere in this Annual Report. In addition to historical information, the following 
discussion and analysis includes forward looking information that involves risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Actual results and the timing of 
events could differ materially from those anticipated by these forward looking statements as a result of many factors, including those discussed 
under the heading “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Annual Report. See also “Forward Looking Statements” included elsewhere in this 
filing.  
   

Overview  
   

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc., or GenMark, was formed by Osmetech plc, or Osmetech, as a Delaware corporation in February 2010. 
GenMark had no operations prior to its initial public offering, which was completed in June 2010. Immediately prior to the closing of the initial 
public offering, GenMark acquired all of the outstanding ordinary shares of Osmetech in a reorganization under the applicable laws of the United 
Kingdom. As a result of the reorganization, all of the issued ordinary shares in Osmetech were cancelled in consideration of: (i) the issuance of 
common stock of GenMark to the former shareholders of Osmetech; and (ii) the issuance of new shares in Osmetech to GenMark. Following the 
reorganization, Osmetech became a wholly-owned subsidiary controlled by GenMark, and the former shareholders of Osmetech received shares 
of GenMark. Once the reorganization became effective, all stock options granted under the Osmetech plc 2003 U.S. Equity Compensation Plan, 
long term incentive awards and all warrants issued by Osmetech were exchanged for options and warrants exercisable for the common stock of 
the GenMark. Any historical discussion of GenMark relates to Osmetech and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to the reorganization. In 
September 2012, GenMark placed Osmetech into liquidation to simplify its corporate structure. The liquidation of Osmetech was competed in 
the fourth quarter of 2013.  
   

We are a molecular diagnostics company focused on developing and commercializing our proprietary eSensor ® detection technology. Our 
proprietary electrochemical technology enables fast, accurate and highly sensitive detection of up to 72 distinct biomarkers in a single sample. 
Our XT-8 system received 510(k) clearance from the FDA and is designed to support a broad range of molecular diagnostic tests with a compact 
and easy-to-use workstation and self-contained, disposable test cartridges. Within approximately 30 minutes of receipt of an extracted and 
amplified nucleic acid sample, our XT-8 system produces clear and accurate results. Our XT-8 system supports up to 24 independent test 
cartridges, each of which can be run independently, resulting in a highly convenient and flexible workflow for our target customers, which are 
hospitals and reference laboratories. As of December 31, 2013 , we had an installed base of 413 XT-8 analyzers, or placements, with our 
customers.  
   

Since inception, we have incurred net losses from operations each year, and we expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable 
future. Our losses attributable to operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 were approximately $33.6 million , $22.1 
million , and $24.0 million , respectively. As of December 31, 2013 , we had an accumulated deficit of $224.2 million . Our operations to date 
have been funded principally through sales of capital stock, borrowings and cash from operations. We expect to incur increasing expenses over 
the next several years, principally to develop our NexGen system and additional diagnostic tests, as well as to further increase our spending to 
manufacture, sell and market our products.  
   

Our Products and Technology  
   

We have developed eight tests for use with our XT-8 system. Four of our diagnostic tests have received FDA clearance, including our 
Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, which detects genetic changes associated with cystic fibrosis, our Warfarin Sensitivity Test, which determines 
an individual’s ability to metabolize the oral anticoagulant warfarin, our Thrombophilia Risk Test, which detects an individual’s increased risk of 
blood clots, and our Respiratory Viral Panel, which simultaneously detects and differentiates 14 clinically relevant viruses from patients with 
influenza-like illnesses. Our eSensor ® technology has demonstrated 100% accuracy in clinical studies compared to DNA sequencing and other 
standards in our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, our Warfarin Sensitivity Test and our Thrombophilia Risk Test. We have also developed two 
HCV genotyping tests, a 3A4/3A5 genotyping test and a 2C19 genotyping test versions of which are available for research use only (RUO).  
   

In addition, we are developing our NexGen system, which is being designed to integrate automated nucleic acid extraction and 
amplification with our eSensor ® detection technology to enable technicians using the NexGen system to be able to place a raw or a minimally 
prepared patient sample directly into our test cartridge and obtain results without any additional steps. This sample-to-answer capability is 
enabled by the robust nature of our eSensor ® detection technology, which is not impaired by sample impurities that we believe hinder competing 
technologies. We are designing our NexGen system to further simplify workflow and provide powerful, cost-effective molecular diagnostics 
solutions to a significantly expanded group of hospitals and reference laboratories. We are currently developing six assays for our NexGen 
system, which include gram-positive and gram-negative sepsis panels, a respiratory viral panel (RVP), a gastrointestinal infection (GI) panel, an 
HCV  
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genotyping test, and a central nervous system (CNS) infection panel . We intend to continue investing in our NexGen system and its related test 
menu for the foreseeable future. We currently expect to complete the development of our NexGen system in the middle of 2014, initiate the 
European launch of the system in late 2014, and launch the system in the United States in the second half of 2015.  
   

Revenue  
   

Revenue from operations includes product sales, principally of our diagnostic tests for use with our XT-8 system. We primarily place our 
XT-8 system with customers through a reagent rental agreement, under which we retain title to the instrument and customers commit to 
purchasing minimum quantities of reagents and test cartridges over a period of one to three years. We also offer our XT-8 system for sale.  
   

Revenue also includes licensing revenue from the out-licensing of our electrochemical detection technology. We may enter into additional 
sub-licenses of our technology generating additional revenue, but do not anticipate that this will provide a significant portion of our future 
revenue.  
   

Our growth plans in 2014 focus primarily on reagent rental agreements with some sales of our current XT-8 system. In late 2014 and 
beyond, our growth plans focus on sales and placements of our NexGen system that is currently under development. We do not anticipate any 
domestic sales of our NexGen system in 2014 and a limited number of international sales of our NexGen system in late 2014. We plan to 
continue expanding our base of XT-8 customers and systems as well as test utilization among our customers. We expect sales of our XT-8 
cartridges to be our primary source of revenue during 2014 and until the commercial launch of our NexGen system and related tests.  
   

Cost of Revenues  
   

Cost of revenues includes the cost of materials, direct labor and manufacturing overhead costs used in the manufacture of our consumable 
test kits for our XT-8 system, including royalties on product sales. Cost of revenues also includes depreciation on revenue generating systems 
that have been placed with our customers under a reagent rental agreement, amortization of licenses related to our products and other costs such 
as warranty, royalty and customer technical support. We manufacture our test cartridges in our facility and have recently invested in significant 
capacity for expansion. This potential underutilized capacity may result in a high cost of revenues relative to revenue, if manufacturing volumes 
are not able to fully absorb operating costs. Our XT-8 systems are procured from a contract manufacturer and are generally capitalized as fixed 
assets and depreciated on a straight line basis over their useful life as a charge to cost of revenues. We expect our cost of revenues to increase as 
we place additional XT-8 systems and manufacture and sell an increasing menu of accompanying diagnostic tests; however, we expect our gross 
margins to increase as manufacturing efficiencies, improved procurement practices, instrument reliability increases and other improvements 
decrease costs as a percentage of sales.  
 
Sales and Marketing Expenses  
   

Sales and marketing expenses include costs associated with our direct sales force, sales management, marketing, technical support and 
business development activities. These expenses primarily consist of salaries, commissions, benefits, stock-based compensation, travel, 
advertising, promotions, samples and trade shows. We expect sales and marketing costs to increase as we scale-up our domestic and international 
commercial efforts to expand our customer base.  
   

Research and Development Expenses  
   

Research and development expenses primarily include expenses related to the development of our NexGen instrument and related test 
menu. These expenses also include certain clinical study expenses incurred in preparation for FDA clearance for these products, intellectual 
property prosecution and maintenance costs, and quality assurance expenses. The expenses primarily consisted of salaries, benefits, stock-based 
compensation costs, outside design and consulting services, laboratory supplies, contract research organization expenses, clinical study supplies 
and facility costs. We expense all research and development costs in the periods in which they are incurred. We expect research and 
development costs to increase as we complete development of our NexGen system and invest in expanding its related test menu.  
   

General and Administrative Expenses  
   

Our general and administrative expenses include expenses related to our executive, accounting and finance, compliance, information 
technology, legal, facilities, human resource, administrative and investor relations activities. These expenses consist primarily of salaries, 
benefits, share-based compensation costs, independent auditor costs, legal fees, consultants, travel, insurance, and public company expenses, 
such as stock transfer agent fees and listing fees for NASDAQ. Included in general  
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and administrative expenses for the year ended December 2013, is an impairment charge related to the termination of a license agreement for 
$1.6 million of previously capitalized license payments.    

 

Foreign Exchange Gains and Losses  
   

Transactions in currencies other than our functional currency are translated at the prevailing rates on the dates of the applicable transaction. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses arise from differences in exchange rates during the period between the date a transaction denominated in a 
foreign currency is consummated and the date on which it is settled or translated. Prior to our initial public offering in 2010, exchange gains and 
losses included those arising on cash balances held by Osmetech denominated in currencies other than its functional currency, the British Pound. 
Since the initial public offering, the functional currency of GenMark has been the U.S. dollar. Since the initial public offering, foreign exchange 
gains and losses have been primarily related to amounts due under a single license agreement, which were denominated in Euros. In connection 
with the liquidation of Osmetech plc in the fourth quarter of 2013, we realized a translation loss of $450,000 to eliminate accumulated other 
comprehensive loss.  
   

Interest Income and Interest Expense  
   

Interest income includes interest earned on our cash and cash equivalents and investments. Interest expense represents interest incurred on 
our loan payable and on other liabilities.  
   

Provision for Income Taxes  
   

We make certain estimates and judgments in determining income tax expense for financial statement purposes. These estimates and 
judgments occur in the calculation of certain tax assets and liabilities, which arise from differences in the timing of recognition of revenue and 
expense for tax and financial statement purposes.  

We assess the likelihood that we will be able to recover our deferred tax assets. We consider all available evidence, both positive and 
negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks associated with estimates of future taxable income, and ongoing prudent 
and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for the valuation allowance. If it is more likely than not that we will not recover our 
deferred tax assets, we will increase our provision for income taxes by recording a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets that we 
estimate will not ultimately be recoverable.  

Our income tax returns are based on calculations and assumptions that are subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and 
other tax authorities. In addition, the calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax 
regulations. We recognize liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for 
recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, 
including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is 
more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. While we believe we have appropriate support for the positions taken on our tax returns, 
we regularly assess the potential outcomes of examinations by tax authorities in determining the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. We 
continually assess the likelihood and amount of potential adjustments and adjust the income tax provision, income taxes payable and deferred 
taxes in the period in which the facts that give rise to a revision become known.  

 

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates  
   

Revenue  
   

We recognize revenue from product sales and contractual arrangements, net of discounts and sales related taxes. We recognize revenue 
from product sales when there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed or determinable and 
collectability is reasonably assured. Where applicable, all revenue is stated net of sales taxes and trade discounts.  
   

We offer customers the choice to either purchase a system outright or to receive possession of a system free of charge in exchange for a 
commitment to purchase an annual minimum amount of molecular diagnostic test cartridges.  
   

When a system is sold, revenue is generally recognized upon shipment of the unit consistent with contract terms. When a system is placed 
free of charge under a "reagent rental" agreement, we retain title to the equipment and it remains capitalized on our balance sheet under property 
and equipment. Under our reagent rental agreements, our customers pay a system usage fee, which is included in the price of each test cartridge 
purchased. Our reagents and diagnostic test cartridges (consumables) are priced to include the expense of system usage and maintenance of the 
system and are included in product revenue in our consolidated financial statements.  
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We sell our durable systems and disposable test cartridges primarily through a direct sales force in the United States. The system price is 
not dependent upon the purchase of any amount of disposable test cartridges. Revenue on system and test cartridge sales is generally recognized 
upon shipment consistent with contract terms, which is when title and the risk of loss and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 
customer and there are no other post-shipment obligations.  
   

Revenue related to royalties received from licenses is generally recognized evenly over the contractual period to which the license relates.  
   

In those cases where we bill shipping and handling costs to customers, the amounts billed are classified as other revenue.  
 

  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable  
 

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required 
payments. Our allowance for doubtful accounts is based on our assessment of the collectability of specific customer accounts, the aging of 
accounts receivable, and the general condition of the economy. Increases to the allowance for doubtful accounts are charged to sales and 
marketing expense.  
 
Inventory  

We value inventories at the lower of cost or market on a part-by-part basis and provide an inventory reserve for estimated obsolescence and 
excess inventory based upon historical turnover and assumptions about future demand for our products and market conditions. We determine 
excess and obsolete inventories based on an estimate of the future demand for our products within a specified time horizon, generally 12 months. 
The estimates we use for demand are also used for near-term capacity planning and inventory purchasing and are consistent with our revenue 
forecasts. If our actual demand is less than our forecast demand, we may be required to take additional excess inventory charges, which would 
decrease gross margin and adversely impact net operating results in the future.  
 
Property and Equipment — net  
   

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the assets’ 
estimated useful lives, which are noted below. We generally capitalize our XT-8 systems, and provide these to customers for no charge. Each 
category of property and equipment is analyzed to determine its useful life. We look at the manufacturers’ estimates of useful life and adjust 
these for actual experience in our operating environment. Useful lives are reviewed periodically and occasionally changed as circumstances 
dictate.  
   

   

Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. During 2013, we recorded an impairment charge of $302,000 related to production 
equipment which had been built for NMTC.  
   

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  
   

We assess the recoverability of long-lived assets, including intangible assets and systems at customer locations by periodically evaluating 
the carrying value of such assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be 
recoverable. If impairment is indicated, we write down the carrying value of the asset to the estimated fair value. During the year ended 
December 31, 2013, we recorded an impairment charge of $1,624,000 related to previously capitalized payments made under a license 
agreement, which we terminated in December 2013.  
   

Stock-Based Compensation  
   

We grant stock options with an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market on each 
grant date. We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as the method for determining the estimated fair value of stock options and we use 
the grant date fair value of our common stock for valuing restricted stock awards. The estimated fair value of stock-based awards exchanged for 
employee and non-employee director services are expensed over the  
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Machinery and laboratory equipment  3 - 5 years  

Instruments  4 years  

Office equipment  5 years  

Leasehold improvements  over the shorter of the remaining life of the lease or the useful economic life of the asset  
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requisite service period. The stock-based compensation expense related to shares issued under our 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan is also 
estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes model requires the use of highly subjective and complex 
assumptions which determine the fair value of stock-based awards, including the stock option’s expected term and the price volatility of the 
underlying stock. These assumptions include:  
   

   

Income Taxes  
   

Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities and reserves for unrecognized tax benefits reflect management’s best 
assessment of estimated future taxes to be paid. We are currently subject to income taxes only in the United States but have been subject to 
income taxes in both the United States and the United Kingdom in previous years. Significant judgments and estimates are required in 
determining our consolidated income tax expense.  
   

We believe that it is more likely than not that the benefit from our deferred tax assets will not be realized. In recognition of this risk, we 
have provided a full valuation allowance on the net deferred tax assets relating to our net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax 
assets. If our assumptions change and we determine that we will be able to realize our deferred tax assets, the tax benefits relating to any reversal 
of the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets will be accounted for as a reduction of income tax expense.  
   

Changes in tax laws and rates could also affect recorded deferred tax assets and liabilities in the future. Management is not aware of any 
such changes that would have a material effect on our results of operations, cash flows or financial position.  
   

We recognize tax liabilities in accordance with ASC Topic 740 and we adjust these liabilities when our judgment changes as a result of the 
evaluation of new information not previously available. Due to the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result 
in a payment that is materially different from our current estimate of the tax liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or 
decreases to income tax expense in the period in which they are determined.  
   

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
   

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the  
FASB, or other standard setting bodies that the we adopt as of the specified effective date. We believe that the impact of recently issued 
standards that are not yet effective will not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations upon adoption.  
   

In February 2013, the FASB issued guidance which requires an entity to report the effect of significant reclassifications out of accumulated 
other comprehensive income on the respective line items in net income if the amount being reclassified is required under U.S. GAAP to be 
reclassified in its entirety to net income. For other amounts that are not required under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified in their entirety to net 
income in the same reporting period, an entity is required to cross-reference other disclosures required under U.S. GAAP that provide additional 
detail about those amounts. The guidance does not change the current requirements for reporting net income or other comprehensive income in 
financial statements. This guidance was effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2012, and was applied 
prospectively. Our adoption of this guidance as of January 1, 2013 did not have a material impact on our financial statements.  

 

In July 2013, the FASB issued guidance for Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a 
Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists, which provides explicit guidance on the financial statement presentation of an 
unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists. The guidance is effective 
prospectively for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2013, with early adoption permitted. We 
intend to adopt this guidance at the beginning of our first quarter  
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•  Expected Term.     The expected term represents the period that our stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding and is 
determined by using the simplified method.  

•  Expected Volatility .    Expected volatility represents the volatility in our stock price expected over the expected term of the stock 
option.  

•  Expected Dividend .    The Black-Scholes option-pricing model calls for a single expected dividend yield as an input. We assumed no 
dividends as we have never paid dividends and have no plans to do so.  

•  Risk-Free Interest Rate .    The risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is based on published 
government rates in effect at the time of grant for periods corresponding with the expected term of the option.  
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of fiscal year 2014, and do not believe the adoption of this guidance will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements or 
related financial statement disclosures.  

 
 

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 :    

   

Our product revenue consists primarily of revenue from the sale of reagents and test cartridges (consumables) with a small component 
from our sale of instruments and other revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2013 , total revenue increased by $6,935,000 , or 34% 
compared to the same period ended December 31, 2012 , due to higher consumable revenues of $25,286,000 versus $19,619,000 in 2013 and 
2012. respectively. This increase in consumable revenue was primarily driven by a 39% increase in the number of our installed base of analyzers 
to 413 at December 31, 2013 from 297 as of December 31, 2012 , despite a decrease in consumable utilization per analyzer largely attributable to 
a lack of product purchases from NMTC during the second half of the year. Revenue from NMTC represented approximately $8,162,000, or 
30% of revenue, during the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 . Our base business, which excludes revenues from NMTC, grew 120% to 
approximately $19,242,000 in the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 compared with $8,756,000 for the same period ended December 31, 
2012. The increase in reagent revenue was not attributable to any one assay. Pricing changes were not a material cause of our significant increase 
in revenue. In addition to the increase in reagent revenue, higher instrument sales during the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 resulted in 
an additional $1,124,000 of revenue over the same period in 2012. We anticipate that our XT-8 consumable and instrument revenues will 
continue to grow, however, we expect to experience increased revenue growth rates after the commercial launch of our NexGen system and its 
related tests.    

   

The increase in cost of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily 
related to the increase in consumable revenues and related standard cost of revenues in the current period, as well as the addition of inventory 
reserves and impairment of production equipment during the current period due to NMTC's October 2013 bankruptcy filing. Increases in our 
cost of revenues during the current year were primarily attributable to increased standard product costs of $2,097,000, inventory reserve of 
$1,192,000, royalties and license amortization expense of $564,000, instrument depreciation, warranty and repair of $365,000, customer 
technical support cost of $139,000 and medical device taxes of $299,000. These increases were offset by manufacturing efficiencies of 
$187,000. We also incurred higher headcount related costs of $156,000 to support manufacturing volumes, higher supplies and prototype 
expenses of $216,000 due to increased production and validation of new vendors, higher temporary labor expense due to fluctuations in demand 
of $205,000, and higher facility and depreciation expenses of $832,000 due to our expanded production infrastructure and impairment of 
production equipment, all of which were offset by higher absorption due to an increase in production volume. The improvement to gross profit 
during the current period of $2,681,000 was primarily due to increased sales volumes and manufacturing and absorption efficiencies. We also 
continue to realize improved manufacturing efficiencies by driving process improvements related to larger batch sizes, which has resulted in 
improved manufacturing yields.  

   

The increase of $6,440,000 in sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 , compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2012 , was primarily driven by a one-time increase in our allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,745,000 mainly related to a bad 
debt reserve for NMTC, an increase in salary expense of $1,326,000 to grow our sales and technical support team, an increase in commissions 
and bonus expense of $548,000 due to higher headcount and performance, additional share based compensation of $623,000, higher samples 
expense of $153,000 for new customers, consulting expense of $482,000, and travel expenses of $166,000, attributable to our increase in volume 
and our commitment to expand our domestic and international commercial organization.  
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   2013    2012    $ Change    % Change  

Revenue  $ 27,404,000    $ 20,469,000    $ 6,935,000    34 % 

   2013    2012    $ Change    % Change  

Cost of Revenue  $ 15,894,000    $ 11,640,000    $ 4,254,000    37 % 

Gross Profit  $ 11,510,000    $ 8,829,000    $ 2,681,000    30 % 

   2013    2012    $ Change    % Change  

Sales and Marketing  $ 12,818,000    $ 6,378,000    $ 6,440,000    101 % 

   2013    2012    $ Change    % Change  

General and Administrative  $ 11,512,000    $ 10,806,000    $ 706,000    7 % 
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The increase of $706,000 in general and administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 , compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2012 was primarily due to a one-time impairment charge of $1,624,000 related to our termination of a license agreement at the 
end of 2013, which was partially offset by lower professional services of $439,000, lower consulting fees of $274,000 and lower legal fees 
$158,000.  
   

   

The increase in research and development expense of $8,524,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 , compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2012 , was primarily due to an increase in costs associated with the development of our NexGen system of $5,476,000 and an 
increase in NexGen assay development costs of $2,894,000. The increase in NexGen assay development expenses is mainly due to an increase 
overall research and development headcount.    

   

Other income (expense) represents non-operating income and expenses, earnings on cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, marketable 
securities, interest expense related to debt and capital leases. The change in other income (expense) for the year ended December 31, 2013 , 
compared to year ended December 31, 2012 , was due primarily to the sale of our preferred stock investment (recorded on the balance sheet in 
other long-term assets) in Advanced Liquid Logic, Inc., or ALL, in connection with ALL's acquisition by Illumina, Inc. The sale of this 
investment resulted in a $1,392,000 realized gain, and an increase in interest income earned on investments of $722,000. These gains were 
partially offset by amortization expense of $314,000 from related investment activity and $450,000 of accumulated other comprehensive loss, 
which was realized upon the liquidation of our U.K. subsidiary Osmetech plc in the fourth quarter of 2013.  
   

   

Due to net losses incurred, we have only recorded tax provisions related to interest on uncertain tax positions and minimum tax payments.  
   

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 :  
   

   

The increase in revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 was primarily related to 
the increase in consumable (reagent and test cartridge) revenues. Consumable revenue increased approximately $15,216,000 or 346%, to 
approximately $19,619,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012 from approximately $4,403,000 in 2011. This increase in reagent revenue was 
primarily driven by an increase in the test offerings available on our XT-8 instrument and a 78% increase in the number of our installed base of 
analyzers to 297 at December 31, 2012 , from 167 analyzer placements as of December 31, 2011 . Pricing changes were not a material cause of 
our significant increase in revenue. The increase was not attributable to any one assay; however, our pharmacogenetics and infectious disease 
assay revenue increased significantly more than our other assay panels. In addition to the increase in reagent (consumables) revenue, higher 
instrument sales during the year ended December 31, 2012 resulted in an additional $312,000 of revenue over 2011.  
   

 
The increase in cost of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 was primarily 

related to the increase in consumable (reagent and test cartridge) revenues. The improvement to gross profit (loss) of $10,026,000 was primarily 
due to increased sales volumes and manufacturing efficiencies. The increase in volume, particularly in the fourth quarter of 2012 with the 
addition of our Respiratory Viral Panel and 3A4/3A5 tests, allowed us to  
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   2013    2012    $ Change    % Change  

Research and Development  $ 22,060,000    $ 13,536,000    $ 8,524,000    63 % 

   2013    2012    $ Change    % Change  

Other Income (Expense)  $ 1,281,000    $ (64,000 )   $ 1,345,000    (2,102 )% 

   2013    2012    $ Change    % Change  

(Provision) for Income Taxes  $ (44,000 )   $ (148,000 )   $ 104,000    (70 )% 

   2012    2011    $ Change    % Change  

Revenue  $ 20,469,000    $ 5,009,000    $ 15,460,000    309 % 

   2012    2011    $ Change    % Change  

Cost of Revenue  $ 11,640,000    $ 6,206,000    $ 5,434,000    88  % 

Gross Profit (Loss)  $ 8,829,000    $ (1,197,000 )   $ 10,026,000    (838 )% 
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increase absorption of our fixed manufacturing costs of approximately $2,365,000, supporting the higher volumes by increasing shift lengths and 
more efficient usage of existing manufacturing facilities and equipment. We also continued to realize improved manufacturing efficiencies by 
driving process improvements related to larger batch sizes, which resulted in substantially improved manufacturing yields  
   

   

The increase of $1,409,000 in sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to the year ended December 
31, 2011, was primarily driven by an increase in salary expense of $1,449,000, associated with our commitment to increase and improve our 
domestic commercial organization.  
   

   

General and administrative expense was $10,806,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $8,960,000 for the same period 
last year. The increase of approximately $1,846,000 was due primarily to an increase of twelve headcount representing $807,000, building lease 
expenses of $388,000, expenses associated with audit fees and ongoing liquidation activities related to Osmetech of $189,000, outside services 
related to internal control testing and material weakness remediation of $176,000, and outside services to support our human resources 
department of $118,000.  
   

   

The increase in research and development expense of $4,799,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2011, was primarily due to an increase in costs associated with the development of our NexGen system of $4,667,000. In addition, 
the increase was due to the creation of new software development and product technical support departments to improve our product reliability 
and enhance our product effectiveness of $1,165,000. These increases were partially offset by lower assay development expenses of $740,000 in 
2012, since there were no clinical trials ongoing during the year.  
   

   

Other expense represents non-operating revenue and expenses, earnings on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and interest expense 
related to debt, capital leases and foreign exchange gain. The change in other expense for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to the 
year ended December 31, 2011, was due primarily to an increase in interest expense related to our equipment term loan and capital leases.  
   

 
Due to net losses incurred, we have only recorded tax provisions related to United Kingdom tax interest on uncertain tax positions and 

minimum tax payments and refunds.  
   

Liquidity and Capital Resources  
   

To date we have funded our operations primarily from the sale of our common stock, borrowings and cash from operations. We have 
incurred net losses from operations each year and have not yet achieved profitability. At December 31, 2013 , we had $100,865,000 of working 
capital, including $105,589,000 in cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments. Net cash used in operations increased $7,553,000 to 
$23,796,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to $16,243,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012 . Net cash used in investing 
activities increased $70,418,000 to $72,564,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to $2,146,000 for the year ended December 31, 
2012 due primarily to the purchases of available-for-sales securities of $76,190,000 . Net cash provided by financing activities increased 
$36,514,000 to $80,833,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to $44,319,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012 , due  
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   2012    2011    $ Change    % Change  

Sales and Marketing  $ 6,378,000    $ 4,969,000    $ 1,409,000    28 % 

   2012    2011    $ Change    % Change  

General and Administrative  $ 10,806,000    $ 8,960,000    $ 1,846,000    21 % 

   2012    2011    $ Change    % Change  

Research and Development  $ 13,536,000    $ 8,737,000    $ 4,799,000    55 % 

   2012    2011    $ Change    % Change  

Other Expense  $ (64,000 )   $ (55,000 )   $ (9,000 )   16 % 

   2012    2011    $ Change    % Change  

(Provision) for Income Taxes  $ (148,000 )   $ (52,000 )   $ (96,000 )   185 % 
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primarily to the issuance of approximately 8.8 million shares of our common stock in August 2013, from which we derived $81,037,000 in net 
proceeds.  
   

Cash Flows  
   

The following table shows cash flow information for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 :  
   

   

Cash flows used in operating activities  
   

Net cash used in operating activities increased $7,553,000 to $23,796,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 , compared to 
$16,243,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 . The increase in cash used in operating activities was due primarily to an increase 
in our net loss of $11,540,000 for the twelve months ending December 31, 2013 compared to the prior year period which was partially offset by 
an increase in provision for bad debt of $2,745,000 and stock-based compensation of $1,541,000 .  
   

Cash flows used in investing activities  
   

Net cash used in investing activities increased by $70,418,000 to $72,564,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 , compared 
to net cash used in investing activities of $2,146,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 . During 2013, we purchased $76,190,000 
in marketable securities, primarily consisting of corporate debt and U.S. government investments which was partially offset by proceeds from 
sales of marketable securities and preferred stock of $6,643,000 .  
 
Cash flows provided by financing activities  
   

Net cash provided by financing increased by $36,514,000 to $80,833,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 , compared to 
net cash provided by financing activities of $44,319,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 . During the third quarter of 2013, we 
received proceeds from the issuance of our common stock of $86,547,000 , less underwriting discounts of $5,174,856 and offering expenses of 
$400,229 .  
   

We have prepared cash flow forecasts which indicate, based on our current cash resources available, that we will have sufficient resources 
to fund our business for at least the next 12 months. We expect capital outlays and operating expenditures to increase over the next several years 
as we grow our customer base and revenues, and expand our research and development, commercialization and manufacturing activities. Factors 
that could affect our capital requirements, in addition to those previously identified, include, but are not limited to:  
   

On August 13, 2013, we entered into an Underwriting Agreement, or the Underwriting Agreement, with J.P. Morgan Securities LLC 
acting as sole book-running manager and as representative of the underwriters named therein, or the  
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   Years Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

Cash used in operating activities  $ (23,796,000 )   $ (16,243,000 )   $ (19,214,000 ) 

Cash used in investing activities  (72,564,000 )   (2,146,000 )   (7,110,000 ) 

Cash provided by financing activities  80,833,000    44,319,000    33,262,000  
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  —   —   53,000  
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ (15,527,000 )   $ 25,930,000    $ 6,991,000  

•  the level of revenues and the rate of our revenue growth; 

•  change in demand from our customers; 

•  the level of expenses required to expand our U.S. and international commercial (sales and marketing) activities; 

•  the level of research and development investment required to and develop our NexGen system and related test menu and maintain our 
XT-8 system;  

•  our need to acquire or license complementary technologies; 

•  the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights; 

•  competing technological and market developments; and, 

•  changes in regulatory policies or laws that affect our operations. 
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Underwriters, relating to the issuance and sale of 7,622,000 shares of our common stock. Under the terms of the Underwriting Agreement, we 
granted the Underwriters an option to purchase up to an additional 1,143,000 shares of our common stock. On August 19, 2013, we completed 
the public offering of 8,765,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $9.84 per share and raised approximately $80,672,000 in net proceeds.  
   

Although we do not currently anticipate requiring additional capital, if additional capital is required, we cannot be certain that it will be 
available when needed or that our actual cash requirements will not be greater than anticipated. If we raise additional funds through the issuance 
of equity or convertible debt securities, the percentage ownership of our stockholders could be significantly diluted, and these newly issued 
securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of existing stockholders. If we obtain additional debt financing, a substantial 
portion of our operating cash flow may be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on such indebtedness, and the terms of the debt 
securities issued could impose significant restrictions on our operations. If we raise additional funds through collaborations and licensing 
arrangements, we might be required to relinquish significant rights to our technologies or products, or grant licenses on terms that are not 
favorable to us.  
 

In March 2010, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Square 1 Bank, pursuant to which we obtained a credit facility 
consisting of a revolving line of credit in the amount of up to $2,000,000 and an equipment term loan in the amount of up to $2,000,000. In 
March 2011, we amended the loan and security agreement to increase the line of credit to $3,000,000 and subsequently extended the original 
maturity date to July 2013.  

 
In September 2012, we terminated the Square 1 Bank loan and security agreement and entered into a new term loan with Banc of 

California, consisting of the following two loans.  
   

Pursuant to the terms of the Banc of California business loan agreement, we were required to maintain restricted cash, honor certain 
representations and warranties (including, but not limited to, organization, financial information and taxes), affirmative covenants (including, but 
not limited to, financial records, insurance and environmental compliance and reports), negative covenants (including, but not limited to, 
indebtedness and liens, continuity of operations and loans, acquisitions and guaranties) and other provisions; however, we were not required to 
maintain liquidity ratios, restrictive covenants or other limitations, to which we were subject under the Square 1 Bank loan and security 
agreement.  
   

Contractual Obligations  
   

As of December 31, 2013 , we had the following contractual obligations (in thousands):  
   

 _____________________  
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1)  We increased the letter of credit provided to our landlord of our Carlsbad, California facility to $758,000 from the previous letter of 
credit of $500,000. The increase in the letter of credit was required by our landlord pursuant to our second and third amendments to the 
lease for our Carlsbad, California location, in connection with our lease of additional space at this facility. This letter of credit was 
secured with $758,000 of restricted cash at December 31, 2013 .  

2)  We obtained a variable rate term loan from Banc of California in the amount of $836,000 with an initial interest rate of 3.75%. This 
term loan replaced the Square 1 equipment loan of the same amount with an interest rate of 6.75%. We repaid all outstanding amounts 
under this loan in the third quarter of 2013.  

   Payments due by period  

   Total    
Less than  

1 Year    
1-3  

Years    
4-5  

Years    
After 5  
Years  

Operating lease obligations (1)  $ 8,575    $ 1,052    $ 2,200    $ 2,278    $ 3,045  
Licensing payment obligation  3,083    2,158    779    146    — 
Instrument purchase obligations  1,494    830    664    —   — 
Uncertain tax liability and interest (2)  610    610    —   —   — 
Total obligations  $ 13,762    $ 4,650    $ 3,643    $ 2,424    $ 3,045  

(1)  We enter into operating leases in the ordinary course of business with respect to facilities. Our lease agreements have fixed payment terms 
based on the passage of time. Certain facility leases require payment of maintenance and real estate taxes. Our future operating lease 
obligations could change if we terminate certain contracts or if we enter into additional operating leases.  
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In February 2010, we entered into a lease for an approximately 31,000 square foot facility in Carlsbad, California, the term of which 

originally ran through September 2017. The facility is part of a three-building office and research and development project located at 5964 La 
Place Court, Carlsbad, California, and the project totals approximately 160,000 rentable square feet. Our original monthly rental payments were 
approximately $48,000, subject to 3% annual increases. We originally paid a $55,000 security deposit under the terms of the lease and provided 
a $500,000 standby letter of credit as security for future rent.  
   

In February 2011, we entered into a 36-month operating lease for office equipment with total lease payments of $85,000. In conjunction 
with the lease, the lessor paid us approximately $27,000 to payoff previous contracts for similar equipment leased from a different vendor.  

 
In January 2012, we entered into a lease amendment to our existing lease agreement for adjoining facility space for approximately an 

additional 22,000 square feet. We are utilizing the additional space to expand our manufacturing capabilities and for additional office and 
warehouse space. The lease amendment required an additional security deposit of $22,000 and an increase in our standby letter of credit to 
$758,000 . We took possession of the additional space on January 1, 2013, at which time the rent increased by approximately $35,000 per 
month, subject to annual increases of between 3% and 4%. The term of the lease was also extended to June 30, 2021.  

 
In August 2012, we entered into a three year supply agreement with Leica for the purchase of our XT-8 instrument. Amounts reported in 

the table above reflect minimum purchase commitments under this supply agreement which we can satisfy through instrument purchases or the 
payment of a designated fee for each instrument we fail to purchase under the prescribed minimum amounts, subject to certain permitted 
exclusions.  
   

Tax Obligations  
   

As included in the table above, approximately $610,000 of unrecognized tax benefits, including $228,000 of accrued interest and penalties, 
have been recorded as liabilities and we are uncertain as to if or when such amounts may be settled.  
   

Impact of Inflation  
   

The effect of inflation and changing prices on our operations was not significant during the periods presented.  
   

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
   

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements. We have provided a $758,000 standby letter of credit to our landlord as security for future 
rent in connection the lease of our Carlsbad, California facility, which is recorded as restricted cash on the balance sheet.  
 

   

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk  
   

Our exposure to market risk is limited to our cash and cash equivalents, all of which have maturities of less than three months, and short-
term investments, which have maturities of less than one year. The goals of our investment policy are preservation of capital, fulfillment of 
liquidity needs and fiduciary control of cash and investments. We also seek to maximize income from our investments without assuming 
significant risk. To achieve our goals, we may in the future maintain a portfolio of cash equivalents and investments in a variety of securities that 
management believes to be of high credit quality. We currently do not hedge interest rate exposure. Because of the short-term maturities of our 
cash equivalents and short-term investments, we do not believe that an increase in market rates would have a material negative impact on the 
value of our portfolio.  
   

Interest Rate Risk  
   

As of December 31, 2013 , based on current interest rates and total borrowings outstanding, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase or 
decrease in interest rates would have an insignificant pre-tax impact on our results of operations.  
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(2)  As of December 31, 2013, our expected cash payments on unrecognized tax benefits, including interest and penalties, were $610,000 . We 
are unable to reasonably estimate the timing of uncertain tax liabilities and interest payments in individual periods beyond twelve months 
due to uncertainties in the timing of the effective settlement of tax positions.  

Item 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK ET RISK  
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Foreign Currency Exchange Risks  
   

All of our operating facilities are located within the United States. We are a U.S. entity and our functional currency is the U.S. dollar. 
Virtually all of our revenues are based in the United States. In 2010, we entered into a license agreement that requires payment in Euros, and a 
small portion of our expenses in the first quarter of 2010, relating to our corporate office, were transacted in British Pounds. We currently have 
no material operations outside of the United States, which significantly diminishes the extent of any foreign currency exchange risk we face.  

 

   

REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED  PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
   

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.  
 
   

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. as of December 31, 2013 , and the related 
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. at December 31, 2013 , and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  
   

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the GenMark 
Diagnostics, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 , based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) and our report 
dated March 11, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  
   

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  
   

San Diego, California  
March 11, 2014  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
   

 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of  
GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.  
Carlsbad, California  
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) (formerly 
Osmetech plc and subsidiaries) as of December 31, 2012, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, 
and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
 
In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of GenMark 
Diagnostics, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended December 
31, 2012 and 2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
 
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP  
 
San Diego, California  
March 14, 2013  
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GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(In thousands, except par value)  
   

   
   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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   As of December 31,  

   2013    2012  

Current assets          

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 35,723    $ 51,250  
Investments  69,866    — 
Restricted cash  —   1,343  
Accounts receivable—net of allowances of $2,736 and $30  2,859    3,190  
Inventories  2,102    1,993  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  552    226  
Total current assets  111,102    58,002  
Property and equipment, net  8,591    7,074  
Intangible assets, net  1,197    1,832  
Restricted cash  758    — 
Other long-term assets  106    1,108  
Total assets  $ 121,754    $ 68,016  
Current liabilities          

Accounts payable  $ 3,863    $ 2,445  
Accrued compensation  3,375    3,076  
Loan payable  37    638  
Other current liabilities  2,962    3,015  
Total current liabilities  10,237    9,174  
Long-term liabilities          

Deferred rent  1,601    1,725  
Loan payable, net of current portion  —   63  
Other noncurrent liabilities  748    604  
Total liabilities  12,586    11,566  
Commitments and contingencies—See note 7  —   — 
Stockholders’ equity          

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000 authorized, none issued  —   — 
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000 authorized; 41,520 and 32,753 shares issued and outstanding 
as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively  4    3  
Additional paid-in capital  333,363    247,449  
Accumulated deficit  (224,209 )   (190,566 ) 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  10    (436 ) 

Total stockholders’ equity  109,168    56,450  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 121,754    $ 68,016  
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GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  

(In thousands, except per share data)  
   

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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   Years ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

Revenue               

Product revenue  $ 27,204    $ 20,211    $ 4,700  
License and other revenue  200    258    309  

Total revenue  27,404    20,469    5,009  
Cost of revenue  15,894    11,640    6,206  

Gross profit (loss)  11,510    8,829    (1,197 ) 

Operating expenses               

Sales and marketing  12,818    6,378    4,969  
General and administrative  11,512    10,806    8,960  
Research and development  22,060    13,536    8,737  

Total operating expenses  46,390    30,720    22,666  
Loss from operations  (34,880 )   (21,891 )   (23,863 ) 

Other income (expense)               

Interest income  717    42    21  
Interest expense  (19 )   (90 )   (95 ) 

Other income (expense)  583    (16 )   19  
Total other income (expense)  1,281    (64 )   (55 ) 

Loss before income taxes  (33,599 )   (21,955 )   (23,918 ) 

(Provision) for income taxes  (44 )   (148 )   (52 ) 

Net loss  $ (33,643 )   $ (22,103 )   $ (23,970 ) 

Net loss per share, basic and diluted  $ (0.95 )   $ (0.84 )   $ (1.45 ) 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding basic and diluted  35,253    26,215    16,572  
Other comprehensive loss               

Net loss  $ (33,643 )   $ (22,103 )   $ (23,970 ) 

Net unrealized loss on available-for-sale investments, net of tax  (4 )   —   — 
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax  —   —   14  
Comprehensive loss  $ (33,647 )   $ (22,103 )   $ (23,956 ) 
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GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  

(In thousands)  
   

   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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   Common Stock    Additional paid-
in  

capital  

  
Accumulated other 
comprehensive loss 

  
Accumulated  

deficit  

  Total 
stockholder' 

equity     Shares    Par Value          
Balance—Dec 31, 2010  11,728    $ 1    $ 166,009    $ (450 )    $ (144,493 )    $ 21,067  
Stock-based compensation expense  —   —   1,872    —   —   1,872  
Shares issued under stock-based compensation 
plans, net of cancellations  625    —   (28 )    —   —   (28 )  

Issuance of common stock, net of offering 
expenses  8,125    1    31,678    —   —   31,679  
Foreign currency translation adjustment  —   —   —   14    —   14  
Net loss  —   —   —   —   (23,970 )    (23,970 )  

Balance—Dec 31, 2011  20,478    2    199,531    (436 )    (168,463 )    30,634  
Issuance of stock in lieu of accrued bonuses  93    —   255    —   —   255  
Stock-based compensation expense  —   —   2,352    —   —   2,352  
Shares issued under stock-based compensation 
plans, net of cancellations  682    —   223    —   —   223  
Issuance of common stock, net of offering 
expenses  11,500    1    45,088    —   —   45,089  
Net loss  —   —   —   —   (22,103 )    (22,103 )  

Balance—Dec 31, 2012  32,753    3    247,449    (436 )    (190,566 )    56,450  
Issuance of stock in lieu of accrued bonuses  —   —   653    —   —   653  
Stock-based compensation expense  —   —   3,893    —   —   3,893  
Issuance of employee stock purchase plan 
shares  33    —   300    —   —   300  
Restricted stock awards issued, net of 
cancellations  (122 )    —   —   —   —   — 
Shares issued under stock-based compensation 
plans  91    —   396    —   —   396  
Issuance of common stock, net of offering 
expenses  8,765    1    80,672    —   —   80,673  
Elimination of cumulative foreign currency 
translation adjustments upon liquidation of 
foreign subsidiary  —   —   —   450    —   450  
Net loss  —   —   —   —   (33,643 )    (33,643 )  

Unrealized loss on securities available-for-sale  —   $ —   $ —   $ (4 )    $ —   (4 )  

Balance—December 31, 2013  41,520    $ 4    $ 333,363    $ 10    $ (224,209 )    $ 109,168  



Table of Contents  
 

GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

(In thousands)  
  

   Years ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

Operating activities:               

Net loss  $ (33,643 )   $ (22,103 )   $ (23,970 ) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:               

Depreciation and amortization  2,530    1,198    1,326  
Amortization of premiums on investments  314    —   — 
Stock-based compensation  3,893    2,352    1,872  
Provision for bad debt  2,721    (24 )   — 
Non-cash inventory adjustments  1,779    (482 )   517  
Gain on sale of investment in preferred stock  (1,392 )   —   — 
Elimination of cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments upon liquidation of 
foreign subsidiary  450    —   — 
Impairment of intangible asset  1,624    —   — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:               

Accounts receivable  (2,390 )   (2,068 )   (420 ) 

Inventories  (1,313 )   880    (1,742 ) 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  (119 )   68    1,846  
Accounts payable  1,343    728    378  
Accrued compensation  951    1,811    979  
Other liabilities  (544 )   1,397    — 

Net cash used in operating activities  (23,796 )   (16,243 )   (19,214 ) 

Investing activities               

Change in restricted cash  585    (1,343 )   — 
Purchases of available-for-sale securities  (76,190 )   (1,000 )   — 
Payments for intellectual property licenses  (882 )   (1,327 )   (734 ) 

Purchases of property and equipment  (4,270 )   (3,476 )   (1,376 ) 

Proceeds from sales of marketable securities and preferred stock  6,643    —   — 
Maturities (purchases) of short-term investments  1,550    5,000    (5,000 ) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (72,564 )   (2,146 )   (7,110 ) 

Financing activities               

Proceeds from issuance of common stock  86,547    48,300    34,533  
Costs incurred in conjunction with public offering  (5,510 )   (3,211 )   (2,854 ) 

Proceeds from borrowings  166    991    2,000  
Principal repayment of borrowings  (766 )   (1,984 )   (417 ) 

Proceeds from stock option exercises  396    223    — 
Net cash provided by financing activities  80,833    44,319    33,262  

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  —   —   53  
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (15,527 )   25,930    6,991  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  51,250    25,320    18,329  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 35,723    $ 51,250    $ 25,320  

Non-cash investing and financing activities:               

Property and equipment purchased with capital lease  $ —   $ 109    $ — 
Transfer of systems from property and equipment into inventory  $ 575    $ 223    $ 46  
Property and equipment costs incurred but not paid included in accounts payable  $ 603    $ 592    $ 76  
Leasehold improvements related to lease incentives  $ —   $ 1,359    $ — 
Intellectual property acquisition included in accrued expenses  $ 450    $ —   $ — 
Offering costs incurred but not paid included in other liabilities  $ 65    $ —   $ — 
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Supplemental cash flow information:               

Cash paid for interest  $ 19    $ 90    $ 95  
Cash received for interest  $ 717    $ 42    $ 21  
Cash received for income taxes, net  $ 2    $ —   $ 3  
Cash paid for income taxes  $ 21    $ 91    $ — 
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  See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.  
   

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
   

1. Organization and basis of presentation  
   

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc., the Company or GenMark, was formed by Osmetech plc, or Osmetech, as a Delaware corporation in February 
2010, and had no operations prior to its initial public offering, or the IPO, which was completed in June 2010. Immediately prior to the closing 
of the IPO, GenMark acquired all of the outstanding ordinary shares of Osmetech in a reorganization under the applicable laws of the United 
Kingdom. As a result of the reorganization, all of the issued ordinary shares in Osmetech were cancelled in consideration of (i) the issuance of 
common stock of GenMark to the former shareholders of Osmetech and (ii) the issuance of new shares in Osmetech to GenMark. Following the 
reorganization, Osmetech became a subsidiary controlled by GenMark, and the former shareholders of Osmetech received shares of GenMark. 
Any historical discussion of GenMark relates to Osmetech and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to the reorganization. In September 2012, 
GenMark placed Osmetech into liquidation to simplify its corporate structure. The liquidation of Osmetech was completed in the fourth quarter 
of 2013.  
   

As the reorganization was deemed to be a transaction under common control, GenMark accounted for the reorganization in a manner 
similar to a pooling-of-interests, meaning:  

 

    

Once the reorganization became effective, all stock options granted under the Osmetech plc 2003 U.S. Equity Compensation Plan, long 
term incentive awards and all warrants issued were exchanged for options and warrants exercisable for the common stock of the Company.  
   

Basis of Presentation  

   

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the 
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company has incurred net losses from operations since its inception and has an 
accumulated deficit of $224 million at December 31, 2013 . Management expects operating losses to continue through the foreseeable future. 
The Company's ability to transition to attaining profitable operations is dependent upon achieving a level of revenues adequate to support its cost 
structure through expanding its product offerings and consequently increasing its product revenues. Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and 
investments at December 31, 2013 totaled $106 million . The Company has prepared cash flow forecasts which indicate, based on the 
Company’s current cash resources available, that the Company will have sufficient resources to fund its business for at least the next 12 months.  
   

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting 
principles, or U.S. GAAP, and applicable regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC.  
   

Principles of Consolidation  
 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts 
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  
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i.  assets and liabilities were carried over at their respective carrying values; 

ii.  common stock was carried over at the nominal value of the shares issued by GenMark; 

iii.  additional paid-in capital represented the difference between the nominal value of the shares issued by GenMark, and the total of the 
additional paid-in capital and nominal value of Osmetech’s shares cancelled pursuant to the reorganization; and  

iv.  the accumulated deficit represented the aggregate of the accumulated deficit of Osmetech and GenMark. 
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Corporate Reorganization  
   

During the quarter ended June 30, 2011, the Company underwent a corporate reorganization intended to simplify its U.S. entity structure. 
As part of the reorganization, Osmetech Technologies, Inc. merged into Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc., or CMS, with CMS surviving. 
Additionally, Osmetech plc converted to a U.K. limited company for U.K. legal and tax purposes, and made an entity classification election to be 
treated as an entity disregarded from GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The reorganization did not trigger any 
material U.S. federal or U.K. income tax expense. Additionally, the post-reorganization structure allowed GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. to elect to 
file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return with its remaining U.S. subsidiaries, CMS and Osmetech, Inc. The liquidation of Osmetech plc 
was competed in the fourth quarter of 2013 .  
   

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
   

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments  
   

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit with banks, money market instruments and certificates of deposit with original 
maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase. Short-term investments consist of certificates of deposits that mature in greater than 
three months , but less than one year from the date of purchase. The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for cash, cash equivalents 
and short-term investments, if any, are stated at cost which approximates their fair market value.  
 

Restricted Cash  
   

Restricted cash represents amounts designated for uses other than current operations and includes $758,000 at December 31, 2013 held as 
security for the Company’s letter of credit with Banc of California.  
   

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
   

The Company uses a fair value hierarchy with three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last 
unobservable, to measure fair value:  
   

The carrying amounts of financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other current 
assets, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities approximate the related fair values due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.  
   

Receivables  
   

Accounts receivable consist of amounts due to the Company for sales to customers and are recorded net of an allowance for doubtful 
accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is determined based on an assessment of the collectability of specific customer accounts, the 
aging of accounts receivable, and a reserve for unknown items based upon the Company’s historical experience.  

 
The allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2013 , is as follows (in thousands):  
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•  Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

•  Level 2 — Inputs, other than Level 1, that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable 
market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.  

•  Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets 
or liabilities.  

   Allowance for doubtful accounts  

Balance December 31, 2012  $ 30  
Provision for doubtful accounts  2,721  
Write-off and recoveries, net  (15 ) 

Balance December 31, 2013  $ 2,736  
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The Company has included $2,702,000 in the allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2013 for past due amounts from 
NMTC. The allowance for bad debt provision and write-off recovery activity for the years ended 2012 and 2011 were not material.  
        
Inventories  
   

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market and include direct labor, materials, and manufacturing overhead. 
The Company periodically reviews inventory for evidence of slow-moving or obsolete parts or finished goods, and writes inventory down to 
market, if applicable. This write-down is based on management’s review of inventories on hand, compared to estimated future usage and sales, 
shelf-life assumptions, and assumptions about the likelihood of obsolescence. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected 
by the Company, additional inventory write-downs may be required. Inventory impairment charges establish a new cost basis for inventory and 
charges are not reversed subsequently to income, even if circumstances later suggest that increased carrying amounts are recoverable.  
   

Property and Equipment-net  
   

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets, which are:  
   

   

Property and equipment includes diagnostic instruments used for sales demonstrations or placed with customers under several types of 
arrangements, including performance evaluation programs (PEPs) and rentals. PEPs are placed with customers for evaluation periods of up to six 
months . The customer is generally required to purchase a minimum quantity of reagents and, at the end of the evaluation period, must purchase 
or return the instrument or sign a reagent rental agreement. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. During the year ended 
December 31, 2013 the Company recorded an impairment charge included in depreciation expense of $302,000 related to production equipment 
which had been built for NMTC.  
   

Intangible Assets  
   

Intangible assets are comprised of licenses or sublicenses to technology covered by patents owned by third parties, and are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of these assets, which is generally 10 years. Amortization of licenses typically begins upon the 
Company obtaining access to the licensed technology and is recorded in cost of revenues for licenses supporting commercialized products. The 
amortization of licenses to technology supporting products in development is recorded in research and development expenses.  
   

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  
   

The Company assesses the recoverability of long-lived assets, including intangible assets, by periodically evaluating the carrying value 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If impairment is indicated, the Company 
writes down the carrying value of the asset to its estimated fair value. This fair value is primarily determined based on estimated discounted cash 
flows. During 2013, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,624,000 to general and administrative expenses related to previously 
capitalized payments made under a license agreement, which the Company terminated in December 2013. The Company also recorded an 
impairment charge of $302,000 related to production equipment built for NMTC during 2013. The Company did not recognize any impairment 
charges during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.  
   

Use of Estimates  
   

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the notes 
thereto. The Company’s significant estimates included in the preparation of the financial statements are related to accounts receivable, 
inventories, property and equipment, intangible assets, employee related compensation accruals, warranty liabilities, tax valuation accounts and 
share-based compensation. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
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Machinery and laboratory equipment  3 – 5 years  

Instruments  4 years  

Office equipment  5 years  

Leasehold improvements  over the shorter of the remaining life of the lease or the useful economic life of the asset  
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Segment Reporting  
 

The Company currently operates in one reportable business segment, which encompasses the development, manufacturing, sales and 
support of instruments and molecular tests based on its proprietary eSensor ® detection technology. Substantially all of the Company’s operations 
and assets are in the United States of America.  
 

Revenue Recognition  
   

The Company recognizes revenue from product sales and contract arrangements, net of discounts and sales related taxes. The Company 
recognizes revenue from product sales when there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed or 
determinable and collectability is reasonably assured.  
   

The Company offers customers the choice to either purchase a system outright or to receive a system free of charge in exchange for an 
annual minimum purchase commitment for diagnostic test cartridges. When a system is sold, the Company generally recognizes revenue upon 
shipment of the unit, however, if the end user already has the instrument being purchased installed at its location, revenue is recognized when the 
revenue recognition terms other than delivery have been satisfied. When a system is placed free of charge under a “reagent rental” agreement, 
the Company retains title to the equipment and it remains capitalized on the balance sheet under property and equipment. Under reagent rental 
agreements, the Company’s customers pay an additional system rental fee for each test cartridge purchased which varies based on the monthly 
volume of test cartridges purchased. The system rental fee and diagnostic test cartridges are recognized as contingent rental payments and are 
included in product revenue in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  
   

The Company has not had significant product returns and is not contractually obligated to accept returns unless such returns are related to 
warranty provisions. The Company does not accept reagent product returns, mainly due to FDA regulations, and does not offer volume rebates 
or provide price protection.  
   

The Company enters into PEP agreements pursuant to which a system is installed on the premises of a pre-qualified customer for the 
purpose of allowing the customer to evaluate the system’s functionality over an extended trial period. The customer generally agrees to purchase 
a starter kit at the time of installation and agrees to purchase a minimum volume of reagents over the life of the trial period.  

 
Revenues related to royalties received from licenses are recognized evenly over the contractual period to which the license relates.  

   

In those cases where the Company bills shipping and handling costs to customers, the amounts billed are included in product revenue.  
   

Product Warranties  
   

The Company generally offers a one -year warranty for its systems sold to customers and up to a sixty day warranty for reagents and 
provides for the estimated cost of the product warranty at the time the system sale is recognized. Factors that affect the Company’s warranty 
reserves include the number of units sold, historical and anticipated rates of warranty repairs and the cost per repair. The Company periodically 
assesses the adequacy of the warranty reserve and adjusts the amount as necessary.  
   

Product warranty reserve activity for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 is as follows (in thousands):  
   

   

Research and Development Costs  
   

The Company expenses all research and development costs in the periods in which they are incurred unless there is alternative future use 
that supports the capitalization of an asset.  
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   2013    2012    2011  

Beginning balance  $ 217    $ 92    $ 25  
Warranty expenses incurred  (649 )   (305 )   (135 ) 

Provisions  658    430    202  
Ending balance  $ 226    $ 217    $ 92  
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Income Taxes  
   

Current income tax expense is the amount of income taxes expected to be payable for the current year. A deferred income tax liability or 
asset is established for the expected future tax consequences resulting from the differences in financial reporting and tax bases of assets and 
liabilities. A valuation allowance is provided if it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. A full 
valuation allowance has been recorded against the Company’s net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty surrounding the Company’s ability 
to utilize these assets in the future. The Company provides for uncertain tax positions when such tax positions do not meet the recognition 
thresholds or measurement standards prescribed by the authoritative guidance on income taxes. Amounts for uncertain tax positions are adjusted 
in periods when new information becomes available or when positions are effectively settled. The Company recognizes accrued interest related 
to uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense.  
   

A tax position that is more likely than not to be realized is measured at the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of 
being realized upon settlement with the taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. Measurement of a tax position that 
meets the more likely than not threshold considers the amounts and probabilities of the outcomes that could be realized upon settlement using the 
facts, circumstances and information available at the reporting date.  
   

Stock-Based Compensation  
   

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense related to stock options, shares purchased under the Company's 2013 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP, restricted stock awards, and restricted stock units granted to employees and directors in exchange for 
services. The compensation expense is based on the fair value of the applicable award utilizing various assumptions regarding the underlying 
attributes of the award. The stock-based compensation expense is recorded in cost of revenues, sales and marketing, research and development, 
and general and administrative expenses based on the employee's respective function.  
   

The estimated fair value of stock options granted, net of forfeitures expected to occur during the vesting period, is amortized as 
compensation expense on a straight-line basis to reflect vesting as it occurs. The expense is derived from the Black-Scholes Option Pricing 
Model that uses several judgment-based variables to calculate the expense. The inputs include the expected term of the stock option, the 
expected volatility and other factors.  
   

The compensation expense related to the grant of restricted stock awards or units is calculated as the fair market value of the stock on the 
grant date as further adjusted to reflect expected forfeitures.  
   

Foreign Currency Translation  
   

Prior to 2011, the Company changed its functional currency from the British Pound to the U.S. Dollar. Prior to this change, monetary 
assets and liabilities of the Company’s entities outside of the U.S. were translated into U.S. dollars based on foreign currency exchange rates in 
effect at the end of each period, and revenues and expenses were translated at weighted average exchange rates during the periods. Gains or 
losses resulting from these foreign currency translations of the Company’s assets and liabilities were recorded in accumulated other 
comprehensive loss in the consolidated balance sheets. Upon the liquidation of Osmetech in the fourth quarter of 2013, $450,000 of accumulated 
other comprehensive loss was realized.  
   

Transactions in foreign currencies were recognized using the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange 
gain (loss), which is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, totaled $19,000 , $6,000 and $6,000 for the years 
ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively, and relate primarily to transactions denominated in U.S. dollars which were paid in 
Euros.  
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•  Expected Term. Expected term represents the period that the stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding and is determined by 
using the simplified method.  

•  Expected Volatility .    Expected volatility represents the volatility in the Company’s stock price expected over the expected term of 
the option and is determined by review of the Company’s and similar companies’ historical experience.  

•  Expected Dividend .    The Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model calls for a single expected dividend yield as an input. The Company 
assumed no dividends as it has never paid dividends and has no current plans to do so.  

•  Risk-Free Interest Rate.     The risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model is based on published U.S. 
Treasury rates in effect at the time of grant for periods corresponding with the expected term of the option.  
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Net Loss per Common Share  
   

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing loss available to stockholders of our common stock (the numerator) by the weighted 
average number of shares of our common stock outstanding during the period (the denominator). Shares issued during the period and shares 
reacquired during the period are weighted for the portion of the period that they were outstanding. Diluted loss per share is calculated in a similar 
way to basic loss per share except that the denominator is increased to include the number of additional shares that would have been outstanding 
if the dilutive potential shares had been issued unless the effect would be anti-dilutive.  
   

The computations of diluted net loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 did not include the effects of the 
following stock options and warrants to acquire stock which were outstanding as of the end of each year because the inclusion of these securities 
would have been anti-dilutive (in thousands).  
   

   

Concentration of Risk  
   

The Company had sales to individual customers representing greater than 10% of the total revenues for the years ended December 31, 
2013 , 2012 and 2011 , as follows:  
   

   

Comprehensive Loss  
   

The Company has the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other 
comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. The 
Company’s comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss and foreign currency translation.  
   

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
   

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standard Board, or the FASB, or other 
standard setting bodies that the Company adopts as of the specified effective date. The Company believes that the impact of recently issued 
standards that are not yet effective will not have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations upon adoption.  
 

In February 2013, the FASB issued guidance, which requires an entity to report the effect of significant reclassifications out of 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on the respective line items in net income (loss) if the amount being reclassified is required 
under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified in its entirety to net income. For other amounts that are not required under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified in 
their entirety to net income in the same reporting period, an entity is required to cross-reference other disclosures required under U.S. GAAP that 
provide additional detail about those amounts. The guidance does not change the current requirements for reporting net income or other 
comprehensive income in financial statements. This guidance was effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2012, 
and was applied prospectively. The Company's adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 .  
   
3. Intangible Assets, net  
   

Intangible assets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted of the following (in thousands):  
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   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

Options outstanding to purchase common stock  1,821    1,539    1,599  
Warrants  —   —   88  
Unvested restricted stock  976    966    403  
Total  2,797    2,505    2,090  

   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

Natural Molecular Testing Corporation  30 %   58 %   20 % 

Companion Dx Reference Labs, LLC  —   10 %   — 
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In October 2010, the Company entered into an intellectual property license agreement which required minimum payments of €1.0 million 
(approximately $1.4 million as of December 31, 2013) in four equal installments over two years and contained provisions for additional 
licensing fees of €1.25 million (approximately $1.7 million ) and additional royalty payments based on related product sales. As of December 
31, 2013 the Company had made license fee payments totaling $2.1 million to the licensor. The Company terminated this license agreement in 
December 2013 and recorded an impairment charge to general and administrative expenses for the remaining net book value of $1.6 million at 
that time.  
   

In March 2012, the Company entered into a license agreement with Caliper Life Sciences Inc., or Caliper, pursuant to which the Company 
obtained a non-exclusive license under Caliper’s microfluidics patent portfolio. In consideration for the license, the Company agreed to pay 
Caliper $400,000 in up-front payments recorded as an intangible asset on the Company’s balance sheet plus certain sales-based milestone 
payments, as well as a royalty on the sale of certain products. As part of the agreement, the Company obtained an unconditional release from any 
and all claims based upon any alleged infringement of the licensed patents prior to the effective date of the agreement. The Company met a 
sales-based milestone in March 2013 triggering a payment of $450,000 , which was made after the fiscal year during which the milestone was 
achieved.  

 
In July 2012, the Company entered into a development collaboration and license agreement with Advanced Liquid Logic, Inc., or ALL, 

which was acquired by Illumina, Inc. in July 2013. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company established a collaborative program to 
develop in-vitro diagnostic products incorporating ALL’s proprietary electro-wetting technology in conjunction with the Company’s 
electrochemical detection. The Company paid ALL an upfront license payment of $250,000 and agreed to pay up to $1,750,000 in potential 
additional milestone payments. Pursuant to the agreement, the parties agreed to enter into a supply agreement relating to the manufacture and 
supply of certain ALL components. The agreement also provides that the Company would, upon the occurrence of certain events, be obligated to 
pay to ALL a royalty consisting of a low- to mid-single digit percent of net sales of designated licensed products containing ALL components 
which the Company manufactures or are otherwise not manufactured and supplied by ALL.  

 
Intellectual property licenses had a weighted average remaining amortization period of 8.3 years as of December 31, 2013 . Amortization 

expense for intangible assets amounted to $342,000 , $200,000 and $98,000 for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , 
respectively. Estimated future amortization expense for these licenses is as follows (in thousands):  
   

 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,624,000 related to previously capitalized 

payments made under a license agreement, which we terminated in December 2013.  
   

4. Stockholders’ Equity  

Follow-on Stock Offering  

In August 2013, the Company completed a public follow-on stock offering of 8,765,000 shares of its common stock which generated net 
cash proceeds of approximately $80,672,000 .  

 
5. Stock-Based Compensation  
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   December 31, 2013    December 31, 2012  

   

Gross  
carrying  
amount    

Accumulated  
amortization    

Net  
carrying  
amount    

Gross  
carrying  
amount    

Accumulated  
amortization    

Net  
carrying  
amount  

Licensed intellectual property  $ 2,409    $ (1,212 )   $ 1,197    $ 3,144    $ (1,312 )   $ 1,832  

Years Ending December 31,  Future Amortization Expense  

2014  $ 149  
2015  149  
2016  145  
2017  144  
2018  140  
Thereafter  470  
Total  $ 1,197  
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In 2010, the Company adopted the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2010 Plan, which provides for the grant of incentive and 
nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units, restricted stock bonuses and other stock-based 
awards. Employee participation in the 2010 Plan is at the discretion of the compensation committee of the board of directors of the Company. 
All options granted under the 2010 Plan are exercisable at a price equal to the closing quoted market price of the Company’s shares on the 
NASDAQ Global Market on the date of grant and generally vest over a period of between one and four years.  
   

Options are generally exercisable for a period up to 10 years after grant and are forfeited if employment is terminated before the options 
vest. As of December 31, 2013 , there were 391,916 shares available for future grant of awards under the 2010 Plan.  
   

The following table summarizes stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2013 :  
   

   

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $7.30 , $3.80 and 
$2.86 per share, respectively. Options that were exercisable as of December 31, 2013 had a remaining weighted average contractual term of 6.74 
years and an aggregate intrinsic value of $7,997,000 . The intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 
2012 was $730,000 and $277,000 respectively. No options were exercised in the year ended December 31, 2011. As of December 31, 2013 , 
there were 1,821,216 stock options outstanding, which had a remaining weighted average contractual term of 7.57 years and an aggregate 
intrinsic value of $11,724,000 .  
   

Valuation of Stock-Based Awards  
 

The assumptions used in the valuation of stock-based awards for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , are summarized in 
the following table:  
   

   

The Company is required to estimate potential forfeitures of restricted stock grants and adjust compensation cost recorded accordingly. 
The estimate of forfeitures is based on historical forfeiture experience and will be adjusted over the requisite service period to the extent that 
actual forfeitures differ, or are expected to differ, from such estimates. Changes in estimated forfeitures will be recognized through a cumulative 
catch-up adjustment in the period of evaluation and will also impact the amount of stock compensation expense to be recognized in future 
periods.  
   

Share Warrants  
 

During 2009, the Company issued warrants to purchase 88,317 of Osmetech’s ordinary shares with an exercise price of £6.90  per share to 
a director for services to the Company in connection with a stock offering completed in 2009. Pursuant to the terms of the warrant, this warrant 
was converted in connection with the Company’s reorganization into a warrant to purchase 88,317 shares of the Company’s common stock at an 
exercise price of $9.98 . These warrants were fully vested and exercisable upon issue, and expired unexercised on June 30, 2012.  
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Number of  

shares    

Weighted  
average  

exercise price  

Outstanding December 31, 2012  1,538,713    $ 5.42  
Granted  518,950    $ 11.22  
Exercised  (85,468 )   $ 4.75  
Forfeitures  (150,979 )   $ 7.98  
Outstanding December 31, 2013  1,821,216    $ 6.89  
Exercisable at December 31, 2013  1,031,904    $ 5.54  

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

Expected volatility (%)  74 %   75 %   70 % 

Expected life (years)  6.08    5.92    6.07  
Risk free rate (%)  1.17 %   0.97 %   2.30 % 

Expected dividend yield (%)  —%   —%   —% 
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Restricted Stock Awards and Units  

 

Restricted stock awards or units may be granted at the discretion of the compensation committee of the board of directors under the 2010 
Plan in connection with the hiring or retention of personnel and are subject to certain conditions. Restrictions expire at certain dates after the 
grant date in accordance with specific provisions in the applicable award agreement.  
 

The Company’s restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2013 was as follows:  
   

   

As of December 31, 2013 , there was $1,554,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock awards. That cost is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted average-period of 1 year . The total fair value of restricted stock awards and units that vested during 
the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $1,601,000 , $724,000 , and $948,000 , respectively. As of December 31, 2013 , there 
was $2,901,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock units. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted 
average period of 1.46 years.  
   

During the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 restricted stock compensation charged to expense was $2,340,000 , 
$1,222,000 , and $911,000 respectively.  
    

Stock-Based Compensation Expense Recognition  
 

Stock-based compensation was recognized in the consolidated statements of operations as follows (in thousands):  
   

   

No stock-based compensation was capitalized during the periods presented, and there was no unrecognized tax benefit related to stock-
based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively. At December 31, 2013 , the estimated total 
remaining unamortized compensation expense, net of forfeitures, associated with stock-based awards was approximately $7,473,000 , which is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.32 years.  

 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan  
 

Following the adoption of the ESPP by the Company’s board of directors in March 2013, the Company's stockholders approved the ESPP 
in May 2013 at the Company's Annual Meeting of Stockholders. A total of 650,000 shares of the Company’s common stock are reserved for 
issuance under the ESPP, which permits eligible employees to purchase common stock at a discount through payroll deductions.  

The price at which stock is purchased under the ESPP is equal to 85% of the fair market value of the common stock on the first or the last 
day of the offering period, whichever is lower. Generally, each offering under the ESPP will be for a period  
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   Restricted Stock Awards     Restricted Stock Units  

   

Number  
of  

shares     

Weighted  
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value     

Number  
of  

shares    

Weighted  
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value  

Unvested at December 31, 2012  965,710     $ 4.68     —   $ — 
Granted  9,775     $ 10.99     535,178    $ 11.46  
Vested  (337,366 )    $ 4.49     (6,031 )   $ 14.00  
Forfeitures  (136,830 )    $ 6.04     (54,300 )   $ 10.76  
Unvested as December 31, 2013  501,289     $ 4.54     474,847    $ 11.51  

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

Cost of revenue  $ 162    $ 125    $ 41  
Sales and marketing  1,223    558    297  
Research and development  613    509    409  
General and administrative  1,895    1,160    1,125  

Stock-based compensation expense  $ 3,893    $ 2,352    $ 1,872  
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of six months as determined by the Company's board of directors; provided that no offering period may exceed 27 months . Employees may 
invest up to 10% of their gross compensation through payroll deductions. In no event may an employee purchase more than 1,500 shares of 
common stock during any six-month offering period. As of December 31, 2013 , there were 616,561 shares of common stock available for 
issuance under the ESPP. As the ESPP is a compensatory plan as defined by the authoritative guidance for stock compensation, stock-based 
compensation expense has been recorded during the year ended December 31, 2013 .  

 

A summary of ESPP activity for the year ended December 31, 2013 is as follows (in thousands, except share, and per share data):  

The fair value of each purchase option under the ESPP is estimated at the beginning of each six-month offering period using the Black-
Scholes model with the following weighted-average assumptions:  

 
6. Income Taxes  
   

For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 , all pretax earnings and losses were generated in the United States.    
   

The components of income tax expense were as follows for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 , respectively (in 
thousands):  
   

 
The components of net deferred income taxes consisted of the following at December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively (in thousands):  
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   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013  

Shares issued  33,439  
Weighted average fair value of shares issued  $ 10.53  
Employee contributions  $ 300  

   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013  

Expected volatility (%)  74 % 

Expected life (years)  0.4  
Risk free rate (%)  0.07 % 

Expected dividend yield (%)  —% 

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

Current expense:               

U.S. provision  $ —   $ —   $ — 
State  44    103    20  
Foreign (non-U.S. entities)  —   45    32  
Total current expense  $ 44    $ 148    $ 52  
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A reconciliation of income tax expense to the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to the loss from 
operations is summarized for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 , respectively, as follows:  

   

The Company had federal net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards available of approximately $89.9 million and $63.7 million as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively, after consideration of limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, or Section 382, 
as further described below. Additionally, the Company had state NOL carryforwards available of $56.1 million and $49.2 million as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively. These federal and state NOLs may be used to offset future taxable income and will expire in varying 
amounts through 2033. The Company also has non-U.S. NOL carryforwards of $30.4 million . Because the Company restructured its operations 
during 2012 , the non-U.S. net operating losses and other deferred tax assets have been removed from the Company’s table of deferred income 
taxes above.  
   

Of the $89.9 million and $56.1 million of federal and state NOL carryforwards at December 31, 2013 , $3.0 million represents excess tax 
benefits related to equity compensation which will result in an increase in equity if and when such excess benefits are ultimately realized.  
   

The future utilization of the Company’s NOL carryforwards to offset future taxable income may be subject to a substantial annual 
limitation as a result of changes in ownership by stockholders that hold 5% or more of the Company’s common stock . An assessment of such 
ownership changes under Section 382 was completed through December 31, 2013. As a result of this assessment, the Company determined that 
it experienced multiple ownership changes through 2013 which will limit the future utilization of NOL carryforwards. The Company has 
reduced its deferred tax assets related to NOL carryovers that are anticipated to expire unused as a result of ownership changes. These tax 
attributes have been excluded from deferred tax assets with a corresponding reduction of the valuation allowance with no net effect on income 
tax expense or the effective tax rate. Additionally, future ownership changes may further impact the utilization of existing NOLs.  
   

The Company has established a full valuation allowance for its deferred tax assets due to uncertainties that preclude it from determining 
that it is more likely than not that the Company will be able to generate sufficient taxable income to realize  
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   As of December 31,  

   2013    2012  

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):          

NOL and credit carryforwards  $ 31,893    $ 23,856  
Compensation accruals  1,912    1,241  
Accruals and reserves  2,394    1,139  
State tax provision  5    9  
Federal benefit of state UTP  172    168  
Inventory adjustments  538    1,033  
Intangible assets  1,316    834  
Mark to market of marketable securities  111    — 
Subtotal: Deferred tax assets  38,341    28,280  
Depreciation  (494 )   (632 ) 

Valuation allowance  (37,847 )   (27,648 ) 

Net deferred income taxes  $ —   $ — 

   Years Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

U.S. Federal statutory income tax rate  34.0  %   34.0  %   34.0  % 

Permanent differences  (1.9 )%   (0.9 )%   (0.7 )% 

State taxes  (1.0 )%   5.3  %   (0.2 )% 

Effect of non-U.S. operations  — %   (0.2 )%   (0.1 )% 

Section 382 limitation on NOLs  — %   — %   (4.3 )% 

Other  (0.9 )%   (0.2 )%   (1.8 )% 

Valuation allowance  (30.3 )%   (38.9 )%   (27.1 )% 

Total tax provision  (0.1 )%   (0.9 )%   (0.2 )% 
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such assets. Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to 
utilize the existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative loss incurred over the 
three year period ended December 31, 2013 . Such objective evidence limits the ability to consider other subjective evidence such as the 
Company's projections for future growth. Based on this evaluation, as of December 31, 2013 , a valuation allowance of $37.8 million has been 
recorded in order to measure only the portion of the deferred tax asset that more likely than not will be realized. The amount of the deferred tax 
asset considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present and 
additional weight may be given to subjective evidence, such as estimates of future taxable income during carryforward periods and the 
Company's projections for growth.  
   

The Company applies the provisions of ASC 740, “Income Taxes”, which contains a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring 
uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates it 
is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The 
second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount, which is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. 
Income tax positions must meet a more likely than not recognition threshold at the effective date to be recognized upon the adoption of ASC 740 
and in subsequent periods. This interpretation also provides guidance on measurement, derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, 
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.  
   

The beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits, exclusive of accrued interest, totaled $382,000 for each of the years ended 
December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 .  
   

At December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 , the Company classified $610,000 and $590,000 , respectively, of total unrecognized tax 
benefits, which includes accrued interest and penalties of $228,000 and $208,000 for 2013 and 2012 , respectively, as a component of other 
long-term liabilities. This represents the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that would, if recognized, reduce the Company’s effective income 
tax rate in any future periods. The Company believes it is reasonably possible it will reduce its unrecognized tax benefits by approximately $0.4 
million within the next twelve months. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.  
   

Prior to 2013, the Company is subject to taxation in the United Kingdom, the United States and various states jurisdictions. After 2013, the 
Company is subject to taxation in the United States and various state jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2013 , the Company’s tax years after 
2009 are subject to examination by the United Kingdom tax authorities. Except for net operating losses generated in prior years carrying forward 
to the current year, as of December 31, 2013 , the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state, local or foreign examinations by tax 
authorities for years before 2008.  
   

7. Commitments and Contingencies  
   

Leases:  
   

The Company has operating and capital lease agreements for its office, manufacturing, warehousing and laboratory space and for office 
equipment. Rent and operating expenses charged were $1,049,000 , $1,323,000 and $774,000 for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 , 
and 2011 , respectively. Pursuant to the Company’s lease agreements, a portion of the monthly rental has been deferred. The balance deferred at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $1,725,000 and $1,820,000 , respectively.  
   

Annual future minimum obligations for capital and operating leases as of December 31, 2013 are as follows (in thousands):  

 
Legal Proceedings:  
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Years Ending December 31,  Amount  

2014  $ 1,052  
2015  1,084  
2016  1,116  
2017  1,123  
2018  1,155  
Thereafter  3,045  
Total minimum lease payments  $ 8,575  
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From time to time, the Company is party to litigation and other legal proceedings in the ordinary course, and incidental to the conduct of 
its business. While the results of any litigation or other legal proceedings are uncertain, the Company does not believe the ultimate resolution of 
any pending legal matters is likely to have a material effect on its financial position or results of operations.  
 

8. Inventories  
   

Inventory on hand as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 was comprised of the following (in thousands):  
   

   

9. Property and Equipment, net  
   

Property and equipment comprised of the following as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):  
   

   

Depreciation expense was $2,187,000 , $998,000 and $1,228,000 for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively. 
During the year ended December 31, 2013 the Company recorded an impairment charge included in depreciation expense of $302,000 related to 
production equipment which had been built for NMTC.  
   

10. Loan payable  
   

In March 2010, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement with Square 1 Bank, pursuant to which the Company obtained a 
credit facility consisting of a revolving line of credit in the amount of up to $2.0 million and an equipment term loan in the amount of up to $2.0 
million . In March 2011, the Company amended the loan and security agreement to increase the line of credit to $3.0 million and extend the 
original maturity date to July 2012 .  
   

In September 2012, the Company terminated the Square 1 Bank loan and security agreement and entered into a new term loan with Banc 
of California, consisting of the following.  

 
1) The Company increased the letter of credit provided to its landlord of its Carlsbad, California facility to $758,000 from the previous 

letter of credit of $500,000 . The increase in the letter of credit was required by the Company’s landlord in connection with the Company’s lease 
of additional space at this facility. The letter credit was secured with $758,000 of restricted cash at December 31, 2013 .  
   

2) The Company obtained a variable rate term loan from Banc of California in the amount of $836,000 with an initial interest rate of 
3.75% that expired in July 2013 . This term loan replaced the Square 1 Bank equipment loan of the same amount with an interest rate of 6.75% . 
As of December 31, 2013 , the Company had repaid all outstanding amounts under this loan.  
   

Pursuant to the terms of the Banc of California business loan agreement, the Company was required to maintain restricted cash, honor 
certain representations and warranties (including, but not limited to, organization, financial information and taxes), affirmative covenants 
(including, but not limited to, financial records, insurance and environmental compliance and reports), negative covenants (including, but not 
limited to, indebtedness and liens, continuity of operations and loans, acquisitions and  
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   December 31, 2013    December 31, 2012  

Raw materials  $ 713    $ 516  
Work-in-process  437    925  
Finished goods  952    552  

   $ 2,102    $ 1,993  

   December 31, 2013    December 31, 2012  

Property and equipment—at cost:          

Plant and machinery  $ 3,260    $ 3,059  
Instruments  7,013    5,795  
Office equipment  1,325    1,047  
Leasehold improvements  3,755    2,973  

Total property and equipment—at cost  15,353    12,874  
Less accumulated depreciation  (6,762 )   (5,800 ) 

Property and equipment, net  $ 8,591    $ 7,074  
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guaranties) and other provisions; however, the Company was not required to maintain liquidity ratios, restrictive covenants or other limitations, 
to which it was subject under the Square 1 Bank loan and security agreement.  

Principal repayment obligations under the Loan Agreement as of December 31, 2013 was $37,000 .  
 

11. Employee benefit plan  
   

The Company has a 401(k) tax-deferred savings plan, whereby eligible employees may contribute a percentage of their eligible 
compensation. The Company may make matching contributions under the 401(k) plan; however, the Company has not made any such 
contributions to date.  
   

12. Other current liabilities  
 

Other current liabilities as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted of the following (in thousands):  
  

 
13. Fair value of financial instruments  
   

The following table presents the financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis on the financial statements of the 
Company and the valuation approach applied to each class of financial instruments at December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively, (in 
thousands):  
   

   

At December 31, 2013 , the carrying value of the financial instruments measured and classified within Level 1 was based on quoted prices 
and marked to market. Level 2 inputs for the valuations are limited to quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets and inputs 
other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability. Level 3 assets and liabilities are valued by recent acquisition price and are 
based on significant unobservable inputs that are supported by little or  
 

68  

   December 31, 2013    December 31, 2012  

Accrued royalties  $ 1,020    $ 472  
Outside services and consulting  907    420  
Accrued warranties  226    217  
Other accrued liabilities  809    1,906  

Total  $ 2,962    $ 3,015  

   December 31, 2013  

   

Quotes Prices  
in Active  

Markets for  
Identical  
Assets  

(Level 1)    

Significant  
Other  

Observable  
Inputs  

(Level 2)    

Significant  
Unobservable  

Inputs (Level 3)    Total  

Money market funds (cash equivalents)  $ 19,910    $ —   $ —   $ 19,910  
Corporate notes and bonds  —   22,954    —   22,954  
U.S. government and agency securities  —   43,115    —   43,115  
Commercial paper  —   3,797    —   3,797  

   $ 19,910    $ 69,866    $ —   $ 89,776  

                

   December 31, 2012  

   

Quotes Prices  
in Active  

Markets for  
Identical  
Assets  

(Level 1)    

Significant  
Other  

Observable  
Inputs  

(Level 2)    

Significant  
Unobservable  

Inputs (Level 3)    Total  

Money market fund  $ 20,005    $ —   $ —   $ 20,005  
Certificate of deposit  —   25,006    —   25,006  
Preferred securities            $ 1,000    1,000  

   $ 20,005    $ 25,006    $ 1,000    $ 46,011  
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no market activity. ASC 820-10-52(bbb) states that sometimes fair value is measured on the basis of prices in prior transactions or third party 
pricing, which the Company used in valuing its preferred securities in a privately-held company.  
 

   

14. Investments  

The following table summarizes the Company’s available-for-sale investments at December 31, 2013 (in thousands) :  

 

During 2013, the Company sold its preferred stock investment (recorded on the balance sheet in Other long-term assets) in Advanced 
Liquid Logic, Inc., or ALL, in connection with ALL's acquisition by Illumina, Inc., resulting in a $1,392,000 realized gain.  

The following table summarizes the maturities of the Company’s available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2013 (in thousands):  
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   December 31, 2013    December 31, 2012  

   
Carrying  
Amount    

Fair  
Value    

Carrying  
Amount    

Fair  
Value  

Financial liabilities:                    

Long-term debt  $ 63    $ 63    $ 701    $ 677  

   Amortized Cost    
Gross Unrealized 

Gains    
Gross Unrealized 

Losses    
Estimated Fair 

Value  

Corporate notes and bonds  $ 22,950    $ 4    $ —   $ 22,954  
U.S. government and agency securities  43,124    —   (9 )   43,115  
Commercial paper  3,797    —   —   3,797  

Total  $ 69,871    $ 4    $ (9 )   $ 69,866  

   Amortized Cost    Estimated Fair Value  

Due in one year or less  $ 48,675    $ 48,677  
Due after one year through two years  21,196    21,189  

Total  $ 69,871    $ 69,866  
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15. Quarterly financial data (unaudited)  
   

 

   

None.  
   

   

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
   

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in 
reports we file under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the specified time periods and accumulated and 
communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosure. The design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future 
events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.  
   

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the 
participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure 
controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, our management, with 
the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that, as of December 31, 2013 , our disclosure controls 
and procedures were effective.  
   

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
   

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred in the quarter ended December 31, 2013 that 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  
   

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
   

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) of the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide  
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   Year Ended December 31, 2013  

   (In thousands, except per share data)  

   First Quarter    Second Quarter    Third Quarter    Fourth Quarter  

Total revenue  $ 11,101    $ 5,215    $ 4,637    $ 6,451  
Gross profit  $ 6,067    $ 2,014    $ 499    $ 2,930  
Loss from operations  $ (4,231 )   $ (8,087 )   $ (12,291 )   $ (10,271 ) 

Net loss  $ (4,175 )   $ (8,019 )   $ (10,817 )   $ (10,632 ) 

Per share data:                    

Net loss per common share—basic and diluted  $ (0.13 )   $ (0.25 )   $ (0.30 )   $ (0.26 ) 
   Year Ended December 31, 2012  

   (In thousands, except per share data)  

   First Quarter    Second Quarter    Third Quarter    Fourth Quarter  

Total revenue  $ 2,159    $ 3,612    $ 5,256    $ 9,442  
Gross profit  $ 472    $ 1,447    $ 2,229    $ 4,681  
Loss from operations  $ (5,482 )   $ (5,581 )   $ (6,233 )   $ (4,595 ) 

Net loss  $ (5,558 )   $ (5,600 )   $ (6,252 )   $ (4,693 ) 

Per share data:                    

Net loss per common share—basic and diluted  $ (0.28 )   $ (0.26 )   $ (0.20 )   $ (0.15 ) 

Item 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE  

Item 9A.   CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  
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reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and includes those policies and procedures that:  
   

Because of inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that 
the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

 
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 

we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 based on the framework 
in  Internal Control — Integrated Framework  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 
framework) (COSO). Based on our evaluation under this framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial 
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2013 .  
   

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has been audited 
by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.  
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•  pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our 
assets;  

•  provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of our management and directors; and  

•  provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets 
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
   

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.  
   

We have audited GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) 
(the COSO criteria). GenMark Diagnostic Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting 
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
based on our audit.  
   

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion.  
   

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  
   

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of the effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  
   

In our opinion, GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2013, based on the COSO criteria.  
   

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 2013 
consolidated financial statements of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and our report dated March 11, 2014, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  
   

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  
   

San Diego, California  
March 11, 2014  
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None.  
 

PART III.  
   

   

The information required by this Item is incorporated in this Annual Report by reference from the information under the captions “Board 
of Directors Information,” “Executive Officers” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” contained in the Proxy 
Statement to be filed in connection with our 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or the Proxy Statement.  
   

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics  
   

We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics for our directors, officers and employees, which is available on our website at 
www.genmarkdx.com in the Investor Relations section under “Corporate Governance.” If we make any substantive amendments to the code of 
business conduct and ethics or grant any waiver from a provision of the code of business conduct and ethics to any executive officer or director, 
we will promptly disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on our website. The information on, or that can be accessed from, our website 
is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report.  
   

   

The information required by this Item is incorporated in this Annual Report by reference from the information under the captions 
“Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Report of the Compensation Committee” 
contained in the Proxy Statement .  
   

   

The information required by this Item is incorporated in this Annual Report by reference from the information under the captions “Security 
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” contained in the Proxy Statement .  
   

   

The information required by this Item is incorporated in this Annual Report by reference from the information under the captions “Certain 
Relationships and Related Transactions,” and “Board of Directors Information” contained in the Proxy Statement .  
   

   

The information required by this Item is incorporated in this Annual Report by reference from the information under the captions 
“Principal Accountant Fees and Services” and “Report of the Audit Committee” contained in the Proxy Statement.  

 

   

   

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
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Item 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION  

Item 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE  

Item 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

Item 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND  MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  

Item 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND  DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE  

Item 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES  

Item 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES  

(a)  Documents filed as part of this Annual Report. 

1.  The following financial statements of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, are 
included in this report:  
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Report of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
   

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2013 and 2012  
   

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011  
   

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011  
   

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011  
   

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
 

 

   

The exhibits listed in the accompanying “Exhibit Index” are filed, furnished or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual 
Report, as indicated.  
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2.  List of financial statement schedules. All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown 
in the financial statements or notes thereto.  

3.  List of Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K. See Item 15(b) below. 

(b)  Exhibits. 
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SIGNATURES  
   

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly 
caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 11, 2014 .  
   

   

March 11, 2014  
   

   

March 11, 2014  
   

POWER OF ATTORNEY  
   

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Hany 
Massarany and Richard Slansky, jointly and severally, his attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him or her in any and all 
capacities, to sign any amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection 
therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute 
or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  
   

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
   

GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.     

        

By:     /s/ H ANY  M ASSARANY               

Name:     Hany Massarany     

Title:  
   

Chief Executive Officer, President and Director  
(principal executive officer)     

By:     /s/ R ICHARD  B. S LANSKY               

Name:     Richard B. Slansky     

Title:  
   

Chief Financial Officer  
(principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)     

Signature  Title  Date  

      

/ S / H ANY  M ASSARANY            President, Chief Executive Officer and Director (principal executive officer)  March 11, 2014  

Hany Massarany        

      

/ S / R ICHARD  B. S LANSKY            
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3.2  Bylaws (incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-165562) filed with the 
Commission on March 19, 2010).  

    

10.1  Lease between The Campus Carlsbad, LLC and Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. dba Osmetech Molecular Diagnostics, dated 
February 8, 2010 (incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-165562) filed with the 
Commission on March 19, 2010).  

    

10.2  Settlement and Release Agreement and First Amendment to Lease between The Campus Carlsbad, LLC and Clinical Micro 
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Diagnostics, Inc. and Richard B. Slansky (incorporated by reference herein our Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on April 2, 2012).*  

    

10.24  Executive Employment Agreement dated March 1, 2010, by and between Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. d.b.a. GenMark 
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31.2  Certification of principal financial officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
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101  XBRL Instance Document  
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�  Included in this filing.  

†  Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this exhibit.  



 
 

EXHIBIT 21.1 

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISRANT  

Set forth below is a list of subsidiaries of the Registrant. Unless otherwise indicated, all of the subsidiaries listed below are wholly owned 
subsidiaries of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and are owned directly by either GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. or by wholly owned subsidiaries of 
GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.  
   

 

 
 
 

Subsidiary  Jurisdiction of Formation  

Osmetech Technology Inc.  Delaware  

Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc.  Delaware  

Osmetech Inc.  Delaware  

GenMark Diagnostics Europe GmbH  Switzerland  



 
 

23.1 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration No. 333-187371 on Form S-3 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-1837393, 333-
189348, 333-168892 and 333-182268 on Form S-8 of our report dated March 14, 2013, relating to the consolidated balance sheet of GenMark 
Diagnostics, Inc. (the “Company”) and subsidiaries (formerly Osmetech plc and subsidiaries) as of December 31, 2012, and the related 
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, appearing 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2013.  

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP  
San Diego, California  
March 11, 2014  
 
 
 



 
 

23.2 

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:  
 

 
of our reports dated March 11, 2014 , with respect to the consolidated financial statements of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. 
for the year ended December 31, 2013 .  
 
 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  
 
San Diego, California  
March 11, 2014  
 
 
 

(1)  Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-187371) of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc., 
(2)  Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-189348) pertaining to the 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of GenMark Diagnostics, 

Inc., and  
(3)  Registration Statement (Form S-8 Nos. 333-187393, 333-182268, and 333-168892) pertaining to the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan of 

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.;  



 
 

Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

 
I, Hany Massarany, certify that:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

1.  I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

        

Date:  March 11, 2014  By: /s/ Hany Massarany  

         Hany Massarany  

         President and Chief Executive Officer  



 
 

Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

 
I, Richard Slansky, certify that:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

1.  I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

        

Date: March 11, 2014  By: /s/ Richard B. Slansky  

         Richard B. Slansky  

         Chief Financial Officer  



 
 

Exhibit 32.1 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  
 
 
In connection with the Annual Report of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2013 (the “Report”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof, I, Hany Massarany, President and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that to the best of my knowledge:  
 

 

   

 
This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to 
be incorporated by reference into any filing of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language 
contained in such filing.  
 
 
 

 

(i)  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended; and  

(ii)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations 
of the Company.  

        

Date: March 11, 2014  By: /s/ Hany Massarany  

         Hany Massarany  

         President and Chief Executive Officer  



 
 

Exhibit 32.2 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  
 
 
In connection with the Annual Report of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2013 (the “Report”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof, I, Richard Slansky, Chief Financial 
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that 
to the best of my knowledge:  
 

 

 

 
This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to 
be incorporated by reference into any filing of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language 
contained in such filing.  
 
 
 

(i)  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended; and  

(ii)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations 
of the Company.  

        

Date: March 11, 2014  By: /s/ Richard B. Slansky  

         Richard B. Slansky  

         Chief Financial Officer  


